South Dakota State University

Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2021

Evaluating Canola Genotypes for Growth and Yield under Different Environmental Conditions in South Dakota

Unius Arinaitwe South Dakota State University, Uarinaitwe@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/etd2

Part of the Agronomy and Crop Sciences Commons, and the Soil Science Commons

Recommended Citation

Arinaitwe, Unius, "Evaluating Canola Genotypes for Growth and Yield under Different Environmental Conditions in South Dakota" (2021). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 1. https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/etd2/1

This Thesis - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange. For more information, please contact michael.biondo@sdstate.edu.

EVALUATING CANOLA GENOTYPES FOR GROWTH AND YIELD UNDER DIFFERENT ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS IN SOUTH DAKOTA

BY

UNIUS ARINAITWE

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Master of Science

Major in Plant Science

South Dakota State University

2021

THESIS ACCEPTANCE PAGE

Unius Arinaitwe

This thesis is approved as a creditable and independent investigation by a candidate for the master's degree and is acceptable for meeting the thesis requirements for this degree. Acceptance of this does not imply that the conclusions reached by the candidate are necessarily the conclusions of the major department.

> Dr. Thandiwe Nleya Advisor

Date

David L. Wright Department Head

Date

Nicole Lounsbery, PhD Director, Graduate School

Date

I would like to dedicate this work to my parents, Mbabazi Novence and Kahonda Elidard, and my sister Kyobutungi Superia. This work would have not been possible without your love, care, and blessings. I am lucky to have you all in my life.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Many times, success comes from a combined efforts and this achievement was not exceptional. I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my committee for all their efforts to have this work completed.

Funding for the project was provided by the South Dakota Oilseed Council and USDA-NIFA North Central Canola Program for funding this research. We acknowledge the support from the South Dakota Agricultural Experiment Station.

In a special way I would also like to extend my deepest gratitude to my advisor, and my mentor Dr. Thandiwe Nleya. I'm extremely grateful for all your invaluable time spent on guiding, nurturing, and teaching me for successful completion of my thesis. It's also my great pleasure to have worked with Dr. Emmanuel Byamukama, Dr. Dalitso Yabwalo, and Dr. Paul Okello who have been so kind to contribute their talents and offer advice. I cannot have nice words to express my gratitude to Dr. Byamukama, his passion for work, and words of encouragement that made me a better student.

Furthermore, I would like to thank the people who are a foundation to my graduate education. Many thanks to my mentor, Dr. Jeninah Karungi-Tumutegyereije, Dr. Julia Kigozi, Dr. Robinah Namutebbi Ssonko and Eve Makune Hilda of Makerere University-Kampala, Uganda for their strong encouragement that made me a committed student. Thanks to Dr. Matt Clark, Mr. Jim Elskamp and Jack Olson of University of Minnesota for their guidance and encouragement that helped me join graduate school.

Many thanks to all colleagues: Reshma Thapa, Dwarika Bhattarai, Gena Mahato and our technician, Nathan Braun who offered their talents and spent their time in rain and snow doing field work, data collection. Gena is a most reliable person who takes the needs of others first.

Being an international student at SDSU and Office of International Affairs (OIA) are inseparable. I would like to extend my appreciation to the whole team at OIA for their tireless efforts to make SDSU a home away from home. I'm also very appreciative to all my friends and colleagues at SDSU and beyond including Ben Brockmueller, Abraham Hangamaisho, Joy Amajioyi, Micheal Kyeyune, Sheila Kwikiriza, Ainamani Brian and many others who not only provided moral support but also help with keen ideas that made my overall experience at SDSU an enjoyable one.

Finally, I would like to express my gratitude towards my family who were exceptionally supportive and encouraging of me throughout my time in school. My mum taught me to do everything with passion and to dedicate time to things that add value to life. Thank you for the value of hard work you instilled within me and most importantly to have faith in Christ Jesus throughout my entire school experience.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ACRONYMS	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	X
LIST OF TABLES	xii
APPENDICES	xiv
ABSTRACT	XV
EVALUATING CANOLA GENOTYPES FOR GROWTH AND YIELD UNDER	
DIFFERENT ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS IN SOUTH DAKOTA	1
INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 1	5
EVALUATION OF CANOLA AND CARINATA GENOTYPES FOR GROWTH, Y	TELD
AND GE INTERACTION	5
LITERATURE REVIEW	5
MATERIALS AND METHODS	12
Statistical analysis	14
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	15
Environmental conditions	15
Plant height and lodging	17
Days to flowering and days to maturity	19
Number of pods plant ⁻¹ , seeds pod ⁻¹ , and 1000-seed weight	20

	Biomass yield, harvest index, and seed yield	22
	Oil concentration and oil yield	24
	Association between growth and yield traits	25
	Genotype-by-Environment Interaction (GEi)	27
	Genotypes stability indices	31
	CONCLUSIONS	32
	References	33
	CHAPTER TWO	56
	EVALUATION OF CANOLA GENOTYPES FOR TOLERANCE TO SALINE/SODIC SOILS UNDER	
	GREENHOUSE CONDITIONS	56
	LITERATURE REVIEW	56
	MATERIALS AND METHODS	61
	Soil description	61
	Biochar source and characterization	62
	Experiment 1	62
	Experiment 2	63
	Experiment 3	64
S	tatistical analysis	65
R	ESULTS AND DISCUSSION	65
	Experiment 1.	65
	Experiment 2	66

Experiment 3	67
Seedling emergence (%)	67
Number of leaves plant ⁻¹	70
Leaf chlorophyll content (SPAD values)	72
Shoot dry weight	74
CONCLUSIONS	76
References	78
Experiment 1	89
Experiment 2	90
Experiment 3	
APPENDICES	

LIST OF ACRONYMS

AMMI: Additive main effects and multiplicative interaction	
ANOVA: Analysis of variance	
ASV: AMMI stability value	
CCC: Canola Council of Canada	
DAP: Days after planting	75
EC: Electrical conductivity	67
ESP: Exchangeable sodium percentage	
GEi: Genotype by environment interactions	41
LSD: Least significant difference	
NMR: Nuclear magnetic resonance	
PC: Principal component	64
rASV: Rank of AMMI stability value	29
RCBD: Randomised complete block design	
SAR: Sodium adsorption ratio	67
YSI: Yield stability index	
YTA: Yield tester axis	
NASS: National Agriculture Statistics Services	15
SEM: Standard error of mean	57
SEd: Standard error of difference	57

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1. Percentage seedling emergence under different soil salt content at 7DAP in experiment
2
Figure 2.2. Influence of biochar soil amendments on SPAD values under different soil salt conntent
at 59DAP in experiment 291
Figure 2.3. Effect of biochar, composted manure rates and genotypes interactions on percentage of
emerged seedlings in canola and mustard genotypes at 14DAP in good (a), transitioning (b-c),
and saline soils (d) in experiment 3
Figure 2.4. Effects of biochar, composted manure rates and genotypes interactions on number of
leaves plant-1 in canola and mustard genotypes in transitioning soil (a-c) and saline soil (d-f)
at 39 DAP in experiment 395
Figure 2.5. Effects of biochar, composted manure rates on leaf chlorophyll content (SPAD values)
for canola and mustard genotypes in good (a-b), transitioning soils (c-d) and saline soil (e-f) at
39 DAP in experiment 3
Figure 2.6. Effect of biochar, composted manure rate, and genotypes on shoot dry weight plant-1
for canola and mustard genotypes in good (a-c) and transitioning soil (d-e) measured at 39
DAP in experiment 397

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1. Pre-planting soil chemical characterization at Aurora farm-Brookings and Dakota
Lakes farm-Pierre experimental study sites during 2020 growing season
Table 1.2. Genotypes evaluated in 2019 and 2020 field experiments at Brookings and Pierre
locations
Table 1.3. Monthly precipitation data (mm) collected throughout the growing seasons for 2019
and 2020 at Brookings and Pierre, SD45
Table 1.4. Maximum and average monthly temperatures (oC) during 2019 and 2020 growing
seasons at Brookings and Pierre SD
Table 1.5. Number of days above 25, 28, and 30 °C in June and July at Brookings and Pierre SD
in 2019 and 2020 growing seasons
Table 1.6. Growth, yield, and yield traits of canola and carinata genotypes at Pierre 201947
Table 1.7. Growth, yield, and yield traits of canola genotypes at Brookings in 2020
Table 1.8. Growth, yield, and yield traits of canola genotypes at Pierre in 2020
Table 1.9. Growth, yield, and yield traits of canola and carinata genotypes at Brookings in
2019
Table 1.10. Pearson correlations between traits of canola genotypes evaluated at Brookings and
Pierre SD in 2019 and 2020
Table 1.11. The additive main effects and multiplicative interaction (AMMI) analysis of variance
(G by G*E (ANOVA) for yield and yield traits of eight canola genotypes in 2019 and 2020 at
Pierre and Brookings SD
Table 1.12. Genotype means and stability indices for yield and yield traits for eight canola
genotypes evaluated at four environments in SD

Table 2.1. Chemical properties for good, transitioning and saline soils used in Experiment 1,
Experiment 2 and Experiment 387
Table 2.2. Chemical properties of biochar and composted manure used in the Experiment 388
Table 2.3. Percentage seedling emergence of canola and carinata genotypes at 7 DAP and 28 DAP
in good, transitioning and saline soils in Experiment 1
Table 2.4. Percentage of emerged seedlings at 7DAP based on eight seeds, and shoot dry weight
plant-1, (59DAP), and SPAD (59DAP) for canola and mustard genotypes, in good,
transitioning and saline soils at 59DAP in Experiment 290
Table 2.5. Changes in chemical properties of soil used in experiment 3 after applying biochar in
experiment 392
Table 2.6. Effect of biochar type, composted manure rates, and genotypes on seedling emergence
(14DAP), number of leaves plant-1 (39DAP), SPAD values (39DAP) and shoot dry weight
plant-1 (39DAP) in experiment 3

xiii

APPENDICES

Table 2A.1. ANOVA for effect of composted manure, biochar, and genotypes on canola and	
mustard seedling emergence (7 and 14DAP), leaf plant-1 SPAD and shoot dry weight 39 DAP	
in greenhouse experiment 3	
Table 2A.2. Effect of biochar (softwood, hardwood, and no biochar (control) and composted manure	
mix rates (0,30,50%) on seedling emergence of canola and mustard genotypes in good,	
transitioning and saline soil at 14DAP in experiment 3101	
Table 2A.3. Effect of biochar (softwood, hardwood, and no biochar (control) and composted manure	
mix rates (0,30,50%) on number of leaves plant-1 of canola and mustard genotypes in good,	
transitioning and saline soil measured at 39 DAP in experiment 3102	
Table 2A.4. Effect of biochar (softwood, hardwood, and no biochar (control) and composted manure	
mix rates (0,30,50%) on shoot dry weight (g plant-1) of canola and mustard genotypes in good,	
transitioning and saline soil measured at 39 DAP in experiment 3103	
Table 2A.5. Effect of biochar (softwood, hardwood, and no biochar (control) and composted manure	
mix rates (0,30,50%) on leaf chlorophyll content (SPAD values) in good, transitioning and	
saline soils measured at 39 DAP in experiment 3104	
Table 2A.6. Effect of biochar (softwood, hardwood, and no biochar (control) and genotypes on Leaf	
chlorophyll content in good, transitioning and saline soils measured at 39 DAP in experiment	
3105	

ABSTRACT

EVALUATING CANOLA GENOTYPES FOR GROWTH AND YIELD UNDER DIFFERENT ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS IN SOUTH DAKOTA

UNIUS ARINAITWE

2021

Canola (Brassica napus L) and carinata (Brassica carinata A. Braun) are potential oilseed crops for diversifying cropping systems and expanding into marginal lands impacted by saline and sodic soils in South Dakota (SD). However, genotypes that are high yielding, with high agronomic adaptability and stability over diverse environments, and salt tolerant have not been selected. One field experiment was conducted at two environments (Brookings - eastern SD and Pierre - western SD) from 2019 to 2020 to evaluate genotypes for growth and yield stability. Three greenhouse experiments were conducted to evaluate genotypes for salt tolerance in soils varying in electrical conductivity (EC), and with or without amendments (biochar and composted manure). The field experiment in 2019 evaluated ten canola and three carinata genotypes, whereas in 2020, twelve canola genotypes were evaluated. The experimental design was RCBD with treatments replicated four times. The earliest genotype to flower was NCC101S reaching 50% flowering at 41 and 36 days after planting (DAP) in 2019 and 2020, respectively. All carinata genotypes were later flowering reaching 50% flowering at >48 DAP. Seed yield for all genotypes averaged 1809 and 1740 kg ha⁻¹ at Brookings and (1384 and 858 kg ha⁻¹) at Pierre in 2019 and 2020, respectively. Similarly, seed oil concentration was greater at Brookings (410 g kg⁻¹) than at Pierre (356 g kg⁻¹) at Pierre in 2019. Environment was the most dominant cause of variation among genotypes, explaining 73.3%, 67.7%, 45.2% and 45.7%, of the variations in biomass yield, pods $plant^{-1}$, 1000-seed

weight, and seed yield, respectively, while genotype by environment interactions (GEi) explained most of the remaining variation. Data indicated that four genotypes, CS2300, DKTF92SC, CS2500, and NCC101S were stable with good yield in the four environments.

For greenhouse experiments, the first experiment evaluated ten canola and three carinata genotypes in three soils with EC ranging from non-saline (0.62 mmho/cm), moderately saline (5.17 mmho/cm) and highly saline (8.47 mmho/cm). The experimental design was an RCBD with treatments replicated three times. In the second experiment, two types of biochar (softwood and hardwood were introduced in each soil type at a rate of 5% by volume with an unamended control (no biochar) for each soil and 10 canola and three mustard genotypes were planted at a rate of eight seeds pot⁻¹. The four most promising genotypes identified in experiment two (African cabbage, Brown mustard, DKTF91SC and NCC101S) were evaluated in the third experiment. In this experiment composted manure was added to each soil-biochar combination (as in second experiment) at rated of 0, 30 and 50% by volume. Treatments were arranged in a split-plot design with soil salinity level as the main plot and biochar, composted manure rate and genotype arranged in factorial design within soil salinity level. Seedling emergence had a negative relationship with soil salt content with an average of 65.1%, 17.7% and 11.2% of emerged seedlings in non-saline, moderately saline and highly saline soils in experiment one. The genotypes with the greatest seedling emergence in moderately saline soils were L140P and NCC101S (29.2%), whereas NCC101S in the highly saline soil was the best at 29.2%. Averaged over biochar and genotypes, application of composted manure improved seedling emergence, number of leaves plant⁻¹ and leaf chlorophyll content (SPAD values) as compared to treatments with no composted manure, irrespective of soil salt content (salinity level). However, application of composted manure

interacted with biochar type to influence number of leaves plant⁻¹ and (SPAD values) in moderately saline and highly saline soil but not in non-saline soils. The interaction for number of leaves plant⁻¹ was due to better response in moderately saline and highly saline soils amended with softwood biochar compared to soil with no biochar or amended with hardwood biochar to increasing composted manure rate with the greatest number of leaves obtained at the highest rate of 50%. For SPAD values, the interaction between biochar and composted manure was due to high variability in SPAD values response to applied composted manure among biochar treatments. In terms of genotype, there was high variability with all genotypes showing improvement with composted manure application in moderately saline and highly saline soils with or without biochar amendment, but with the best observed in soils amended with softwood biochar. These findings suggest that canola has a potential to become an alternative spring broadleaf oilseed crop for diversifying cropping systems in SD. However, more research is required for this crop to determine the best management practices in saline-sodic soils.

EVALUATING CANOLA GENOTYPES FOR GROWTH AND YIELD UNDER DIFFERENT ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS IN SOUTH DAKOTA

INTRODUCTION

Canola is the registered trademark of the Canola Council of Canada (CCC) for seed, oil, and meal derived from rapeseed cultivars low in erucic acid and low in glucosinolates (Mag, 1983). Canola and carinata are two oilseed crops from the rapeseed family that are thought to have originated from a cross where the maternal donor was closely related to diploid species of *B. oleracea* and *B. rapa and B. juncea* that are now cultivated in many parts of the world (Cardone et al., 2003; Licata et al., 2017; Paula et al., 2019; Seepaul et al. 2021b). Canola oil is primarily used for human edible products within a wide range of uses including cooking oil, margarine, salad dressing and shortening (U.S. Canola Association, (USCA)) (USCA, 2007; CCC, 2016b). Canola oils are in high demand due to their low saturated fatty acids, moderate levels of vitamin E, and K, and high omega-3 fatty acids. Besides the human edible market, canola oil meal is used in livestock feed and can be used to produce biodiesel fuel, bio lubricants and bioplastics (USCA, 2007; CCC, 2016b).

The European Union is the world's largest producer of canola, followed by China and Canada (Myers, 2018). The U.S. produces approximately one third of the canola oil used in the country, providing an opportunity to significantly expand production of the U.S. crop to meet domestic demand. The US Northern Great Plains (NGP) region is the leading producer of canola in the U.S with North Dakota producing over 85% of the US total volume (USCA, 2020).

The dominant cropping system in SD includes the corn-soybean rotation in the eastern part of the state, whereas winter wheat rotations dominate the state's western cropping region and involves a single crop with about 14-month fallow period (Padbury et al., 2002; Tobin et al., 2020, O'Brien et al., 2020). However, many wheat farmers are interested in the alternative cropping system due to poor return on the investment considering the current cropping system. Canola and carinata hybrids are increasingly used as cover and rotation break crops in wheat, soybean to corn-based cropping systems (Mohammadi and Rokhzadi, 2012; Arcand et., 2014; Foyjunnessa et., 2018; Doolette et al., 2019) and several studies have investigated canola and carinata in different regions of USA to increase crop adoption with the purpose of diversifying rotations, increasing domestic production and reducing import costs (Starner et al., 2002; Pan et al., 2016; George et at., 2017) but less is known about their agronomic performance in different environmental conditions in SD.

Saline and sodic soils are of great challenge to crop production in SD most especially in Beadle, Brown, and Spink Counties where an estimated 113,312 hectares are saline, leading to about \$26.2 million in losses annually (USDA NRCS, 2019). Currently most acreages impacted by salinity/sodic soil conditions lies barren with little plant life, providing no income to producers, no habitat for wildlife or pollinators, and is a threat to neighboring upland areas through wind and water dispersal. Methods to remediate these soils are expensive (Birru et al., 2019) compared with use of salt tolerant crops (Flowers et al., 1977; Munns, 2002). However, salt tolerant crops for the NGP have not yet been identified.

Although canola is reported to be salt tolerant crop (Kumar, 1984; Wright et al., 1997; Zheng et al., 1998; Ashraf and McNeilly, 2004), its growth and yield is negatively associated with salinity (Francois, 1994). However, organic amendments such as biochar and composted manure are potential ameliorants in saline soil that can improve physical, chemical, and biological properties (Huang and Redmann, 1995; Feng et al., 2020; Obia et al., 2020; Song et al., 2020), but these need to be evaluated since their performance varies with composition, application rates and soil conditions. More so, biochar performance varies based on biomass type and pyrolysis conditions.

Canola crops fit well in rotation with wheat and other small grains because it shares similar growing season like wheat, with spring canola like spring wheat, planted in early spring and harvested in the late summer. There are over 510,314 ha dedicated to wheat production in SD (USDA NASS, 2017) therefore, there is an excellent potential for canola production in rotation with wheat. Inserting a broadleaf crop into a wheat-based rotation has been shown to provide benefits to the subsequent wheat crop. This "rotational effect" has been well documented for legumes (Williams et al., 2014) as well as for canola (Smith et al., 2004). Thus, canola can provide important ecosystem services and can be non-competitive with existing crops if strategically integrated into existing rotations, and in the marginal lands. Canola is well-suited to NGP production due to its short growing period and could support wheat production in the western part of the state by intensifying and diversifying crop rotations, reducing pest incidence, improving nutrient cycling, providing food for pollinators, and maintaining soil quality. By restoring saline/sodic soils to a more stable environment, producers will be given the opportunity to increase ecosystem services and restore lost productivity. Carinata is also an oilseed crop from the rapeseed family that is said to be drought tolerant (Kumar, and Singh, 1998; Seepaul et al., 2019). Because of that it has received attention for its potential to become an alternative oilseed crop for production in the semi-arid regions of the NGP of USA (Enjalbert et al. 2013; Seepaul et al., 2021a). However, it's not used in food due to its long chain erucic acid and high concentrations of glucosinolates, but it is an alternative bio-jet fuel feedstock.

Previous research on canola under SD growing conditions is very limited and less is known about the adaptation and performance of canola genotypes to diverse environmental conditions typical of SD and performance in saline and sodic soils. Based on the knowledge gap mentioned above, the objectives of the current study were (i) to evaluate canola genotypes for growth and yield in different agroeco-zones with varying precipitation, temperature, and tillage systems in SD and (ii) evaluate different canola and carinata genotypes for tolerance to saline-sodic soils, and (iii) evaluate canola and mustard genotypes for emergence and growth in saline-sodic amended with biochar and composted manure under greenhouse conditions.

CHAPTER 1

EVALUATION OF CANOLA AND CARINATA GENOTYPES FOR GROWTH, YIELD AND GE INTERACTION.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Canola is the second largest oilseed crop in the world after soybean (Myers, 2018). It is an amphidiploid member of Brassica family that resulted from the cross between B. oleracea L. and B. rapa (Raymer et al., 1990; Downey and Rimmer, 1993; Raymer, 2002; Chen et al., 2010) a cytogenetic relationship that was described as the "U triangle" (Nagaharu, 1935). The triangle depicts the monogenomic diploids such as *B. rapa* (A genome, n=10), and digenetic species B. carinata (BC genome, n=17), B. juncea (AB genome, n=18) and B. napus (AC genome, n=19) (Vaughan, 1977; Downey and Rimmer 1993; Gulden et al., 2008). The term "canola" is a registered trade name by the Western Canadian Oilseed Crushers Association (WCOCA) representing rapeseed cultivars/varieties that are low in erucic acid content (<2 percent), and less than 30 micromoles gram⁻¹ of glucosinolates in the seed (Eskin and McDonald, 1991). This standard is now used popularly in the world on all canola-quality rapeseed products. Canola-quality rapeseed is in demand due to its healthy oils rich in omega-3 fatty acids for use in cooking. After oil extraction, the remainder of the seed (canola meal) is processed into livestock feed. Canola meal has lower protein when compared to soybean meal (36-39% for canola vs 45-48 % for soybean), but canola meal can still be substituted for soybean meal in livestock, poultry, and fish feed. It has high levels of lysine and arginine amino acids and is rich in vitamins and essential minerals (Gauthier et al., 2019).

The European Union is the world's largest producer of canola, followed by China and Canada (Myers, 2018). The U.S. produces approximately one-third of the canola oil used in the country, providing an opportunity to significantly expand canola production to meet

domestic demand. The Northern Great Plains (NGP) is the biggest canola producing region in the US. In 2019, 809,000 hectares were planted to canola in the US, yielding on average 2,224 kg ha⁻¹ for a total production of 1.5 billion kilograms of canola (USDA NASS, 2019). North Dakota is the leading canola producer with 650,000 ha, with Oklahoma, Idaho, Minnesota, Montana, and Washington producing the rest (USDA NASS, 2019). In SD, canola is generally a new crop with only five canola farms that were reported by Census of Agriculture in 2017 (USDA NASS, 2017). Canola has been shown to fit well in rotation with wheat and other small grains (Bushong et al., 2012). It has similar growing season like wheat, with spring canola, like spring wheat, planted in early spring and harvested in the late summer. There are over 510,300 ha dedicated to wheat production in SD (USDA NASS, 2017) therefore, an excellent potential land for canola production in rotation with wheat.

Since canola is not widely grown in SD, there is a need for more information on its adaptation to different environmental conditions to facilitate its integration into existing cropping systems. South Dakota has agro-ecologically diverse farming regions characterized by high temperatures, lower precipitation, and conservation tillage practices in the western region, and humid conditions with higher precipitation and mostly conventional tillage systems in the eastern region. The adaptation and performance of canola genotypes and or its relatives to these environments are largely influenced by their agronomic traits. These traits can be categorized as growth and yield traits and the important ones include emergence and stand establishment, days to flowering (DFL), plant height (PH), lodging (LR), biomass yield (BY), days to maturity (DM), harvest index (HI), number of pods plant⁻¹ (pods plant⁻¹) number of seeds pod⁻¹, seed oil concentration (OC), and seed yield (SY) (CCC, 2017).

Canola lifecycle begins at seed germination and emergence, which is affected by seedbed preparation and tillage practices (CCC, 2017; Willenborg et al., 2004; Assefa et al., 2014), abiotic stresses such as soil and air temperature conditions and moisture including freezing and or drought (CCC, 2017; McCauley, 2016; Zheng et al., 1998; Harker et al., 2015; Hwang et al., 2014). After emergence, biotic stresses such as soil-borne pathogens and insects can affect seedling at early stages of growth (Willenborg et al., 2004; Kaur and Bishnoi, 2011; Sharma et al., 2015; Beres et al., 2004; Sharma et al., 2015). For example, cold soils can delay emergence up to 20 days, resulting into non-uniform stands, and reducing growth and yield by 34 to 84% which is variable depending on genotype (McCauley, 2016). Canola has epigeal emergence and this exposes it to higher abiotic stress at early seedling stages compared to other crops (Koenig et al., 2011). So proper timing of planting under favorable conditions is critical (McGregor, 1987; Koenig et al., 2011).

Hybrid vigor can influence germination and emergence, for example Assefa et al. (2014) found that hybrids with large seeds emerged more vigorously compared to open pollinated genotypes. In a study evaluating tillage and planting practices for spring canola performance, Young et al. (2012) reported higher yield under no-till, compared to conventional till. On the other hand, Showalter (2017) reported 11 to 29% increase in stand establishment under high residue reduced tillage compared to no residue in a water-limited environment and attributed this to the fact that no-till can conserve moisture in the seedbed in dry environments.

Plant stands influence plant height, lodging rates, nutrient partitioning in plant and seed yield. Canola is very plastic and can attain optimum yield from stands ranging from as low as 10 plant m⁻² to stands as high as 200 plants m⁻² (McGregor, 1987; O'Donovan, 1994; Yantai et

al., 2016). French et al. (2016) reviewed the performance of canola under different stands (10 to 180 plants m⁻²) in 24 studies over four years under different moisture ranges and tillage systems, using hybrids and open pollinated cultivars. The economic optimum plant density ranged from 7 to 180 plants m⁻² and higher for high precipitation zone and lower for low precipitation zone, but the difference in yield ranged from 0.3 to 1 % within each zone. This was because canola can compensate for stand losses up to 69% by branching, and increasing pods plant⁻¹, and seeds pod⁻¹ (Hosseini, 2006; Assefa et al., 2014; Yantai et al., 2016). Higher plant populations increase intraspecific competition resulting in taller plants with thin stems, fewer branches, and less pods. This increases competition among plants which increases potential for water and nutrient stress that can inhibit growth and development (Ma et al., 2015).

Under normal conditions and optimum stands, canola can attain an average height ranging from 75 to 175 cm on average (CCC, 2017) and produce about six primary branches which are among the contributor traits to yield. These variations are influenced by seeding rates, established stands, moisture, and variety or genotype (Johnson and Hanson, 2003). Canola plants at low-density can have thicker stems that are more resistant to lodging (Wu and Ma, 2016; CCC, 2017) compared with high-density plants that are more prone to lodging (CCC, 2017; Dahiya et al., 2018). Reduction in plant height is a desirable trait in canola that can increase branching, pod area index and seed yield (Hua et al., 2014).

Lodging increases chances of disease infection that reduces the photosynthetic capacity of the stems and pods. This results into weaker plants, fewer flowers and pods and reduced seed yield. More so, lodging increases harvesting time and energy costs, and reduces yield (McGregor, 1987; Wu and Ma, 2016). The primary causes of plant root lodging are over-

crowding of plants, wet soil, drought, and excess nitrogen in soil which can reduce seed yield by 16 to 80% (Islam and Evans, 1994; CCC, 2017).

Canola has indeterminate flowering (Koenig et al., 2011; Seepaul et al., 2019), and therefore can continue to produce branches and putting on more flowers and pods if nutrients and space are not limiting, but it has a determinate growth (central stem is limited by the development of the floral reproductive structure, and therefore does not lengthen indefinitely). Moisture and heat stress above 25 °C reduce pollen fertility, pod formation, and seed development which also reduces seed weight, seed, and oil yield in canola (Assefa et al., 2014; Harker et al., 2015). For example, high temperatures were found to increase flower abscission and result into fewer, and smaller formed pods plant⁻¹ (Nuttal et al., 1992; Angadi et al., 2000; Singh et al., 2014). Temperatures at or higher than 27 °C during reproductive growth stages increase pod abortion, and maximum heat (35/18 °C, maximum/minimum temperature) and moisture stress during pod development can cause 77% loss of seed yield, but if this happens during flowering, the yield loss can be 58% (Gan et al., 2004). Canola genotypes that flower early (before late June/early July) with efficient pod set may reduce seed yield and oil concentration penalty associated with high temperatures during flowering and seed filling.

Seed size and number of seeds pod⁻¹ have a strong association with pods plant⁻¹, pod length and pod size which are all influenced by the genotype and the environmental conditions (Ivanovska et al., 2007, Zhang and Flottman, 2016). In canola, the number of pods plant⁻¹ can be varying from 60 to 200 (CCC, 2016a) and is influenced by the availability of photosynthate during pod development. Lack of N supply at growth reproductive stage also will result in fewer smaller pods with fewer, lighter seeds, especially in the later secondary and top branches (Angadi et al., 2003). Substantial stress (abiotic) at pod expansion stage leads to shorter pods and missing seeds (CCC, 2016a; CCC, 2017) which both negatively impacts yield. Canola seed size ranges from 2g 1000-seeds⁻¹ for small seed cultivars to 7.5g 1000-seeds⁻¹ for large seed size cultivars (Gusta et al., 2004; Hwang et al., 2014; Elliott et al., 2008; Harker et al., 2015; Brill et al., 2016). Canola hybrids have larger seed size compared to open pollinated genotypes (Harker et al., 2015). Seed size or 1000-seed weight can be used as a selection parameter among canola genotypes (Elliott et al., 2008) since this is a mutagenic trait.

Canola seed oil content is influenced both by genotype and environmental conditions with oil content for some genotypes reaching up to 60% (CCC, 2017). Drought stress terminates endosperm development, which directly influences seed size, and seed oil content, however, this varies from genotype to genotype. Availability of nutrients and moisture during seed development can influence seed oil content. Jackson (2000) reported a range of 370 to 510 g kg⁻¹ oil content in seeds with the variation attributed to differences in genotype, environmental conditions, and management factors. Comparable to this, Zhang and Flottmann (2016) found a close relationship between yield and biomass production among Australian canola hybrids in a high yield environment relative to a moisture stressed zone.

The final seed yield in canola is a product of key yield components (pods plant⁻¹, seeds pod, and biomass yield). However, this is influenced by growing conditions that affect biomass accumulation, days to flowering, days to maturity, pods and seed development and final seed and oil yield (Zhang and Flottmann, 2016). Canola yield is highly variable based on genotype and environmental growing conditions (Assefa et al., 2014). Over the years, canola yield has been on an increasing trend due to innovative research on high yielding genotypes. In 2016, for example average canola seed yield in United States was 1976 kg ha⁻¹, (USDA NASS, 2017) which increased to 2164 kg ha⁻¹ in 2019 (USCA, 2020). Seed yields vary from environment to

environment. Rahimi-Moghaddam et al. (2021) investigated irrigation regimes, temperature and water stress using the Agricultural Production Systems siMulator (APSIM) model with the known high yielding canola genotypes in Iran and found that canola can yield up to 3761 kg ha⁻¹ under a cooler temperate environment and 1885 kg ha⁻¹ under a water stressed hot climate with mid maturing genotype yielding higher than the rest.

Yield of canola cultivars can also be affected by pod shatter which is a negative yield trait that varies among genotypes and environments. Wang et al. (2007) evaluated *B. napus*, *B. juncea*, *S. alba* and *B. napus* cultivars from a cross between *B. rapa* and *B. napus*, pod shatter was least at 4% in *B. juncea* and as high as 61% in hybrids. Newer cultivars however have lower pod shatter rates (Raman et al., 2014) due to intensive breeding and selection for pod shatter resistance. Pod shattering trait in canola is genetically inherited (Raman et al., 2014; Braatz et al., 2018) and is less controlled by the environment (Kadkol et al., 1989).

Carinata is a non-food oilseed crop from rapeseed family that can be used as a feedstock for bio-jet fuel. Carinata is said to be drought tolerant (Kuma and Singh, 1998; Seepaul et al., 2019). Because of that it has received attention for its potential to become an alternative oilseed crop for production in the semi-arid regions of the Northern Great Plains of USA (Enjalbert et al. 2013; Seepaul et al., 2021a). However, carinata is not used in food products due to its long chain erucic acid and high concentrations of glucosinolates. Three carinata genotypes were included in the study for comparison with canola genotypes.

Since canola performance varies greatly depending on genotype, environmental conditions, and their interactions (Gunasekera et al., 2006), it is critical that genotype evaluations be conducted in areas intended for its production to enhance selection of best performing well adapted ones. The objective of the current study was to evaluate canola

genotypes for growth and yield in different agroeco-zones with varying precipitation, temperature, and tillage systems in SD. From the literature above, we hypothesize that canola growth and yield traits will differ by genotype which will vary among environments.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A two-year study was conducted at Aurora Research farm-Brookings (44.6° N, 90.3° W) and Dakota Lakes Research farm-Pierre (44.3° N, 100.3° W) in 2019 and 2020. The soil type at the Brookings site was Brandt series characterized by fine silty, super active, frigid calcic hapludolls (Malo, 2003). At the Pierre site, study was conducted on a Dorna silty loam soil (coarse-silty over clayey, superactive, mesic Fluventic Haplustolls). The previous crop was winter wheat in Brookings and corn in Pierre. Pre-planting soil analysis results for the two locations and years are given on Table 1.1.

The experimental design was a randomized complete block (RCBD) with treatments consisting of 10 canola and three carinata genotypes in 2019 and 12 canola genotypes in 2020 (Table 1.2). The individual plot size was 1.62 x 9.14 meters (14.86 m²). In 2019, the planting dates were 3rd May at Pierre and 18th May at Brookings. In 2020, the planting dates were 28th April at Pierre and 8th May at the Brookings location. Planting was done using a seven-row Hege 500[®] (Wintersteiger-Austria). Each plot had seven rows, 22 cm apart. Seeding rate was based on seed size with a target population of 148 plants m⁻² which is approximately 600,000 plants acre⁻¹.

Both years, 112 kg ha⁻¹ N and 22 kg ha⁻¹ S in the form of urea (46% N) and ammonium sulfate (21% N and 24% S) mixture was applied in a split application as recommended to ensure continuous supply of N. The first application occurred at planting and the second

application occurred around the bolting stage (30-35 DAP). The fertilizer was broadcast manually using an automatic hand-held spreader to ensure even application.

Weeds were managed with pre-emergence application of Prowl H₂O (Pendimethalin, BASF, Research Triangle, NC) herbicide at the rate of 2.8 L ha⁻¹ applied 5 cm deep approximately 15 days prior to planting in both years. After crop emergence, Poast (Sethoxydim, BASF, Research Triangle, NC) herbicide was applied at the rate of 2.1 L ha⁻¹ four weeks after planting to control grassy weeds. Broadleaf weeds were managed by hand pulling from within each plot as required.

Days to flowering (50% of flowers open within each plot) and days to maturity (50% of plant with pods turned yellow within each plot) were recorded for each plot at Brookings. At physiological maturity (when 90% of the pods plot⁻¹ have reached a brown color and 50% of the plants parts have started turning color), average plant height was determined by measuring height of five random plants within each plot from soil line to the top of the plant. Lodging notes were taken and rated on a scale of 0 to 9 (0= no lodging, 9= completely lodged) (Passioura, 1977; Johnson and Hanson, 2003; Jan et al., 2016; Mahmood et al., 2018). Pod shattering notes were taken based on percent of pods shattered at the time of harvest within each plot (Spence et al., 1996; CCC, 2017). Plant samples were cut from a 30 x 30 cm area on each plot to determine yield traits. A subsample of 10 plants from each sample was used to determine number of pods plant⁻¹ and seeds pod⁻¹. The sample was then dried for 7 days at 60 °C to moisture free weight and weighed to determine total biomass yield. The seeds were then threshed from the sample and weighed. Thousand seed weight was computed by counting one thousand clean dry seeds and taking their weight using a high precision scale (Sartorius Model TE3 13S-DS).

At physiological maturity, Roundup® (Glyphosate, Monsanto) was applied at the rate of 2.24 L ha⁻¹ to burn-down the plants. Plots were harvested using a Kincaid 8XP® crop research combine (Kincaid Equipment and Manufacturing-Haven, KS) with the assistance of the H2 High-Capacity Grain Gage® (Juniper Systems Inc.- Juniper, UT) and seed yield was obtained from clean seeds and recorded as kg ha⁻¹. Seeds were dried to stable moisture under open air drying for 7 days at 60 °C.

Twelve samples of 50 g each from the harvested seeds from each genotype were dried again to moisture free weight, sent to SGS Mid-West Seed Services, Inc. in Brookings, SD for oil content analysis using a hexane solvent extraction method. The results of this analysis were used to calibrate the NMR instrument (minispec mq, Bruker-Billerica, MA) for oil content analysis and then the rest of the samples were analyzed using the NMR instrument. Oil yield was calculated by multiplying the total seed yield by the oil concentration (percent basis).

Statistical analysis

Growth and yield traits data from the four site-years were initially combined and analyzed together using analysis of variance (ANOVA) for RCBD in RStudio (version 4.1.0) using the package "agricolae" (De Mendiburu, 2017). Fisher's Least Significant Difference (LSD) was used to compare the differences among treatments at the 95% confidence level. This analysis showed significant location/environment by genotype interactions for most traits evaluated, hence each site-year data was analyzed separately. Pearson correlation analysis was conducted using a four site-year combined data to determine relationships and associations among traits and trait profiles of genotypes (Yan et al., 2000; Yan, 2001; Yan et al., 2007; Yan and Frégeau-Reid, 2018).

The additive main effect and multiplicative interaction analysis (AMMI) which is a principal component-based method (Purchase et al., 2000; De Mendiburu, 2017; Ajay et al., 2019) in R studio version 4.0.1 was used to validate the effect of genotype, environment, and their interactions on expression of a selected set of four yield traits across four site-years using eight genotypes that were present in all four site-years. If the interaction between genotype and the environment was significant, these were further evaluated in detail using the principal components procedure and constructing AMMI biplots based on principal components that explained the most variability of the traits (Purchase et al., 2000; De Mendiburu, 2017; Ajay et al., 2019). Genotypes located close to the horizontal line are characterized by stable yields and adaptability irrespective of the environmental conditions. Stability ranking of genotypes was further done based on criteria described by Lin et al. (1986) whereby the genotype is stable if its variance (σ^2) over a range of environments is small and considering the sum of stability index (Becker and Leon, 1988; Crossa, 1990; Kang, 1988, Kang et al., 1991; Purchase et al., 2000). The genotype having lower AMMI stability value (ASV), rank of AMMI stability value (rASV), and lower yield stability index (YSI) is stable across environments (Purchase et al., 2000; Mut et al., 2010).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Environmental conditions

Rainfall and temperature data for the study location were accessed from Mesonet at South Dakota State University (SDSU), (Mesonet, 2020), and the 30-year average data from 1985 to 2015 was accessed from National Weather Services used for comparison (Tables 1.3 and 1.4). The experimental period (2019–2020) was characterized by varied weather conditions at different stages of spring canola genotypes growth and development. The year 2020 was warmer and drier than 2019 at both locations compared to the long-term average weather. In 2019, the growing season precipitation at Brookings was 1.7 mm more than the long-term average. In the month of June, the precipitation was 43.9 mm less than the long-term average whereas July was 51.4 mm higher than long-term average. Heavy rainfall in July (total 132 mm) soaked root zone reducing anchorage that increased plants susceptibility to lodging. In 2020 at Brookings, total seasonal precipitation was 168.6 mm lower than the long-term average. Again, June was 43.7 mm drier than the long-term average whereas the July precipitation was close to the long-term average.

At Pierre in 2019 seasonal precipitation was 102.9 mm lower than the long-term average. During flowering period in June, precipitation was 80.1 mm lower than the long-term average whereas in July the precipitation was slightly greater (+4.7 mm) than the long-term average. The dry weather conditions constrained crop growth during the pod and seed development period. Pierre was even drier in 2020 with the whole growing season precipitation of 114.3 mm lower than the long-term average and with both June and July drier than the long-term average (Table 1.3).

Temperature varied between the two environments and among the four site-years of the study (Table 1.4). At Brookings in 2019, maximum temperatures during June/July, which is the reproductive growth and therefore heat-sensitive period for canola, were comparable to the long-term average, whereas in 2020, maximum temperatures were 2.8 and 0.3 °C higher than the long-term average. In April, which is the planting period, maximum temperatures were 11.1 and 12.5 °C higher than the long-term average in 2019 and 2020, respectively. At the Pierre location in 2019 both June and July were slightly cooler than the long-term average. In 2020, June was warmer than the long-term average whereas July was cooler (Table 1.4). In

general, the Brookings location was cooler, wetter, and much more comparable to the longterm average in 2019 compared to 2020, and cooler in both years than the Pierre location. The Pierre location had more consecutive days of extreme hot days (above 25 °C) compared with the Brookings location (Table 1.5).

Lower than optimum precipitation in April and May of 2020 at both locations resulted in reduced early growth and vigor which affected overall agronomic trait expressions, while heat stress during June and July constrained flowering, pod setting, seed development and seed filling which reduced seed yield and oil concentration. These results were similar to those reported by Morrison et al. (2016) in heat stress treatments. Drought was more severe at Pierre due to elevated temperatures resulting in reduced plant growth, pollen fertility, pods plant⁻¹, seeds pod⁻¹, and consequently leading to lower seed yield and seed oil content for all genotypes compared to Brookings location.

Plant height and lodging.

Plant height data were collected in three of four site-years, these data were not collected at Brookings in 2019 due to excessive lodging. Genotypes differed in plant height (Table 1.6 to 1.8). At Pierre in 2019, the tallest genotype was CS2300 with this genotype taller than all other canola and carinata genotypes except DH140251 (Table 1.6). At Pierre in 2020, the same genotype CS2300 was significantly taller than all others (Table 1.7). The shortest genotype was NCC101S (96.1 cm and 85.7 cm tall) at Pierre in 2019 and Brookings in 2020, respectively. The average canola height was 111.3 cm in 2019 and 93.3 cm in 2020 likely due to higher precipitation and less heat stress in the 2019 growing season (Tables 1.3 and 1.4). Volkov et al. (2006) also reported a reduced growth in Arabidopsis due to heat and moisture stress. Elferjani and Soolanayakanahally (2018) also reported that canola plant height averaged

145.8 cm under normal conditions (control) but when cultivars were subjected to heat and moisture stress treatments, plant height reduced drastically. Canola genotypically is shorter when compared to carinata (CCC, 2016a) and average height can be in the rage of 75 to 175 cm, which is consistent with the findings on plant height in this study. Taller plants tend to partition a lot of nutrients to biomass production, increasing susceptibility to lodging due to increased gravitational point and thinner nonlignified stem tissues.

Data for stem lodging were collected at the Brookings site only. In both years lodging was significantly influenced by genotype (Tables 1.7 and 1.9). In 2019, the most lodged genotype was CS2600 (7.8) while the least lodged genotype was CS2500 (1.8). In 2020, the most lodged genotype was DKTFLL21SC (8.5) which was the greatest overall, while the least lodged genotype was CS2300 (0.3). Canola plants lodged more in 2019 compared to 2020 likely due to higher moisture in the rooting zone that reduced anchorage, and plants were taller in 2019 leading to lodging (Wu and Ma, 2016). In the current study, taller genotypes lodged more than shorter ones, which is consistent with Alberti et al. (2019) who found positive correlation of plant height and lodging under similar South Dakota growing conditions. Likewise, Pan et al. (2016) found that lodging severity was strongly associated with plant height among canola hybrids. Favorable growing conditions in 2019 at early plant development resulted in tall, vigorous plants. This was followed by a mid-season heavy storms during the post-flowering to pod filling period in late July to August, creating conducive environment for stem and root lodging. Related to this, Zhang and Flottmann (2016) reported higher rates of lodging among Australian canola hybrids following heavy precipitation compared to a drier year. The Brookings location in 2019 was wetter, and plants were heavier with more pods plant⁻¹ and higher biomass making them susceptible to lodging.
Days to flowering and days to maturity

Days to flowering data were collected at the Brookings location only. Genotypes differed significantly in number of days to flowering (Tables 1.7 and 1.9). The earliest genotype to flower was canola NCC101S reaching 50% flowering at 41 and 36 DAP, in 2019 and 2020, respectively. The latest genotype was carinata, DH140251 (51 DAP) in 2019 and canola genotype CS2300 at 44 DAP in 2020. The three carinata genotypes (A120, DH140251 and DH069485) flowered late compared to canola genotypes, reaching 50% of flowering at >48 DAP in 2019. This variation in flowering between canola and carinata was also reported by Getinet et al. (1996) who observed a 5 to 19 delay in days to flowering by double haploid Ethiopian mustard genotypes compared to canola genotypes. On average, all canola genotypes flowered 2 to 4 days earlier in 2020 compared to 2019 which was likely due to early drought and mid-season heat stress that initiated early transitioning from vegetative to reproductive growth. Similar findings have also been reported by Tesfamariam et al. (2010) who reported early flowering due to stress, although this response varied from genotype to genotype under different environments. Canola is very sensitive to heat and moisture stress, and it is more devastating if flowering for spring canola coincides with high temperatures, especially in late June to early July. This often results in flower abortion and poor pod set, which negatively impact seed yield and oil concentration.

The days to maturity data were collected at the Brookings location only and genotypes differed in days to maturity (Tables 1.7 and 1.9). In 2019, canola genotype NCC101S matured earlier than all other genotypes (Table 1.9) while the carinata genotype A120 was the latest genotype to mature. All three carinata genotypes matured later compared to most canola genotypes. In 2020, the earliest genotype was DKTF91SC reaching maturity at 79 DAP, but

this was like most other genotypes except four canola genotypes (CS2300, CS2600, DKLL82SC and L140P). Over the 2-year period, the number of days to maturity ranged from 79 to 98. This is a slightly narrower range than 82 to 122 days reported by Yantai et al. (2016) for canola hybrids grown at 16 different locations. The variations in number to days to maturity were attributed to large moisture gradient among multiple locations/environments. There were only two location/environments in the current study (Brookings 2019 and 2020). Likely, high moisture in 2019 increased nutrient availability to plants which consequently increased vegetative growth and extended days to maturity by at least 4 days among genotypes compared to the slightly drier year of 2020.

Number of pods plant⁻¹, seeds pod⁻¹, and 1000-seed weight

Canola genotypes differed in number of pods plant⁻¹ only at Brookings in 2020 (P = 0.014) (Table 1.7). The genotype with greatest number of pods plant⁻¹ was CS2300 (57 pods plant⁻¹) while the genotype with least number of pods plant⁻¹ was DKTF91SC (18 pods plant⁻¹). On average, plants had more pods in 2019 at Brookings (82 pods plant⁻¹), and at Pierre (67 pods plant⁻¹) than in 2020 at Brookings (35 pods plant⁻¹), and at Pierre (24 pods plant⁻¹). This was not surprising since more than average rainfall is reported to enhance plant growth, promote branching and increasing the number of pods plant⁻¹. Pods plant⁻¹ in the current study ranged from 18 to 106 among all genotypes. This is in the lower end of the average range of 60 to 200 pods plant⁻¹ reported by CCC (2017). This is likely due to a combination of factors. For example, in 2020 precipitation was lower than optimum and temperatures higher than average at both locations. In 2020, we observed even lower pods plant⁻¹, (24 and 35 pods plant⁻¹) at Brookings and Pierre, respectively. The effect of heat and moisture stress on Brassica crops have been reported in different studies to negatively impact their growth and yield

(Nuttal et al., 1992; Angadi et al., 2000; Singh et al., 2014). Higher temperatures greater than 25 ⁰C during flowering can prevent canola plants from forming pods, (Gan et al., 2004).

Data for number of seeds pod⁻¹ were collected at both locations in 2020 (Tables 1.7 and 1.8). The number of seeds pod^{-1} varied among genotypes at Brookings (P = 0.050), and at Pierre (P = 0.008). At Brookings, the number of seeds pod^{-1} ranged from 7 (DKTF91SC) to 16 (CS2300) with a mean of 12 seeds pod⁻¹ whereas at Pierre the number of seeds pod⁻¹ ranged from 7 seeds pod⁻¹ (DKLL82SC) to 16 seeds pod⁻¹ (CS2300) with an average of 11 seeds pod⁻¹ ¹. These results indicate that the number of seeds pod⁻¹ are more stable across environmental conditions. In canola the number of seeds pod⁻¹ can range from 15 to 40, depending on the genotype and environmental conditions (CCC, 2016a). Harsh environmental conditions such as drought during critical growth stages has been shown to reduce seed development in canola (Gan et al., 2004; Mirzaei et al., 2013), especially under higher plant population (Angadi et al., 2000) due to elevated competition for moisture. In the current study, average established plant stands were greater at Brookings (168 plant m⁻²) compared to 135 plant m⁻² at Pierre during the same growing season (data not shown) and greater than optimum plant population for canola production of 50 to 80 plants m⁻² (CCC, 2017). These greater plant populations and harsher environmental conditions likely explain the lower-than-average number of seeds pod⁻ ¹ observed in the current study. Furthermore, heat and drought stresses increase flower abortion, reduce the number of formed pods and seeds (Gan et al., 2004, Assefa et al., 2014) which contribute negatively to yield.

Canola seed size varied among genotypes at Brookings in 2019 (P<0.000) and 2020 (P = 0.045), and at Pierre in 2019 (P = 0.008) (Tables 1.6, 1.7, and 1.9). In 2019 at Brookings, seed size ranged from 2.8 g 1000 seeds⁻¹ (L140P) to 5.3 g 1000 seeds⁻¹ (DH140251) with a

mean of 3.5 g 1000 seeds⁻¹. At Pierre in 2019, seed size ranged from 2.1 g 1000 seeds⁻¹ (DKTF92SC) to 5.2 g 1000 seeds⁻¹ (DH140251) with a mean of 3.4 g 1000 seeds⁻¹. Seed size was smaller in 2020 ranging from 1.9 g 1000 seeds⁻¹ (L233P) to 3.3 g 1000 seeds⁻¹ (CS2500) with a mean of 2.7 g 1000 seeds⁻¹. Carinata genotypes had larger seeds than canola genotypes (Tables 1.6 and 1.9). The 1000-seed weight is an important genotype-specific trait (Thompson et al., 1977), so this can be used as a selection parameter among canola genotypes (Elliott et al., 2008). This trait is key in determining seeding rates, and has influence on seedling emergence rates, vigor, and growth. Canola seed development and expansion is influenced by the genotype (McGregor, 1987) as well as environmental conditions (Assefa et al., 2014; Harker et al., 2015). The partitioning and accumulation of growth assimilates into the seed endosperm determines seed size, and this can vary depending on availability of nutrients and moisture during critical seed development and maturation stages. Under optimal conditions, canola seed size can be in the range of 2 to 7.5 g 1000 seeds⁻¹ (Elliott et al., 2008; Hwang et al., 2014). If we consider canola genotypes only, canola seeds in this study are in the lower range of average seed size likely due to stress conditions during seed development.

Biomass yield, harvest index, and seed yield

Genotypes differed in biomass yield at Brookings location in 2019 (P = 0.013), and in 2020 (P = 0.033) (Tables 1.7 and 1.9). In 2019, biomass yield ranged from 1673 g m⁻² (DKL7114BL) to 2499 g m⁻² (L233P) with an average of 1967 g m⁻². In 2020, the biomass yield was much lower ranging from 329 g m⁻² (DKT 96SC) to 1237 g m⁻¹ (CS2300) with an average of 793 g m⁻². On average, biomass yield was 2.5 times greater in 2019 (1967 g m⁻²) than in 2020 (793 g m⁻²). The earlier maturing genotypes produced less biomass in a drier year of 2020 compared to a cool, wetter year of 2019. Under excess nutrients and moisture later in

the growing season, canola can continue to accumulate significant amounts of biomass even after pod set is complete due to its indeterminate growth, while under terminal water stress, biomass production is terminated early in favor of pod and seed development (Zhang and Flottmann, 2016). Biomass production has a linear association with seed yield, although variations exist depending on plant density, moisture, and nutrient availability to plants during the growing season. Biomass accumulation is the main driver to yield of canola hybrids under favorable conditions (Laza et al., 2003; Zhang and Flottmann, 2016). This literature together with analysis herein strongly suggest that drought and heat stress (Tables 1.3 to 1.5) are responsible for variations in biomass yield among genotypes evaluated.

Seed yield varied significantly among genotypes at all site-years (Tables 1.6 to 1.9). In 2019 at Brookings, seed yield ranged from 1182 kg ha⁻¹ (DH069485) to 2349 kg ha⁻¹ (DKTF91SC) with a mean of 1809 kg ha⁻¹ which was the greatest yield among all site-years. At the Pierre location during the same growing season (2019), seed yield ranged from 1001 kg ha⁻¹ (A120) to 1687 kg ha⁻¹ (CS2100) (Tables 1.6 and 1.9). The three carinata genotypes were the lowest yielding at both locations in 2019. In 2020, canola seed yield at Brookings ranged from 1104 kg ha⁻¹ (DKTFLL21SC) to 2964 kg ha⁻¹ (L140P) with a mean of 1740 kg ha⁻¹. At Pierre in the same year, seed yield was much lower ranging from 504 kg ha⁻¹ (L233P) to 1375 kg ha⁻¹ (CS2600) with a mean of 858 kg ha⁻¹ (Tables 1.7 and 1.8). Poor yield at Pierre was due to early drought stress and damage by chinch bugs (*Blissus leucopterus*) during early growth, and heat stress during reproductive growth. The drought and heat stress, and insect damage adversely affected the earlier flowering and maturing genotypes more that the later genotypes.

and oil concentration in Brassica crops (Tayo and Morgan, 1975; Morrison and Stewart, 2002; CCC, 2017).

Seeds yield in Brassica crops is a function of pods plant⁻¹, seeds pod⁻¹, 1000-seed weight, and biomass yield which are key yield components (Angadi et al., 2003; Zhang and Flottmann, 2016). In the current study we found a significant positive correlation of seed yield with seeds pod⁻¹ and pods plant⁻¹. In addition, environmental conditions can affect the genotypes adaptability to growth and yield. Other studies reported higher yields under irrigation compared to non-irrigated controls under extremes of drought and heat stress (Taylor et al., 1991; Mohtashami et al., 2020), suggesting that supplemental irrigation at the Pierre location in 2020 would have reduced yield penalties associated with drought and heat stress.

Oil concentration and oil yield

Genotypes differed in seed oil concentration at Brookings and at Pierre in 2019 and at Brookings in 2020 (Tables 1.6, 1.7, and 1.9). At Brookings in 2019, oil concentrations ranged from 263 g kg⁻¹ (A120) to 516 g kg⁻¹ (CS2600) while in 2020, the range in oil concentration among genotypes was narrower from 305 g kg⁻¹ (DKTFLL21SC) to 469 g kg⁻¹ (L140P) (Table 1.9). At Pierre seed oil concentration was lower ranging from 216 g kg⁻¹ (NCC101S) to 437 g kg⁻¹ (CS2100) in 2019 (Table 1.6). Oil concentration in seed was greater in 2020 compared to 2019, and greater in canola genotypes than carinata genotypes. Seed oil concentrations in canola ranged of 370 g kg⁻¹ to 510 g kg⁻¹ under optimum field conditions and was 340 g kg⁻¹ under drought stress conditions with only 332 mm of precipitation (Jackson, 2000). Canola oil content is also influenced by the environmental conditions that affect seed endosperm development and maturation (Zhang and Flottmann, 2016). At Pierre in 2019 the total growing season precipitation was 102.9 mm lower than the long-term average while in the same year at Brookings, weather was much more comparable to the long-term average, all explaining the lower oil concentration for most genotypes at Pierre (356 g kg⁻¹) when compared to the same genotypes at Brookings (414 g kg⁻¹) in 2019. Low oil concentration in semi-arid environments was attributed to accelerated growth and short growing season as reported by Getinet et al. (1996) which negatively impacted proper seed development, maturation and ultimately reduced seed oil accumulation.

Genotypes differed in oil yield at Brookings in 2019 and 2020, and at Pierre in 2019 (Tables 1.6, 1.7, and 1.9). Oil concentration and oil yield was not measured at Pierre in 2020 since drought stress impacted seed development resulting in extremely small and shriveled seeds. In 2019 at Brookings oil yield ranged from 327 kg ha⁻¹ to 1178 kg ha⁻¹ with a mean of 771 kg ha⁻¹. At Pierre in the same year, oil yield was much lower ranging from 150 kg ha⁻¹ to 542 kg ha⁻¹ and a mean of 361 kg ha⁻¹. At Brookings in 2020, oil yield ranged from 323 kg ha⁻¹ (DKTFLL21SC) to 1405 kg ha⁻¹ (L140P). Carinata genotypes had lower oil yield at both locations in 2019 in comparison with canola genotypes. Periods of high temperatures and low soil moisture during flowering and seed-filling periods in canola have been shown to reduce seed oil concentrations (Morrison and Stewart, 2002), which helps explain the low oil yield among all genotypes at Pierre compared to Brookings.

Association between growth and yield traits

Pearson correlation was used to determine the relationship between growth and yield traits. Number of days to flowering was significantly correlated with days to maturity (r = 0.69, P<0.000), biomass yield (r = 0.61, P<0.000), 1000-seed weight (r = 0.28, P = 0.006), and seed yield (r = 0.22, P = 0.034) (Table 1.10). Similarly, days to maturity had a strong positive association with biomass yield (r = 0.80, P<0.000), and 1000-seed weight (r = 0.49, P<0.000).

However, days to maturity had no relationship with seed yield (Table 1.10). This is contrary to findings by Zhang et al. (2010) who found a positive correlation of genotype's days to maturity and seed yield. In the NGP, early flowering for spring canola is a desirable trait and flowering for late maturing genotypes often coincides with higher temperatures causing flower abscission, poor pod setting and seed development which negatively impacts on seed yield. However, in the presence of late-season precipitation, later flowering cultivars resume growth and produce more biomass, lengthening days to maturity without increasing seed yield, which agrees with Zhang and Flottmann (2016) who found a lengthened growth and delayed maturity under high precipitation zone compared to a lower precipitation zone using the same genotypes.

The number of pods plant⁻¹ had a positive correlation with biomass yield (r = 0.84, p<0.000), days to maturity (r = 0.77, P<0.000), 1000-seed weight (r = 0.34, P<0.000), and seed yield (r = 0.38, P<0.000). This means that late maturing genotypes produced more biomass, which lengthened days to flowering and partitioned more assimilates to growth and hence more pods plant⁻¹. The number of seeds pod⁻¹ were negatively correlated with 1000-seed weight (r = -0.29· P = 0.05), and positively correlated seed yield (r = 0.41, P<0.000) but with no relationship with biomass yield, pods plant⁻¹, days to flower and days to maturity (Table 1.10). Lack of moisture and nutrient supply at reproductive growth stages can constrain pod and seed development, resulting in fewer pods and lighter seeds explaining the negative correlation between seeds pod⁻¹ and 1000-seed weight. This is a common problem among late flowering genotypes under late drought and in early flowering genotypes during early drought (Angadi et al., 2003). However, is important to note that higher precipitation late in the growing season combined with soil nutrient availability can result in excessive vegetative growth and increased

number of pods plant⁻¹ with lighter small seeds. This assertion is supported by Zhang et al., 2010 who found no association of seeds m⁻² with seed pod⁻¹ and 1000-seed weight among late maturing Australian canola hybrids.

Biomass yield had lower but significant correlations with seed yield (r = 0.26 P < 0.000) and 1000-seed weight (r = 0.34, P<0.000) (Table 1.10). Increase in biomass accumulation results in elevated canopy photosynthesis, resulting in greater assimilate partitioning into seed development (Zhang and Flottmann, 2016) resulting in increased yield. However, under drought stress, plants partition less assimilates into pod and seed development hence the lower correlations observed in the present study. This agrees with the analysis of variance (Table 1.6 to 1.9) where most genotypes at Pierre location accumulated higher biomass without partitioning the assimilate into seed development.

Genotype-by-Environment Interaction (GEi).

The results of the AMMI analysis for four traits of eight canola genotypes that were present at all four-site years of this study are presented in Table 1.11. Environment effects were significant for all four traits. Environment explained 73.3% of the variation in biomass yield, 67.7% of the variation in pods per plant, 45.2 % of the variation in 1000-seed weight and 45.7% of the variation in seed yield. Genotypic effect was not significant for all four traits and explained the least variation ranging from a low of 1.7 % in biomass yield to a high of 5.6 % in the 1000-seed weight. On the other hand, GE interactions were significant for three (biomass yield, pods plant⁻¹, seed yield) of the four traits and explained the remainder of the observed variation ranging from 6.8% for 1000-seed weight to a high of 18.1% for seed yield. Acclimatizing a new cultivar in a new environment for optimum yield, demands that both must interact (GE interaction) to influence yield (Gunasekera et al., 2006) although this may

complicate selection for multiple environments (Shafii and Price, 1998). Unlike in the study by Nowosad et al. (2017) where the GE interaction was significant only for canola seed oil content, GE interactions were highly significant (P<0.000) for the three out of the four traits in the current study. The only exception was for the 1000-seed weight trait that was influenced only by environment. Although canola seed size is a mutagenic trait, (Hwang et al., 2014; Elliott et al., 2008; Harker et al., 2015; Brill et al., 2016) the lack of genotypic effect on 1000seed weight was surprising as seed size was variable among canola genotypes.

Canola growers are mostly interested in seed yield and yet it is a function of many components with the most important being 1000-seed weight (seed size), pods plant⁻¹ and biomass accumulation (Zhang and Flottmann, 2016). The GE interaction for these traits and seed yield were further analyzed in detail using AMMI-1 biplot following the criteria described by De Mendiburu (2017); Ajay et al. (2019). The results showed that GE interactions had the greatest effect on biomass yield with values of three principal components (PC's), PC1, PC2 and PC3 significant (Table 1.11). Genotype x environment interaction also had a great impact on seed yield with two first principal components, PC1 and PC2 values significant. While first two PC1 and PC2 explained >80% of observed GE variation for all four traits, it was PC1 that accounted for most of the observed variation, ranging from 57.1 % for 1000-seed weigh to 83.2% in pods plant⁻¹ (Table 1.11).

We further analyzed the nature of the GE interaction focusing on PC1. The traits were plotted on the x-axis and the PC1 scores on the y-axis (Figure 1.1 a-d), (Ararsa et al., 2015; Załuski et al., 2020). On average, seed yield was greatest for genotypes L140P (6) and lowest for L233P (7) (Fig 1-1a). This agrees with the ranking of yield in Table 1.12. In terms of environmental adaptability (Fig 1.1 a-d), Brookings 2019 (11) and Pierre 2019 (21) were very

similar and had the greatest seed yield whereas Pierre 2020 (41) was the harshest environment for seed yield (Fig 1.1a) due to lower than long-term average precipitation and higher temperatures during the growing season (Table 1.2 to 1.4). Pierre 2019 (21) and Brookings 2020 (31) differed greatly in terms of genotypes adaptability. Pierre 2020 (41) was very discriminating, as indicated by longer distance from the origin. The genotypes CS2300 and CS2500 were adapted to this environment with greater stability as indicated by closeness to the yield tester axis (YTA), as compared to L140P (6) which was also adapted to the Pierre 2019 but was unstable. The Brookings 2020 (31) environment was less discriminating with four genotypes (NCC101S, DKTF92SC, CS2100 and L233P) uniformly and relatively stable under this environment. The two canola genotypes L140P (6) at Pierre 2019 (21) and DKTF91SC (4) at Brookings 2020 (31) produced the greatest seed yield under the two favorable environments which were cooler, and wetter compared to Pierre 2020 (41), therefore contributing greatly to the GE interactions (Figure 1.1 a). The Pierre 2020 environment (41) was the harshest in terms of growing conditions and very discriminating compared to other three other environments with no genotype adapted to this environment.

On average, biomass yield was greatest for genotypes L233P (7) and lowest for DKTF91SC (4) (Fig 1.1b). This agrees with the ranking of genotype's biomass yield in Table 1.12. In terms of environments, Brookings 2019 (11) and Brookings 2020 (31) were very similar and were the greatest yielding environments in terms of biomass yield whereas Pierre 2019 (21) and Pierre 2020 (41) were least favorable environment for biomass yield (Fig 1.1b). The two canola genotypes NCC101S (8), and L233P (7) produced the greatest biomass yield under the two favorable environments of Brookings 2019 and 2020 which were cooler, and wetter compared to Pierre 2019 (21) and 2020 (41) (Fig 1.1 b). However, the same two

genotypes (NCC101S and L233P) and CS2300 (2) were the most unstable genotypes contributing to the observed GE interaction as indicated by the fact that they are the farthest from the tester axis.

For pods plant⁻¹, the two Brookings environments (Brookings 2019 (11) and Brookings 2020 (31) were similar in terms of growing conditions, although 2019 (11) was more discriminating compared to Brookings 2020 (31) (Fig 1.1c). The three environments, Brookings 2019 (11), Pierre 2019 (21) and Pierre 2020 (41) were characterized by varied growing conditions as shown by their placement in relation the center of origin (Fig 1.1c). This contributed greatly to GE interactions for pods plant⁻¹ with Brookings 2019 (11) being the most favorable for pod production while the dry, hot growing environment of Pierre 2020 (41) being the least favorable for pod production. Pods plant⁻¹ was greatest for L233P (7) and lowest for L140P (6) (Fig 1.1c) agreeing with the ranking of pods plant⁻¹ in Table 1.12. This means that same genotype that accumulated the greatest biomass yield (Fig 1.1b) produced the greatest number of pods plant⁻¹. These results agree with earlier report suggesting a close relationship between biomass yield and pods plant⁻¹ (Zhang and Flottmann, 2016) and supports the high and significant correlation between biomass yield and pods plant⁻¹ observed in the current study (Table 1.10).

Unlike the other three traits (biomass yield, pods plant⁻¹, seed yield), seed size was greatly influenced by the environment but did not show GE interactions. The four environments were highly discriminating for seed size as indicated by extreme projections from the tester axis. This means that each environment was very distinct in growing conditions that impacted seed size. Canola seeds were larger at Brookings 2019 (11) and Brookings 2020 (31) both environments with favorable growing conditions in terms of precipitation and

temperature (Fig 1.1d). Seeds were smaller at Pierre location in both years. The genotype with the largest seed size was CS2500 (3) while DKTF92SC (5) had the smallest seeds. Environmental conditions such as moisture and temperature influences seed formation and development (Assefa et al., 2014) although this may be a function of genotype since variations in seed size exist between hybrid and conventional cultivars (Hwang et al., 2014; Harker et al., 2015).

Genotypes stability indices

In addition to the AMMI-1 biplot we analyzed the eight genotypes for stability using the AMMI stability procedures as described by Kang, (1988) and Purchase et al. (2000). With this method the genotype is stable if its variance (σ^2) (ASV) over a range of environments is small (Lin et al., 1986; Purchase et al., 2000). The AMMI stability value (ASV) represents the variance and the lower the (ASV), the more stable the genotype. Thus, according to ASVvalues, the ranking of the genotypes for stability in the four environments from most stable to least stable are NCC101S, DKTF92SC, CS2100, L233P, CS2300, CS2500, DKTF91SC, and L140P (Table 1.12). However, based on seed yield, the ranking of genotypes in from highest to lowest yield are as follows: L140P, CS2300, CS2500, DKTF91SC, DKTF92SC, NCC101S, CS2100, and L233P (Table 1.12). The most stable genotypes with high seed yield were CS2300, DKTF92SC, CS2500, DKTF91SC and NCC101S agreeing with the results from the GE biplots analysis (Figure 1.1a). When the stability ranking for seed yield was compared to stability for the other three traits, the three genotypes (L233P, DKTF92SC and CS2100) stood out as being stable in seed yield as well as in the three other traits. However, when considering stable canola genotypes with high yield, the top genotypes are CS2300 (late maturing), CS2500, (Intermediate), DKTF92SC, and NCC101S (early maturing) (Table 1.12).

CONCLUSIONS

Even though canola can be adapted to diverse environments, genotype performance varied from one environment to another. Greatest seed yield was observed at the Brookings environments which had higher precipitation and cooler temperatures compared to the Pierre environments (2019 and 2020). Environment was the most dominant cause of variation among genotypes, explaining 73.3%, 67.7%, 45.2% and 45.7%, of variations in biomass yield, pods plant⁻¹, 1000-seed weight, and seed yield, respectively whereas GE interactions explained most of the remaining variation. Data from the four site years indicated that four genotypes, CS2300, DKTF92SC, CS2500, and NCC101S were stable over the four environments and had good yields. The overall findings indicate that canola can be an alternative spring broadleaf oilseed crop for diversifying the cropping systems in SD.

References

- Ajay, B. C., Aravind, J., and Abdul Fiyaz, R. (2019). Ammistability: R package for ranking genotypes based on stability parameters derived from AMMI model. *Indian Journal of Genetics and Plant Breeding* 79(2), 460-466.
- Alberti, P., Osborne, S., Mathew, F., Ali, S., Sieverding, H., Kumar, S., and Nleya, T. (2019). Nitrogen requirements of Ethiopian mustard for biofuel feedstock in SD. Agronomy Journal, 111(3), 1304-1311.
- Angadi, S. V., Cutforth, H. W., McConkey, B. G., & Gan, Y. (2003). Yield adjustment by canola grown at different plant populations under semiarid conditions. *Crop Science*, 43(4), 1358-1366.
- Angadi, S. V., Cutforth, H. W., Miller, P. R., McConkey, B. G., Entz, M. H., Brandt, S. A., & Volkmar, K. M. (2000). Response of three Brassica species to high temperature stress during reproductive growth. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, 80(4), 693-701.
- Ararsa, L., Zeleke, H., & Nigusse, M. (2015). Genotype by Environment Interaction and Yield Stability of maize (*zea mays L.*) Hybrids in Ethiopia (*Doctoral dissertation, MSc Thesis*). Haramaya University, Haramaya, Ethiopia.
- Arcand, M. M., Knight, J. D., & Farrell, R. E. (2014). Differentiating between the supply of N to wheat from above and belowground residues of preceding crops of pea and canola. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 50(4), 563-570.
- Ashraf, M., and McNeilly, T. (2004). Salinity tolerance in Brassica oilseeds. *Critical reviews in Plant Sciences*, 23(2), 157-174.
- Assefa, Y., Roozeboom, K., & Stamm, M. (2014). Winter canola yield and survival as a function of environment, genetics, and management. *Crop Science*, 54(5), 2303-2313.
- BASF, (2018). Agricultural Solutions Canola US LLC "Product details". <u>https://northdakota.ltddir.com/companies/basf-agricultural-solutions-canola-us-llc/</u> (Accessed 30 August. 2021).
- Becker, H. C., & Leon, J. (1988). Stability analysis in plant breeding. *Plant Breeding*, 101(1), 1-23.
- Beres, B. L., Turkington, T. K., Kutcher, H. R., Irvine, B., Johnson, E. N., O'Donovan, J. T., and Spaner, D. M. (2016). Winter wheat cropping system response to seed treatments, seed size, and sowing density. *Agronomy Journal*, 108(3), 1101-1111.
- Birru, G. A., Clay, D. E., DeSutter, T. M., Reese, C. L., Kennedy, A. C., Clay, S. A., and Malo, D. D. (2019). Chemical amendments of dryland saline–sodic soils did not enhance productivity and soil health in fields without effective drainage. *Agronomy Journal*, 111(2), 496-508.

- Braatz, J., Harloff, H. J., Emrani, N., Elisha, C., Heepe, L., Gorb, S. N., & Jung, C. (2018). The effect of indehiscent point mutations on silique shatter resistance in oilseed rape (*Brassica napus*). *Theoretical and applied genetics*, 131(4), 959-971.
- Brill, R. D., Jenkins, M. L., Gardner, M. J., Lilley, J. M., and Orchard, B. A. (2016). Optimising canola establishment and yield in south-eastern Australia with hybrids and large seed. *Crop and Pasture Science*, 67(4), 409-418.
- Bushong, J. A., Griffith, A. P., Peeper, T. F., & Epplin, F. M. (2012). Continuous winter wheat versus a winter canola-winter wheat rotation. *Agronomy Journal*, 104(2), 324-330.
- Cardone, M., Mazzoncini, M., Menini, S., Rocco, V., Senatore, A., Seggiani, M., and Vitolo, S. (2003). Brassica carinata as an alternative oil crop to produce biodiesel in Italy: Agronomic evaluation, fuel production by transesterification and characterization. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 25(6), 623-636.
- CCC, (2016a). The long harvest. Canola Council of Canada. <u>https://www.canolacouncil.org/canola-watch/2016/12/09/2016-in-review-the-long-harvest/</u> (Accessed 30 August. 2021).
- CCC, (2016b). Canola meal feeding guide. Canola Council of Canada. <u>https://www.canolacouncil.org/canolamazing/wordpress/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2016/08/2015-Feed-Guide.pdf</u> (Accessed 30 August. 2021)
- CCC, 2017. Nitrogen fertilizer management. Canola Council of Canada. https://www.canolacouncil.org/canola-encyclopedia/fertility/nitrogen/ (Accessed 30 August. 2021).
- Chen, S., Zou, J., Cowling, W., and Meng, J. (2010). Allelic diversity in a novel gene pool of canola-quality *Brassica napus* enriched with alleles from *B. rapa* and *B. carinata. Crop and Pasture Science*, 61(6), 483-492.
- Crossa, J. (1990). Statistical analyses of multilocation trials. *Advances in Agronomy*, 44, 55-85.
- Dahiya, S., Kumar, S., Chaudhary, C., & Chaudhary, C. (2018). Lodging: Significance and preventive measures for increasing crop production. *International Journal of Chemical Studies*, 6(2), 700-705.
- De Mendiburu F. (2017). Agricolae. Statistical procedures for agricultural research. Agricolae.
- Doolette, A. L., Armstrong, R., Tang, C., Guppy, C., Mason, S., & McNeill, A. (2019). Phosphorus uptake benefit for wheat following legume break crops in semi-arid Australian farming systems. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 113(3), 247-266.
- Downey, R. K., & Rimmer, S. R. (1993). Agronomic improvement in oil seed. Brassicas. *Advances in Agronomy*, 50, 1-66.
- Elferjani, R., & Soolanayakanahally, R. (2018). Canola Responses to Drought, Heat, and Combined Stress: Shared and Specific Effects on Carbon Assimilation, Seed Yield, and Oil Composition. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.01224

- Elliott, R. H., Franke, C., and Rakow, G. F. W. (2008). Effects of seed size and seed weight on seedling establishment, vigour, and tolerance of Argentine canola (*Brassica napus*) to flea beetles, Phyllotreta spp. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, 88(1), 207-217.
- Enjalbert, J. N., Zheng, S., Johnson, J. J., Mullen, J. L., Byrne, P. F., & McKay, J. K. (2013). Brassicaceae germplasm diversity for agronomic and seed quality traits under drought stress. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 47, 176-185.
- Eskin, N. A. M., & McDonald, B. E. (1991). Canola oil. Nutrition bulletin, 16(3), 138-146.
- Feng, W., Yang, F., Cen, R., Liu, J., Qu, Z., Miao, Q., & Chen, H. (2020). Effects of straw biochar application on soil temperature, available nitrogen, and growth of corn. *Journal* of Environmental Management. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.111331
- Flowers, T. J., Troke, P. F., and Yeo, A. R. (1977). The mechanism of salt tolerance in halophytes. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology*, 28(1), 89-121.
- Francois, L. E. (1994). Growth, seed yield, and oil content of canola grown under saline conditions. Agronomy Journal, 86(2), 233-237.
- French, R. J., Seymour, M., and Malik, R. S. (2016). Plant density response and optimum crop densities for canola (*Brassica napus L*) in Western Australia. *Crop and Pasture Science*, 67(4), 397-408.
- Gan, Y., Angadi, S. V., Cutforth, H., Potts, D., Angadi, V. V., & McDonald, C. L. (2004). Canola and mustard response to short periods of temperature and water stress at different developmental stages. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, 84(3), 697-704.
- Gauthier, H., Swanepoel, N., & Robinson, P. H. (2019). Impacts of incremental substitution of soybean meal for canola meal in lactating dairy cow diets containing a constant base level of corn derived dried distillers' grains with solubles. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 252, 51-63.
- George, N., & Kaffka, S. (2017). Canola as a New Crop for California: A Simulation Study. *Agronomy Journal*, 109(2), 496-509.
- George, N., Hollingsworth, J., Yang, W.-R., & Kaffka, S. (2017). Canola and Camelina as New Crop Options for Cool-Season Production in California. *Crop Science*, 57(2), 693-712.
- Getinet, A., Rakow, G., and Downey, R. K. (1996). Agronomic performance and seed quality of Ethiopian mustard in Saskatchewan. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, 76(3), 387-392.
- Gulden, R. H., Warwick, S. I., & Thomas, A. G. (2008). The biology of Canadian weeds. 137. *Brassica napus L* and *B. rapa L. Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, 88(5), 951-996.
- Gunasekera, C. P., Martin, L. D., Siddique, K. H. M., & Walton, G. H. (2006). Genotype by environment interactions of Indian mustard (*Brassica juncea L.*) and canola (*B. napus L.*) in Mediterranean-type environments. Crop growth and seed yield. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 25(1), 1-12.

- Gusta, L. V., Johnson, E. N., Nesbitt, N. T., and Kirkland, K. J. (2004). Effect of seeding date on canola seed quality and seed vigour. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, 84(2), 463-471.
- Harker, K. N., O'Donovan, J. T., Turkington, T. K., Blackshaw, R. E., Lupwayi, N. Z., Smith, E. G., ... & Peng, G. (2015). Canola rotation frequency impacts canola yield and associated pest species. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, 95(1), 9-20.
- Hosseini, N. M. (2006). Effects of Plant Density and Nitrogen Rates on the Competitive Ability of Canola (*Brassica napus L*) against Weeds. Journal of Agricultural Science and Technology, 8(4), 281-291.
- Hua, S., Zhang, Y., Yu, H., Lin, B., Ding, H., Zhang, D., & Fang, Z. (2014). Paclobutrazol application effects on plant height, seed yield and carbohydrate metabolism in canola. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology*, 16(3), 471-479.
- Huang., J., and Redmann, R. E. (1995). Salt tolerance of Hordeum and Brassica species during germination and early seedling growth. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, 75(4), 815-819.
- Hwang, S. F., Ahmed, H. U., Turnbull, G. D., Gossen, B. D., and Strelkov, S. E. (2014). The effect of seed size, seed treatment, seeding date and depth on Rhizoctonia seedling blight of canola. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, 94(2), 311-321.
- Islam, N., & Evans, E. J. (1994). Influence of lodging and nitrogen rate on the yield and yield attributes of oilseed rape (*Brassica napus L*). *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 88(5), 530-534.
- Ivanovska, S., Stojkovski, C., Dimov, Z., Marjanović-Jeromela, A., Jankulovska, M., & Jankuloski, L. (2007). Interrelationship between yield and yield related traits of spring canola (*Brassica napus L.*) genotypes. *Genetika-Belgrade*, 39(3), 325-332.
- Jackson G. D. (2000). Effects of nitrogen and sulfur on canola yield and nutrient uptake. *Agronomy Journal*, 92(4), 644-649.
- Jan, H. U., Abbadi, A., Lücke, S., Nichols, R. A., and Snowdon, R. J. (2016). Genomic Prediction of Testcross Performance in Canola (Brassica napus). PLOS ONE, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0147769.
- Johnson, B. L., & Hanson, B. K. (2003). Row spacing interactions on spring canola performance in the northern Great Plains. *Agronomy Journal*, 95(3), 703-708.
- Kadkol, G. P., Halloran, G. M., MacMillan, R. H., & Caviness, C. E. (1989). Shatter resistance in crop plants. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 8(3), 169-188.
- Kang, M. S. (1988). A rank-sum method for selecting high-yielding, stable corn genotypes. *Cereal Research Communications*, 16(1/2), 113-115.
- Kang, M. S., Gorman, D. P., & Pham, H. N. (1991). Application of a stability statistic to international maize yield trials. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 81(2), 162-165.

37

- Kaur, G., & Bishnoi, U. R. (2011). Effect of polymer and pesticide seed coatings on winter canola seed germination at various osmotic potentials. *World Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 7(5), 591-598.
- Koenig, R. T., Hammac, W. A., and Pan, W. L. (2011). Canola growth, development, and fertility. Pullman, WA: *Washington State University Extension*.
- Kumar D. (1984). The value of certain plant parameters as an index for salt tolerance in Indian mustard (*Brassica juncea L.*). *Plant and Soil*, 79(2), 261-272.
- Kumar, A., & Singh, D. P. (1998). Use of Physiological Indices as a Screening Technique for Drought Tolerance in Oilseed Brassica Species. *Annals of Botany*, 81(3), 413-420.
- Laza, M. R., Peng, S., Akita, S., & Saka, H. (2003). Contribution of biomass partitioning and translocation to grain yield under sub-optimum growing conditions in irrigated rice. *Plant Production Science*, 6(1), 28-35.
- Licata, M., La Bella, S., Leto, C., Bonsangue, G., Gennaro, M. C., & Tuttolomondo, T. (2017). Agronomic Evaluation of Ethiopian Mustard (brassica Carinata A. Braun) Germplasm and Physical-energy Characterization of Crop Residues in a Semi-arid Area of Sicily (Italy) 58, 2017 (pp. 535-540). *Chemical Engineering Transactions*.
- Lin, C. S., Binns, M. R., & Lefkovitch, L. P. (1986). Stability analysis: where do we stand? 1. *Crop science*, 26(5), 894-900.
- Ma, B. L., Biswas, D. K., Herath, A. W., Whalen, J. K., Ruan, S. Q., Caldwell, C., & Smith, D. L. (2015). Growth, yield, and yield components of canola as affected by nitrogen, sulfur, and boron application. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, 178(4), 658-670.
- Mag, T. K. (1983). Canola oil processing in Canada. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists'* Society, 60, 380-384.
- Mahmood, T., Mustafa, H. S. B., Aftab, M., Ali, Q., and Malik, A. (2018). Super canola: newly developed high yielding, lodging and drought tolerant double zero cultivar of rapeseed (*Brassica napus L*). *Genetics Molecular Research*. http://dx.doi.org/10.4238/gmr16039951
- Malo, D. D., (2003). "South Dakota Soil Classification Key". SDAES, Technical Bulletins 96 (9). <u>http://openprairie.sdstate.edu/agexperimentsta_tb/</u> (Accessed 30 August. 2021).
- Mccauley, K. E. (2016). Evaluating the Impact of Variable Planting Dates and the Use of Plant Growth Regulators on Fall Stand Establishment, Winter Hardiness, and Yield of Winter Canola in Oklahoma (Doctoral dissertation). https://www.proquest.com/docview/1854169427?pqorigsite=gscholar&fromopenview=true
- McGregor, D. I. (1987). Effect of plant density on development and yield of rapeseed and its significance to recovery from hail injury. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, 67(1), 43-51.

Mesonet, (2020). Weather and soil history. https://climate.sdstate.edu/archive/ (Accessed 16

April. 2021).

- Mirzaei, A., Naseiri, R., Moghadam, A., & Esmailpour-Jahromi, M. (2013). The effects of drought stress on seed yield and some agronomic traits of canola cultivars at different growth stages. *Bulletin Environmental Pharmacology Life Science*, 2, 115-121.
- Mohammadi, K., & Rokhzadi, A. (2012). An integrated fertilization system of canola (*Brassica napus L.*) production under different crop rotations. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 37(1), 264-269.
- Mohtashami, R., Movahhedi Dehnavi, M., Balouchi, H., & Faraji, H. (2020). Improving yield, oil content and water productivity of dryland canola by supplementary irrigation and selenium spraying. *Agricultural Water Management*, 232(C). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2020.106046
- Morrison, M. J., & Stewart, D. W. (2002). Heat stress during flowering in summer Brassica. Crop science, 42(3), 797-803.
- Morrison, M. J., Gutknecht, A., Chan, J., & Miller, S. S. (2016). Characterizing canola pollen germination across a temperature gradient. *Crop and Pasture Science*, 67(4), 317-322.
- Munns, R., Husain, S., Rivelli, A. R., James, R. A., Condon, A. T., Lindsay, M. P., and Hare, R. A. (2002). Avenues for increasing salt tolerance of crops, and the role of physiologically based selection traits. In: Progress in Plant Nutrition: *Plenary Lectures* of the XIV International Plant Nutrition Colloquium (pp. 93-105). Springer, Dordrecht.
- Mut, Z., Aydin, N., Bayramoglu, H. O., & Ozcan, H. (2010). Stability of some quality traits in bread wheat (Triticum aestivum) genotypes. *Journal of environmental biology*, 31(4), 489-495.
- Myers, R. (2018). Growing canola for oilseed or cover crop use. https://extension.missouri.edu/ (Accessed 30 August. 2021).
- Nagaharu, U. (1935). Genome analysis in Brassica with special reference to the experimental formation of *B. napus* and peculiar mode of fertilization. *Japanese Journal of Botany*, 7(7), 389-452.
- Nowosad, K., Liersch, A., Poplawska, W., & Bocianowski, J. (2017). Genotype by environment interaction for oil content in winter oilseed rape (*Brassica napus L.*) using additive main effects and multiplicative interaction model. *Indian Journal of Genetics and Plant Breeding*, 77(2), 293-297.
- Nuttal, W. F., Moulin, A. P., & Townley Smith, L. J. (1992). Yield response of canola to nitrogen, phosphorus, precipitation, and temperature. *Agronomy Journal*, 84(5), 765-768.
- Obia, A., Cornelissen, G., Martinsen, V., Smebye, A. B., and Mulder, J. (2020). Conservation tillage and biochar improve soil water content and moderate soil temperature in a tropical Acrisol. *Soil and Tillage Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2019.104521

- O'Brien, P. L., Hatfield, J. L., Dold, C., Kistner ☐ Thomas, E. J., and Wacha, K. M. (2020). Cropping pattern changes diminish agroecosystem services in North and South Dakota, USA. *Agronomy Journal*, 112(1), 1-4.
- O'Donovan, J. T. (1994). Canola (*Brassica rapa*) plant density influences tartary buckwheat (*Fagopyrum tataricum*) interference, biomass, and seed yield. *Weed Science*, 42(3), 385-389.
- Padbury, G., Waltman, S., Caprio, J., Coen, G., McGinn, S., Mortensen, D., & Sinclair, R. (2002). Agroecosystems and land resources of the northern Great Plains. *Agronomy Journal*, 94(2), 251-261.
- Pan, W. L., Young, F. L., Maaz, T., & Huggins, D. R. (2016). Canola integration into semiarid wheat cropping systems of the inland Pacific Northwestern USA. *Crop & Pasture Science*, 67(4), 253-265. http://publish.csiro.au/cp/cp15217
- Passioura, J. B. (1977). Grain yield, harvest index, and water use of wheat. *Journal of the Australian Institute of Agricultural Science*, 43, 117-120.
- Paula, E. M., da Silva, L. G., Brandao, V. L. N., Dai, X., & Faciola, A. P. (2019). Feeding Canola, Camelina, and Carinata Meals to Ruminants. *Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute*, 9(10), 2076-2615. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9100704
- Purchase, J. L., Hatting, H., & Van Deventer, C. S. (2000). Genotype × environment interaction of winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum L.*) in South Africa: II. Stability analysis of yield performance. South African Journal of Plant and Soil, 17(3), 101-107.
- Rahimi-Moghaddam, S., Eyni-Nargeseh, H., Ahmadi, S. A. K., and Azizi, K. (2021). Towards withholding irrigation regimes and drought-resistant genotypes as strategies to increase canola production in drought-prone environments: A modeling approach. *Agricultural Water Management*, 243(1), 106487. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2020.106487</u>
- Raman, H., Raman, R., Kilian, A., Detering, F., Carling, J., Coombes, N., & Wratten, N. (2014). Genome-wide delineation of natural variation for pod shatter resistance in *Brassica napus. PLOS ONE*, 9(7), e101673. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0101673
- Raymer, P. L. (2002). Canola: an emerging oilseed crop. *Trends in new crops and new uses*, 1, 122-126.
- Raymer, P. L., Auld, D. L., & Mahler, K. A. (1990). Fereidoon Shahidi (Ed.), Agronomy of Canola in the United States. In Canola and Rapeseed: *Production, Chemistry, Nutrition, and Processing Technology*, (pp. 25-35). Springer, Boston, MA.
- Seepaul, D. D. R., George, S., Groot, J., & Wright, D. (2019). Drought tolerance classification of common oilseed species using seed germination assay. *Journal of Oilseed Brassica*, 10(2), 97-105.
- Seepaul, R., Kumar, S., Boote, K. J., Small, I. M., George, S., & Wright, D. L. (2021a). Physiological analysis of growth and development of winter carinata (*Brassica carinata A. Braun*). Global Change Biology. Bioenergy, 13(7), 1112-1133.

- Seepaul, R., Kumar, S., Iboyi, J. E., Bashyal, M., Stansly, T. L., Bennett, R., & Wright, D. L. (2021b). Brassica carinata: Biology and agronomy as a biofuel crop. Bioproducts for A Sustainable Bioeconomy. Bioenergy, 13(4), 582-599. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12804
- Seepaul, R., Mulvaney, M. J., Small, I. M., George, S., & Wright, D. L. (2019). Carinata growth, yield, and chemical composition responses to nitrogen fertilizer management. *Agronomy Journal*, 112(6), 5249-5263.
- Shafii, B., & Price, W. J. (1998). Analysis of genotype-by-environment interaction using the additive main effects and multiplicative interaction model and stability estimates. *Journal of Agricultural, Biological, and Environmental Statistics*, 3, 335-345. https://doi.org/10.2307/1400587
- Sharma, R. V., Somidi, A. K., & Dalai, A. K. (2015). Preparation and properties evaluation of biolubricants derived from canola oil and canola biodiesel. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 63(12), 3235-3242. DOI: 10.1021/jf505825k
- Showalter, B. M. (2017). Effect of planting management factors on canola performance in high residue cropping systems (*Doctoral dissertation, Kansas State University*). <u>https://krex.k-state.edu/dspace/handle/2097/34624</u> (Accessed 30 August. 2021).
- Singh, M., Rathore, S. S., & Raja, P. (2014). Physiological and stress studies of different rapeseed-mustard genotypes under terminal heat stress. International Journal of Genetic Engineering Biotech, 5(2), 133-142. http://www.irphouse.com/
- Smith, E. G., Clapperton, M. J., & Blackshaw, R. E. (2004). Profitability and risk of organic production systems in the northern Great Plains. *Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems*, 19(3), 152-158.
- Song, Q., He, Y., Wu, Y., Chen, S., Zhang, T., & Chen, H. (2020). Biochar Impacts on Acidic Soil from Camellia Oleifera Plantation: A Short-Term Soil Incubation Study. *Agronomy Journal*, 10(9), 1A202-1A202.
- Spence, J., Vercher, Y., Gates, P., & Harris, N. (1996). 'Pod shatter' in *Arabidopsis thaliana* Brassica napus and B. juncea. Journal of Microscopy, 181(2), 195-203.
- Sprague, S. J., Kirkegaard, J. A., Graham, J. M., Dove, H., and Kelman, W. M. (2014). Crop and livestock production for dual-purpose winter canola (*Brassica napus L*) in the highrainfall zone of South-eastern Australia. *Field Crops Research*, 156, 30-39.
- Starner, D. E., Hamama, A. A., & Bhardwaj, H. L. (2002). Prospects of canola as an alternative winter crop in Virginia. *In Trends in new crops and new uses*. Proceedings of the Fifth National Symposium, Atlanta, Georgia, USA, 10-13 November 2006 (pp. 127-130). *American Society for Horticultural Sciences* Press.
- Taylor, A. J., Smith, C. J., and Wilson, I. B. (1991). Effect of irrigation and nitrogen fertilizer on yield, oil content, nitrogen accumulation and water use of canola (*Brassica napus L*). *Fertilizer Research*, 29(3), 249-260.

- Tayo, T. O., & Morgan, D. G. (1975). Quantitative analysis of the growth, development and distribution of flowers and pods in oil seed rape (*Brassica napus L*). The Journal of Agricultural Science, 85(1), 103-110.
- Tesfamariam, E. H., Annandale, J. G., and Steyn, J. (2010). Water stress effects on winter canola growth and yield. *Agronomy Journal*, 102(2), 658-666.
- Thompson, K., Grime, J. P., & Mason, G. (1977). Seed germination in response to diurnal fluctuations of temperature. *Nature*, 267(5607), 147-149.
- Tobin, C., Singh, S., Kumar, S., Wang, T., and Sexton, P. (2020). Demonstrating short-term impacts of grazing and cover crops on soil health and economic benefits in an integrated crop-livestock system in South Dakota. Open *Journal of Soil Science*, 10(03), 109.
- USCA, (2007). Canola meal, oil, and seed. <u>https://www.uscanola.com/crop-production/seed-meal-and-oil/</u> (Accessed 30 August. 2021).
- USCA, (2017). Canola meal, oil, and seed. <u>https://www.uscanola.com/crop-production/seed-meal-and-oil/</u> (Accessed 30 August. 2021).
- USCA, (2020). A supplement to U.S. Canola Digest. <u>https://www.uscanola.com/newsletter/canola-quick-bytes-june-2020/</u> (Accessed 30 August. 2021).
- USDA NASS, (2019). Crop Production 2019 Summary-January 2020. ttps://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/Todays_Reports/reports/cropan20.pdf (Accessed 30 August. 2021).
- USDA-NASS, (2017). South Dakota field crops. <u>https://www.nass.usda.gov/Statistics_by</u> <u>State/South Dakota/</u>(Accessed 30 August. 2021).
- Vaughan, J. G. (1977). A multidisciplinary study of the taxonomy and origin of Brassica crops. *BioScience*, 27(1), 35-40.
- Volkov, R. A., Panchuk, I. I., Mullineaux, P. M., & Schöffl, F. (2006). Heat stress induced H₂ O₂ is required for effective expression of heat shock genes in Arabidopsis. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 61(4), 733-746.
- Wang, Bing, Johannes Lehmann, Kelly Hanley, Rachel Hestrin, and Akio Enders. (2015). Adsorption and desorption of ammonium by maple wood biochar as a function of oxidation and pH. *Chemosphere*, 138, 120-126.
- Wang, R., Ripley, V. L., & Rakow, G. (2007). Pod shatter resistance evaluation in cultivars and breeding lines of *Brassica napus*, *B. juncea* and *Sinapis alba*. *Plant Breeding*, 126(6), 588-595.
- Willenborg, C. J., Gulden, R. H., Johnson, E. N., & Shirtliffe, S. J. (2004). Germination characteristics of polymer □ coated canola (*Brassica napus L*) seeds subjected to moisture stress at different temperatures. Agronomy journal, 96(3), 786-791.

- Williams, J. D., Wuest, S. B., & Long, D. S. (2014). Soil and water conservation in the Pacific Northwest through no-tillage and intensified crop rotations. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*, 69(6), 495-504.
- Wright, P. R., Morgan, J. M., and Jessop, R. S. (1997). Turgor maintenance by osmoregulation in *Brassica napus* and *B. juncea* under field conditions. *Annals of Botany*, 80(3), 313-319.
- Wu W., and Ma, B. L. (2016). A new method for assessing plant lodging and the impact of management options on lodging in canola crop production. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 1-17.
- Yan, W. (2001). GGEbiplot-A Windows application for graphical analysis of multienvironment trial data and other types of two□way data. Agronomy Journal, 93(5), 1111-1118.
- Yan, W., & Frégeau-Reid, J. (2018). Genotype by yield* trait (GYT) biplot: a novel approach for genotype selection based on multiple traits. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 1-10.
- Yan, W., Hunt, L. A., Sheng, Q., & Szlavnics, Z. (2000). Cultivar evaluation and mega environment investigation based on the GGE biplot. *Crop Science*, 40(3), 597-605.
- Yan, W., Kang, M. S., Ma, B., Woods, S., & Cornelius, P. L. (2007). GGE biplot vs. AMMI analysis of genotype by environment data. *Crop Science*, 47(2), 643-653.
- Yantai, G., Harker, K. N., Kutcher, H. R., Gulden, R. H., Irvine, B., May, W. E., and O'Donovan, J. T. (2016). Canola seed yield and phenological responses to plant density. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, 96(1), 151-159.
- Young, F. L., Long, D. S., & Alldredge, J. R. (2012). Effect of Planting Methods on Spring Canola (*Brassica napus L.*) Establishment and Yield in the Low □Rainfall Region of the Pacific Northwest. *Crop Management*, 11(1), 1-8.
- Załuski, D., Tworkowski, J., Krzyżaniak, M., Stolarski, M. J., & Kwiatkowski, J. (2020). The characterization of 10 spring camelina genotypes grown in environmental conditions in North-Eastern Poland. Agronomy Journal, 10(1), 64. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10010064
- Zhang, H., and Flottmann, S. (2016). Seed yield of canola (*Brassica napus L*) is determined primarily by biomass in a high-yielding environment. *Crop and Pasture Science*, 67(4), 369-380.
- Zhang, H., Flottmann, S., & Milroy, S. P. (2010). Yield formation of canola (*Brassica napus* L) and associated traits in the high rainfall zone. <u>http://www.australianoilseeds.com/data/assets/pdf_file/0004/8293/S4-P2-Zhang.pdf</u> (Accessed 30 August. 2021).
- Zheng, G.-H., Gao, Y. P., Wilen, R. W., and Gusta, L. V. (1998). Canola seed germination and seedling emergence from pre hydrated and re dried seeds subjected to salt and water stresses at low temperatures. *Annals of Applied Biology*, 132(2), 339-348.

Location	Depth	Rotation	pH ^a	EC ^b	OM ^c	NO ₃ ^d	P ^e	K ^f	Na ^g	S ^h
	cm			dS/m ⁻¹	%	kg ha ⁻¹		mg kg ⁻¹		
Brookings	0-15	WH	6.5	0.21	4.4	32.1	10	86	11	13.8
Brookings	15-61	WH	6.6	0.14	2.9	37.1	4	44	11	7.2
Pierre	0-15	WH	6.4	0.26	1.7	15.1	24	629	12	11.2
Pierre	15-61	Corn	7.4	0.29	1.6	23.0	12	417	16	6.7

Table 1.1. Pre-planting soil chemical characterization at Aurora farm-Brookings and Dakota Lakes farm-Pierre experimental study sites during 2020 growing season

Abbreviations: WH=Winter wheat

^{*a*} Potential of hydrogen concentration

^{*b*} Soil electrical conductivity

^c Soil organic matter

^{*d*} Soil nitrates (NO₃ -N)

^{*e*} Soil phosphorous

f Soil potassium

^g Soil sodium content

^h Sulfur

	Trea	tments in 2	2019 field experiment	nt		Treat	ments in 2	020 field experimen	t
Entry	Name	Crop	Source	Maturity	Entry	Name	Crop	Source	Maturity
1	NCC101S	Canola	Caldbeck Consult	Early	1	NCC101S	Canola	Caldbeck Consult	Early
2	CS2300	Canola	Meridian Seeds	Med/Late	2	CS2100	Canola	Meridian Seeds	Med/Late
3	CS2500	Canola	Meridian Seeds	Med/Late	3	CS2300	Canola	Meridian Seeds	Med/Late
4	CS2100	Canola	Meridian Seeds	Med/Late	4	CS2500	Canola	Meridian Seeds	Med/Late
5	L140P	Canola	Invigor	Medium	5	CS2600	Canola	Meridian Seeds	Early/Med
6	L233P	Canola	Invigor	Early	6	DKTF91SC	Canola	DEKALB Canola	Early
7	DKL7114BL	Canola	DEKALB Canola	-	7	DKTF92SC	Canola	DEKALB Canola	Early
8	DH140251	Carinata	Agrisoma	-	8	DKTFLL21SC	Canola	DEKALB Canola	-
9	DH069485	Carinata	Agrisoma	-	9	DKTF96SC	Canola	DEKALB Canola	-
10	A120	Carinata	Agrisoma	-	10	DKLL82SC	Canola	DEKALB Canola	-
11	DKTF91SC	Canola	DEKALB Canola	-	11	L233P	Canola	Invigor	Early
12	DKTF92SC	Canola	DEKALB Canola	Early	12	L140P	Canola	Invigor	Med/Late
13	CS2600	Canola	Meridian Seeds	Early/Med					

Table 1.2. Genotypes evaluated in 2019 and 2020 field experiments at Brookings and Pierre locations

Months	P. Date	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Total
				.mm			
Brookings 2019	5/18/ 2019	62.8	105.7	67.1	132.4	62.3	430.3
Brookings 2020	5/8/ 2020	15.3	61.8	67.3	83.6	35.4	263.4
30-Year average		63.0	90.0	111.0	84.0	84.0	432.0
Pierre 2019	5/3/2019	17.4	67.0	12.9	69.7	79.1	246.1
Pierre 2020	4/28/2020	6.5	48.7	88.6	61.4	29.6	234.7
30-year average		54.1	81.0	93.0	65.0	56.0	349.0

Table 1.3. Monthly precipitation data (mm) collected throughout the growing seasons for 2019 and 2020 at Brookings and Pierre, SD.

Source: (Mesonet, 2020; http://www.noaa.gov/). 30-year average is the average rainfall from 1985-2015.

Table 1.4. Maximum and average monthly temperatures (°C) during 2019 and 2020 growing seasons at Brookings and Pierre SD.

Site-Year	Apr		Μ	May		Jun		Jul		ug
Temp. (°C)	Max. ^a	Avg ^b .	Max.	Avg.	Max.	Avg.	Max.	Avg.	Max	Avg.
					(^D C				
Brookings 2019	11.1	6.2	16.5	11.4	25.2	19.5	26.9	21.9	24.2	19.3
Brookings 2020	12.5	5.6	17.5	12.4	27.8	21.8	28.6	22.8	28.5	22.0
30-Year average	13.3	6.9	20.0	13.9	25.0	19.7	28.3	22.2	27.2	20.8
Pierre 2019	13.7	7.4	17.4	11.7	27.2	20.2	29.6	23.4	26.4	21.0
Pierre 2020	14.6	6.5	19.1	13.1	28.3	22.2	31.0	24.3	31.6	23.8
30-year average	16.1	9.2	22.2	15.3	27.8	21.1	32.2	25.0	31.1	29.9

Source: (Mesonet, 2020; http://www.noaa.gov/) 30-year average is the average rainfall from 1985-2015.

Abbreviations:

^{*a*} Maximum temperatures.

^b Average temperatures.

Table 1.5. Number of days above 25, 28, and 30 °C in June and July at Brookings and Pierre SD in 2019 and 2020 growing seasons.

			2019			2020			
Month	Location	Periods month ⁻¹	Days >25	Days >28	Days >30	Days >25	Days >28	Days >30	
June	Brookings	1 to 10	6	5	4	8	4	3	
June	Brookings	11 to 20	5	2	1	8	6	5	
June	Brookings	21 to 30	7	5	5	8	6	4	
July	Pierre	1 to 10	10	4	2	10	8	5	
July	Pierre	11 to 20	9	9	9	9	9	4	
July	Pierre	21 to 30	9	5	4	10	10	8	

Table 1.6. Growth, yield, and yield traits of canola and carinata genotypes at Pierre 2019.

Genotype	PH ^a	PD ^b	SW ^c	BY ^d	SY ^e	OC f	SR ^g	OY ^h	Rank
	cm	Count	G	g m ⁻²	kg ha ⁻¹	g kg ⁻¹	%	kg ha ⁻¹	
Canola Genotypes									
CS2100	107.8 de	67	3.8 abc	1946	1687 a	437 a	2.8 c	476 ab	1
CS2300	123.9 a	70	2.3 c	1843	1409 abcd	415 a	11.3 ab	403 abc	6
CS2500	113.5 bc	61	3.7 abc	1771	1477 abc	432 a	8.8 ab	240 bc	5
DKL7114BL	108.2 de	67	3.0 bc	2002	1485 abc	383 ab	2.5 c	504 ab	4
DKTF91SC	106.8 e	82	2.9 bc	1824	1531 abc	426 a	0.5 c	531 a	3
DKTF92SC	110.9 cde	58	2.1 c	1601	1653 ab	380 ab	2.8 c	542 a	2
L140P	112.1 bcd	57	2.8 bc	1827	1237 bcd	387 ab	2.0 c	409 abc	9
L233P	114.8 bc	80	3.3 bc	2115	1400 abcd	396 a	0.5 c	353 abc	7
NCC101S	96.1 f	71	3.5 bc	2427	1352 abcd	216 c	2.8 c	287 abc	8
Carinata genotypes	I								
A120	114.3 bc	60	4.1 ab	1824	1001 d	241 c	1.3 c	150 c	12
DH069485	111.0 cde	70	4.4 ab	2322	1207 bcd	302 bc	7.5 b	255 bc	10
DH140251	116.3 b	67	5.2 a	2026	1172 cd	258 c	12.5 a	190 c	11
Mean	111.3	67	3.4	1960	1384	356	4.6	361	
P-value	< 0.000	0.266	0.008	0.065	0.034	< 0.000	< 0.000	0.013	
^{<i>i</i>} SEM	1.6	6.9	0.5	166.4	135.0	28.0	1.3	83.0	
^j SEd	2.3	9.8	0.7	235.4	190.5	39.2	1.8	117.3	
^k CV	2.9	20.6	30.3	17.0	19.5	16.0	57.5	46.0	

Mean values followed by same lower-case letters within the column are not significantly different at $P \le 0.05$.

Abbreviations: ^{*a*} Plant height, ^{*b*} Pods plant⁻¹, ^{*c*} Weight of 1000 seeds, ^{*d*} Biomass yield, ^{*e*} Seed yield, ^{*f*} Oil concentration, ^{*g*} Shatter rates, ^{*h*} Oil yield, ^{*i*} Standard error of mean, ^{*j*} Standard error of difference, ^{*k*} Coefficient of variations.

Genotype	PH ^a	LR ^b	DFL ^c	DM ^d	PD e	SD ^f	SW ^g	BY ^h	SY ⁱ	OC j	OY ^k	Rank
	cm	1-9	Days	Days	Count	count	g	g m ⁻²	kg ha ⁻¹	g kg ⁻¹	kg ha ⁻¹	
CS2100	89.4 b	5.8 ab	39 cd	80 cd	26 c	10.0 bc	2.7 abc	604 bc	1661 bc	343 bc	557 bc	8
CS2300	117.0 a	0.3 b	45 a	93 a	57 a	15.9 a	3.1 ab	1237 a	1797 bc	416 abc	764 b	3
CS2500	97.3 b	3.8 b	42 abc	83 bcd	44 abc	15.4 ab	3.3 a	1014 ab	1793 bc	449 ab	804 b	4
CS2600	92.7 b	3.5 b	40 bc	85 bcd	54 ab	13.8 ab	3.0 ab	1231 a	1600 bc	312 c	510 bc	9
DKLL82SC	88.0 b	5.3 b	41 bc	85 bc	33 abc	12.9 ab	3.0 ab	588 bc	1407 bc	423 abc	603 bc	11
DKTF91SC	88.1 b	6.3 ab	40 bc	79 d	18 c	7.1 c	2.7 abc	329 c	1509 bc	468 a	705 bc	10
DKTF92SC	89.1 b	4.3 b	40 bc	84 bcd	40 abc	13.1 ab	3.0 ab	675 abc	1697 bc	436 ab	737 b	7
DKTF 96SC	96.4 b	4.5 b	44 ab	84 bcd	30 bc	11.9 abc	2.6 abc	717 abc	1930 b	438 ab	849 b	2
DKTFLL21SC	93.7 b	8.5 a	40 bc	81 cd	25 c	10.4 abc	2.3 bc	679 abc	1104 c	305 c	323 c	12
L140P	94.3 b	2.5 b	43 ab	88 ab	40 abc	12.8 ab	2.6 abc	1044 ab	2964 a	469 a	1405 a	1
L233P	87.8 b	3.5 b	41 bc	83 bcd	38 abc	12.9 ab	1.9 c	847 abc	1701 bc	452 ab	766 b	6
NCC101S	85.7 b	3.3 b	36 d	79 cd	20 c	11.6 abc	2.9 ab	546 bc	1711 bc	368 abc	626 bc	5
Mean	93.3	4.3	41	84	35	12.3	2.7	793	1740	406	720	
P-value	0.001	0.021	0.002	0.001	0.014	0.050	0.045	0.033	0.002	0.019	< 0.000	
¹ SEM	4.1	1.3	1.2	2.0	7.7	1.7	0.3	188.3	232.4	37.2	118.0	
^m SEd	5.8	1.8	1.6	2.7	11.0	2.3	0.4	266.3	329.0	53.0	167.0	
ⁿ CV	8.8	61.0	5.7	4.5	43.3	27.0	19.0	47.5	27.0	18.3	33.0	

Table 1.7. Growth, yield, and yield traits of canola genotypes at Brookings in 2020.

Mean values followed by same lower-case letters for each treatment within the column are not significantly different at $P \le 0.05$. Abbreviations: *a* Plant height, *b* Lodging rates, *c* Days to flowering, *d* Days to maturity, *e* Pods plant⁻¹, *f* Seeds pod⁻¹, *g* 1000-seed weight, *h* Biomass yield, *j* Seed yield, *l* Oil concentration, *k* Oil yield, *l* Standard error of mean, *m* Standard error of difference, *n* Coefficient of variation.

Genotype	PH a	PD ^b	SD c	SW d	BY e	SR ^f	SY ^g	Rank
	cm	Plant ⁻¹	Pod ⁻¹	g	g m ⁻²	%	kg ha ⁻¹	
CS2100	94.2	22	11.1 abc	1.7	660	3.0 c	576 b	12
CS2300	100.0	22	16.1 a	2.1	980	10.3 bc	1355 a	1
CS2500	100.0	32	14.5 ab	1.9	823	22.5 a	1345 a	2
CS2600	100.4	33	11.3 abc	2.0	1035	6.5 c	1375 a	3
DKLL82SC	98.0	30	7.4 c	1.5	914	1.0 c	512 b	10
DKTF91SC	90.0	23	10.0 bc	2.2	986	3.3 c	749 b	8
DKTF92SC	103.0	24	9.7 bc	1.7	1038	1.8 c	607 b	9
DKTF 96SC	72.3	19	10.0 bc	2.0	722	1.7 c	863 ab	7
DKTFLL21SC	93.4	23	9.2 bc	1.8	776	15.0 ab	666 b	6
L140P	102.4	23	14.4 ab	1.7	880	3.8 c	1084 ab	4
L233P	94.1	21	8.3 c	2.3	771	4.8 c	504 b	11
NCC101S	93.8	20	9.3 bc	2.0	695	1.8 c	667 b	5
Mean	95.1	24	10.9	1.9	857	6.2	858	
P value	0.520	0.524	0.008	0.782	0.559	< 0.000	0.003	
^h SEM	4.2	5.0	1.6	0.2	135.4	2.7	185.4	
^I Sed	6.0	7.0	2.2	0.3	191.5	4.0	262.1	
^j CV	8.7	37.0	28.6	21.0	31.0	86.4	43.2	

Table 1.8. Growth, yield, and yield traits of canola genotypes at Pierre in 2020.

Mean values followed by same lower-case letters within the column are not significantly different at $P \le 0.05$.

Abbreviations: *a* Plant height, *b* Pod plant⁻¹, *c* Seeds pod⁻¹, *d* 1000-seed weight, *e* Biomass yield, *f* Pod Shatter, *g* Seed yield, *h* Standard error of mean, *i* Standard error of difference, *j* Coefficient of variation.

Genotypes	LR ^a	DFL ^b	DM ^c	PD ^d	SW ^e	BY ^f	SY ^g	OC ^h	SR ⁱ	OY ^j	Rank
	0-9	Days	Days	Plant ⁻¹	g	g m ⁻²	kg ha ⁻¹	g kg ⁻¹	%	kg ha⁻¹	
Canola genoty	pes										
CS2100	4.8 abcd	45 bcde	95 cd	95	3.4 cde	2227 abc	1907 abc	429 bc	3.8	803 bc	6
CS2300	5.0 abcd	46 bcd	94 d	68	3.4 cde	1770 cd	1778 bcd	420 c	6.3	761 c	7
CS2500	1.8 d	47 bcd	96 bc	69	3.5 cde	1834 bcd	1679 cde	475 abc	5.0	800 bc	10
CS2600	7.8 a	46 bcd	94 de	87	3.5 cde	1723 cd	2012 abc	516 a	3.0	1038 ab	3
DKL7114BL	6.8 ab	44 de	95 d	78	3.9 bcd	1673 d	1811 bc	467 abc	5.5	843 bc	8
DKTF91SC	5.5 abc	43 e	93 f	91	3.5 cde	1843 bcd	2349 a	501 ab	4.8	1178 a	1
DKTF92SC	4.5 abcd	45 cde	94 ef	74	3.0 de	2029 abcd	1956 abc	477 abc	3.5	922 bc	5
L140P	3.5 bcd	48 bc	95 cd	64	2.8 e	1692 cd	1927 abc	469 abc	3.8	903 bc	9
L233P	4.5 abcd	46 bcd	97 ab	106	3.2 cde	2499 a	2178 ab	467 abc	1.8	1017 ab	2
NCC101S	3.3 cd	41 f	87 g	92	4.0 bc	2031 abcd	2106 abc	342 d	4.0	726 c	4
Carinata genot	ypes										
A120	4.8 abcd	48 bc	98 a	69	4.0 bc	1811 bcd	1338 def	263 e	3.8	350 d	11
DH069485	2.5 cd	48 b	97 ab	84	4.7 ab	2334 ab	1182 f	276 de	0.7	327 d	13
DH140251	4.8 abcd	51 a	96 bc	81	5.3 a	2107 abcd	1298 ef	281 de	0.5	365 d	12
Mean	4.5	46	95	82	3.7	1967	1809	414	3.6	771	
P-value	0.021	< 0.000	< 0.000	0.175	< 0.000	0.013	< 0.000	< 0.000	0.252	< 0.000	
^k SEM	1.0	0.6	0.5	10.3	0.3	163.4	149.0	22.3	1.5	74.3	
¹ SEd	1.5	1.2	0.6	14.5	0.4	231.1	210.3	31.5	2.1	105.1	
^m CV	46.0	4.0	1.0	25.1	14.4	17.0	16.4	11.0	82.0	19.2	

Table 1.9. Growth, yield, and yield traits of canola and carinata genotypes at Brookings in 2019.

Mean values followed by same lower-case letters within the column are not significantly different at $P \le 0.05$.

Abbreviations: *a* Lodging rate, *b* Days to flowering, *c* Days to maturity, *d* Pods plant⁻¹, *e* 1000-seed weight, *f* Biomass yield, *g* Seed yield, *h* Oil concentration, ⁱ Shatter rates, *j* Oil yield, *k* Standard error of mean, *l* Standard Error of Difference, *m* Coefficient of variation.

Trait			DFL ^a	DM ^b	PD ^c	SD ^d	BY ^e	TSW ^f	YLD ^g
	Units	df	Days	Days	Plant ⁻¹	Pod ⁻¹	g m ⁻²	g	kg ha ⁻¹
DFL ^a	Days	94	1	0.69***	0.55***	0.00	0.61***	0.28^{*}	0.22^{*}
DM ^b	Days	94		1	0.77^{***}	0.07	0.80***	0.49***	0.14
PD ^c	Plant ⁻¹	190			1	0.06	0.84***	0.34**	0.38***
SD ^d	Pod ⁻¹	94				1	0.17	-0.29*	0.41***
BY ^e	g m ⁻²	190					1	0.34***	0.26***
TSW ^f	g	190						1	-0.04
YLD ^g	kg ha ⁻¹	190							1

Table 1.10. Pearson correlations between traits of canola genotypes evaluated at Brookings and Pierre SD in 2019 and 2020.

*=Significant at P≤0.05, ** Significant at p≤0.1, *** Significant at p<0.00.

^a Days to flowering

^b Days to maturity

^c Pods plant

^d Seeds pod⁻¹

^e Biomass yield

f1000-seed-weight

^g Seed yield

df=Degrees of freedom

Note: Data for days to flowering and days to maturity were collected at only Brookings location.

	Biomass yield			eld	Pods plant ⁻¹			1000-seed weight.			Seed yield		
			g m ⁻²		Count			g			kg ha ⁻¹		
Source	df	ss (%) ^a	Fv	Pr(>F)	ss (%) ^a	Fv	Pr(>F)	ss (%) ^a	Fv	Pr(>F)	ss (%) ^a	Fv	Pr(>F)
Total	127	100			100			100			100		
Env	3	73.3	126.8	< 0.000	67.7	187.0	< 0.000	45.2	29.5	< 0.000	45.7	16.5	< 0.000
Blocks (Env)	12	2.3	1.3	0.221	1.4	0.6	0.806	6.2	1.2	0.304	11.1	3.5	< 0.000
Gen	7	1.7	1.7	0.124	2.3	1.6	0.188	5.6	2.0	0.088	2.9	1.6	0.151
Env: Gen	21	10.5	3.4	< 0.000	11.3	2.6	< 0.000	6.8	0.8	0.748	18.1	3.2	< 0.000
PC1	9	[61.6] ^b	4.9	< 0.000	[83.2] ^b	5.1	< 0.000	[57.1] ^b	1.0	0.423	[61.2] ^b	4.6	0.000
PC2	7	[22]	2.2	0.040	[11]	0.8	0.573	[36]	0.8	0.573	[32]	3.1	0.006
PC3	5	[17]	2.4	0.042	[7]	0.7	0.610	[7]	0.2	0.944	[7]	1.0	0.429
Residuals	84	12.2			17.2			36.2			22.2		

Table 1.11. The additive main effects and multiplicative interaction (AMMI) analysis of variance (G by G*E (ANOVA) for yield and yield traits of eight canola genotypes in 2019 and 2020 at Pierre and Brookings SD.

Significant level $P \le 0.05$.

Abbreviations:

^a Percentage of the sum of squares; ^b[] Percentage of the sum of squares of Genotype-by-Environment Interaction

Env=Environment, Blocks (Env)=Replications, Gen=Genotypes, Env: Gen=Genotype by Environment interactions (GEi)

df= Degrees of freedom, Fv= F value, ss= Sum of squares.

The principal components are equal to the environment degrees of freedom, and the first two principal components explained >80% of the overall variations in the observed traits among genotypes.

		Biomass	yield		Pods plant ⁻¹				
		(g m ⁻	²)			Cou	nt		
Gen	ASV ^a	rASV ^b	Mean ^c	rY ^d	ASV ^a	rASV ^b	Mean ^c	rY ^d	
CS2100	28.7	4	1359	6	13.3	3	53	4	
CS2300	45.4	8	1458	2	20.1	8	54	2	
CS2500	27.2	3	1360	5	15.2	5	51	5	
DKTF91SC	18.7	2	1246	8	19.5	7	53	3	
DKTF92SC	17.3	1	1336	7	9.0	1	49	7	
L140P	35.1	6	1361	4	14.9	4	46	8	
L233P	30.4	5	1558	1	10.1	2	64	1	
NCC101S	43.5	7	1425	3	16.7	6	51	6	

Table 1.12. Genotype means and stability indices for yield and yield traits for eight canola genotypes evaluated at four environments in SD.

-	Thousand seed weight				Seed yield			
	g m ²				kg ha ⁻¹			
Gen	ASV ^a	rASV ^b	Mean ^c	rY^d	ASV ^a	rASV ^b	Mean ^c	rY^d
CS2100	0.9	6	2.5	3	15.3	3	1458	7
CS2300	1.1	7	2.3	6	20.7	5	1585	2
CS2500	0.4	4	2.8	1	22.2	6	1574	3
DKTF91SC	0.4	3	2.4	5	26.5	7	1535	4
DKTF92SC	0.8	5	1.8	8	14.0	2	1478	5
L140P	0.2	1	2.2	7	54.4	8	1803	1
L233P	0.3	2	2.5	2	17.7	4	1446	8
NCC101S	1.1	8	2.4	4	10.0	1	1459	6

Abbreviations:

AMMI stability value, ^b Rank of AMMI stability value, ^c Mean yield for each trait,

^d Rank of yield.


Fig 1.1. AMMI-1 biplot of seed yield (kg ha⁻¹) (a), biomass yield (b) pods plant⁻¹ (c) and 1000-seed weight (d) of eight canola genotypes (blue) across four environments (red) characterized with varied weather conditions (Tables 1.2 to 1.4) in 2019 and 2020. Environment Key: 11= Brookings 2019, 21= Pierre 2019, 31= Brookings 2020, and 41= Pierre 2020

Genotypes Key: ¹CS2100, ²CS2300, ³CS2500, ⁴DKT F91SC, ⁵DKTF92SC, ⁶L140P, ⁷L233P, ⁸NCC101S.

CHAPTER TWO EVALUATION OF CANOLA GENOTYPES FOR TOLERANCE TO SALINE/SODIC SOILS UNDER GREENHOUSE CONDITIONS

LITERATURE REVIEW

The global demand for food, feed and fuel is increasing due to increasing population that is estimated to reach 9.1 billion by year 2050 (Shelley et al., 2015). To feed this population food and biofuels need to be increased by at least 70% (Shelley et al., 2015). Some of the past strategies to increase food production through input and crop intensification have resulted in soil degradation including sodicity and salinity which is reducing arable land for food production. Potentially, the soil is saline when its electrical conductivity (EC) of the saturated solution extract is greater than 5 mmho/cm (Shahid et al., 2018). However, this can be categorized into saline, sodic, and saline-sodic soil based on the ratio of concentration of soluble salts to amount of sodium salts in the soil solution (Franzen, 2003). Soil that has electrical conductivity (EC) (mmho/cm) >4.0, SAR<13 and pH >8.5 is saline, while soil with EC <4, SAR>13, and pH>8.5 are sodic. Soil with EC> 4, SAR> 13, and pH <8.5 is saline-sodic (Franzen, 2003; Bauder et al., 2008; Dahlawi et al., 2018).

Today, over one billion hectares are saline, which is over 30% of the world's arable soil (Drake et al., 2016; Ivushkin et al., 2019). Irrigated soil is becoming saline at a rate of 10 million ha year⁻¹ (Pimentel et al., 2004, Rengasamy, 2006). This is estimated to cause over \$27 billion in financial loss annually on global basis at an average of \$441 acre⁻¹ (\$1,067 ha⁻¹) (Shelley et al., 2015). In SD, between 2008 and 2012, the surface soil electrical conductivity (EC) increased by at least 1 mmho/cm on over 1.4 million acres (566,560 ha) (13.4% of cropped acres) due to the rising water table where saline seeps are deposited on the soil surface.

The annual economic losses due to salinity in SD are estimated at about \$26.2 million on over 113,312 ha) mostly in Beadle, Brown, and Spink counties (USDA NRCS, 2019). The commonly affected system is corn in eastern SD where 14% of the farmers are already affected (Birru et al., 2019). It has been reported that Montana alone has over 121406 ha off production due to salinity (USDA NRCS, 2019).

Despite the farmers efforts to remediate these saline soil, chemical and mechanical restoration methods used have additional non-economic costs and negative impact on untargeted salt tolerant microbial organisms, and ground water contaminations (Birru et al., 2019). Moreover, these methods are expensive for example, about \$968-1,936 ha⁻¹ is needed to install tile drainage (Hadrich, 2012) therefore alternative salt tolerant crops may be a cheaper option (Flowers et al., 1997).

Previous studies have indicated the potential for Brassica species like canola, mustard and carinata to become alternative salt tolerant crops (Kumar, 1984; Chandler and Thorpe, 1987; Huang and Redmann, 1995; Flowers et al., 1997; Wright et al., 1997; Zheng et al., 1998; Bybordi et al., 2010; Zamani et al., 2010; Tunçtürk et al., 2011). But these crops need to be evaluated since salt tolerance vary by species. For example, Brassica amphidiploid are relatively more salt tolerant compared to Brassica diploid species (Ashraf and McNeilly, 1990; 2004). Seedling stages are more vulnerable to salt stress compared with vegetative and reproductive growth stages (Greenway and Munns, 1980; Sakamoto and Murata, 2000; Bybordi et al., 2010), but even biomass and yield were found to be negatively related with soil salts (Kumar, 1984; Francois, 1994 Zamani et al., 2010).

Soils high in salt content impede seed germination by reducing water availability for hydrolyzing endosperm seed tissue reserves to enhance radicle emergence (Kaymakanova, 2009), and reduce water and nutrient uptake by emerged seedling leading to reduced stomatal conductance and depression in carbon uptake (Seemann and Critchley, 1985). This means that photosynthesis can be used as nondestructive phenotyping technique for growth and stress in plants (Krause and Weis, 1991; Stirbet et al., 2018). More so, salt stress reduces shoot and root growth (Delfine et al., 1999; Sakamoto and Murata, 2000; Munns, 2002; Zamani et al., 2010; Shabani et al., 2013; Athar et al., 2015), basically due to ionic and osmotic stress (Munns and Tester, 2008). Salt stress also reduces growth specific leaf area index, number of leaves plant⁻¹, fresh and dry root biomass, and leaf longevity (Francois, 1994).

Recently, biochar (a solid carbonaceous residue, produced under oxygen-free or oxygen-limited conditions at temperatures ranging from 200 to 1000 °C) has attracted considerable attention as a soil amendment to remediate and improve physical, chemical, and biological properties of degraded soil (Dahlawi et al., 2018) and promote plant growth (Cárdenas-Aguiar et al., 2020). However, this depends on biochar source (biomass type) and pyrolysis temperature; either slow or carbonization pyrolysis (~500 °C), fast pyrolysis (>500 °C) or intermediate gasification (Resende, 2016).

Biochar is highly heterogeneous in nature and generally contains volatile compounds, labile and recalcitrant carbons, ash, and moisture (Antal and Gronli, 2003). Carbon yield may range from 400 g kg⁻¹ to up to 900 g kg⁻¹ depending on feedstock and pyrolysis conditions (Antal and Gronli, 2003; Van Zwieten et al., 2010b; Gaskin et al., 2010). Hardwood feedstock pyrolyzed at high temperature produces high carbon char, while soft and non-wood feedstocks such as crop residues, manures and straw biomass produces biochar with low carbon content. For example, Gaskin et al. (2010) reported 817 g kg⁻¹ carbon content of biochar produced from pinewood chips at 500 °C under slow pyrolysis, whereas poultry manure pyrolyzed char had only 399. 9 g kg⁻¹ carbon content. Biochar produced from herbaceous feedstock tends to contain lower proportions of mesopores and macropores and exhibit smaller surface area compared with biochar pyrolyzed from woody biomass (Van Zwieten et al., 2010a). Biochars properties vary greatly, even when produced from the same or related feedstock due to pyrolysis conditions like kiln temperature and pressure held on the biomass (Van Zwieten et al., 2010a; Van Zwieten et al., 2010b; Zimmerman, 2010; Mukherjee et al., 2011). Biochar produced at temperatures above 1000 °C tends to have lower surface area (Lua and Guo, 1998) compared to one produced at lower temperatures. These properties affect biochar functioning. For example, biochar prepared at 450 °C, and 600 °C with canola as a test crop increased uptake of arsenic, and soil bacteria enzyme activity (Cárdenas-Aguiar et al., 2020). In another study by Song et al. (2020) using camellia (Camellia sinensis) derived char at three pyrolysis temperatures (300, 500, and 700 °C), and two application rates (3% and 5%), biochar improved soil pH, total P, and available P at 700 °C and 5% application rate. Similarly, greater beneficial properties of biochar were reported at pyrolysis temperature between 400 to 700 °C (Kimetu and Lehmann, 2010; US-Biochar, 2016; Mohanty et al., 2018). So, all these variations in biochar properties influence its performance in different soil conditions (Nguyen et al., 2004).

Although so much good has been reported on biochar by various studies, a review of 17 studies on biochar by Jeffery et al. (2011) reported mixed results on crop yield ranging from -28 to +39 %, with an overall average yield increase of 10 %. Some studies reported completely negative effects of biochar on soil organic carbon and nutrient mineralization (Kuzyakov et al., 2009; Van Zwieten et al., 2010a; Wang et al., 2015) while others showed that biochar application negatively affected plant growth on case-by-case basis (Jones and Quilliam, 2014).

The problems associated with biochar application in agricultural systems could be alleviated by using a biochar-composted manure mixture but use of composted manure is limited by undisputed claims on antibiotic contaminants (Steiner et al., 2008; Qian et al., 2016), soil salt contaminants (Steiner et al., 2008; Qian et al., 2016; Zhou et al., 2020), and ground water contaminations (Hao and Chang, 2002; Gondek et al., 2020). However, when composted manure is used in combination with biochar it is a less expensive soil ameliorant (Zeng et al., 2015) that can improve soil organic-matter content, nutrients levels, soil water-storage capacity and other soil physical and biological properties (Schulz et al., 2013; Zeng et al., 2015; Abujabhah et al., 2016). For example, Rogovska et al. (2011) reported 17.6 to 68.8% increase in soil organic carbon by addition of biochar to the soil compared to untreated control and reduction in N₂O emissions. The same study found that biochar-by-manure interaction for CO₂ flux indicated that biochar either helped stabilize manure carbon or the presence of manure reduced the effect of biochar on the mineralization of SOC.

Corn and soybean rotation systems dominate in SD especially in the Central and eastern regions (O'Brien et al., 2020). More so, long-term application of livestock manure in cornbased cropping systems in SD enhances soil physical and hydraulic properties (Ozlu et al., 2019). This is because manure improves soil bulk density, porosity and water holding capacity (Xin et al., 2016), although this varies depending on the manure application rates, source, chemical and biological properties (Asada et al., 2012; Bottinelli et al., 2013; Khalid et al., 2014). Manure improves soil structure by binding soil particles (Celik et al., 2010) and increasing N, P, and K mineralization and availability to plants (Vivekanandan and Fixen, 1990). Most of the previous studies on plant tolerance to saline-sodic soils in SD evaluated mostly native plants with less attention given to traditional crops. Besides, most of the chemical and physical methods employed in remediation of salt impacted soil are expensive and less environmental and ecosystem friendly. Different biomass types for charring are available in SD, but these may behave differently in different soil types. Therefore, investigating the influence of different types of biochar and composted manure mix rates in degraded soil is necessary to supplement the available literature. The objectives of the study were to (i) evaluate different canola and carinata genotypes for tolerance to saline-sodic soils, and (ii) evaluate canola and mustard genotypes for emergence and growth in saline-sodic amended with biochar and composted manure.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Soil description

Soils used in this study were collected from Clark (44.7° N, -97.8° S), SD on a site with historical saline seeps, eroded and degraded soil at a depth of up to 20 cm. The landscape was not in use for crop production before sampling of the soil. Soils were collected at three landscape positions; (i) a highly saline soil with no vegetation growing on it, (ii) transitioning zone (moderately saline) characterized by scattered vegetation, and (ii) good soil zone (non-saline) characterized by vigorous vegetation growth. A sub-sample from each soil zone was taken for chemical and biological analysis. The soil samples for biological analysis were sealed in Ziplock bags and held at <4 °C, while soil samples for chemical analysis were air dried, ground and sieved to pass through a 2-mm sieve. These were then forwarded to Ward Laboratories Inc, Nebraska for analysis. Post termination, soil chemical analysis was also conducted by Ward laboratories Inc. for chemical changes in the soil.

Biochar source and characterization

The softwood and hardwood biochar used in experiment two were produced using carbon optimized gasification technique with reactor temperatures ranging from 90 to 200 °C and a residence time of 0.5 hour and 3 minutes by Wakefield biochar-particle technology labs, USA. Hardwood biochar was processed from maple wood chips, while pinewood chips was used for softwood biochar. Biochar used in the third experiment were produced under medium pyrolysis conditions using carbon optimized gasification technique up to 450 °C by advanced renewable energy technology international (ARTi) <u>http://www.arti.com/, a biomass incubation</u> center located at Iowa State University. The biomass used was pine wood chips for softwood biochar, and maple wood chips for hardwood biochar. Biochar was dried to moisture free weight before mixing it with the soil. The biomass types used in this study were alkaline (pH=7.9-8.2), low in micro and macronutrients but with high ash content (820 g kg⁻¹ and 842 g kg⁻¹) for softwood and hardwood biochar. Composted manure used in this study was low in micro and macronutrients but higher cation exchange capacity (CEC) and organic matter content. The chemical properties of biochar and composted manure used in this study are included in Table 2.2. The two biochar types and composted manure were selected to represent common bioenergy feedstocks available for farmers in SD.

Experiment 1

The experiment was conducted at the Plant Science Greenhouse, South Dakota State University (44.3° N; 96.8° W). The experimental design was a randomized complete block design with treatment arranged in a factorial design, (13 genotypes x 3 soil type) for a total of 39 treatments replicated three times. Soils with salinity ranging from non-saline (0.62 mmho/cm), moderately saline (5.17 mmho/cm), and highly saline (8.47 mmho/cm)

corresponding to good, transitioning, and saline soils used in the study are detailed in Table 2.1. These soil samples were collected at a site near Clark, SD that is characterized with salinesodic soil issues which is the current focus of SDSU saline/sodic soil remediation investigations. Soil samples were from topsoil (0-20 cm). A total of 117 pots, 500 ml each, were arranged on the table in the greenhouse chamber and filled with the soils. Ten canola (CS2100, CS2300, CS2500, CS2600, DKTF7114BL, DKTF91SC, DKTF92SC, L140P, L233P, and NCC101S) and three carinata (A120, DH069485, and DH140251) genotypes were evaluated for seedling emergence at each soil salinity level. Eight seeds of a genotype were hand-planted in each pot. The pots were watered to maintain sufficient soil moisture for emergence and growth. The greenhouse air temperature ranged between 22 and 27 degrees Celsius with a 14 to 16-hr photoperiod. Seedling emergence was observed on daily basis in each of the treatments for up to four weeks after planting after which the experiment was terminated.

Experiment 2

This experiment was like experiment one, only that biochar was introduced into each soil salinity level (soil type) at a rate of 5% by volume with untreated control (0% biochar/no biochar), and the three carinata genotypes (AC120, DH069485, DH140251) replaced with three mustard genotypes (Broadleaf mustard, African cabbage, and Brown mustard). Two biomass-based char types differing by wood type (softwood and hardwood biomass), and physical properties (large and small surface area) due to sources and pyrolysis conditions were introduced into each of the soil type at 5% dry weight basis. The soil salinity level, biochar and genotype treatments were arranged in a split-plot with soil type/salinity level as the main plot and biochar and genotypes factorially arranged in subplots within each soil salinity level and

replicated three times. This experiment was carried out in small pots of 500 ml each, arranged on greenhouse bench and laid in flat trays. The pots were watered and allowed to settle before planting. Eight seeds of a genotype were planted by hand into each pot and monitored for days to emergence. These were later thinned to uniformly one vigorous seedling pot⁻¹ at 21 DAP. Plants were watered to maintain sufficient soil moisture for emergence and growth. Measurements included seedling emergence 7DAP, shoot dry weight, and leaf chlorophyll content (SPAD values). Leaf chlorophyll content (SPAD values) was measured using SPAD meter version SPAD-502, Minolta, Japan. An average of four leaves plant⁻¹ were used to record the SPAD values. Fresh biomass weight was determined for all treatments at termination of the study at 59 DAP. After taking fresh weight (g) of plants, whole plants were oven dried at 105 °C for 3 days to a constant moisture free weight, and dry weight determined using a high precision electrical balance.

Experiment 3

The best genotypes identified in the second experiment (NCC101S, DKTF91SC, African cabbage and Brown mustard) were evaluated in the third experiment. In experiment 3 composted manure rates of 0, 30 and 50 % by volume basis were introduced to each of the soil-biochar treatment (no biochar, softwood, and hardwood) within each soil salinity level (as illustrated in Figure 2A.1). Soil salinity levels were the main plots and biochar, composted manure and genotypes were arranged in a factorial design within each soil type/salinity level. Composted manure was mixed thoroughly by hand into each soil salinity level biochar treatment combinations before filling the pots. Pots were watered thoroughly and allowed to settle before seeding. Eight seeds of each genotype were planted in each pot and thinned to uniformly one plant pot⁻¹ at 21 DAP. Plants were watered based on visual observations on the

plants. Measurements included percentage emergence, number of leaves plant⁻¹, and leaf chlorophyll content (SPAD values) at 39 DAP using a soil plant analysis development (SPAD) version SPAD-502, Minolta, Japan. This was achieved using an average of four young fresh growing leaves plant⁻¹ (Uddling et al., 2007; Ehsanzadeh et al., 2009; Nauš et al., 2010; Ling et al., 2011). The whole plant was then harvested, and oven dried at 105 °C for 3 days to constant moisture free weight and then plant dry biomass weight determined using a high precision electrical balance.

Statistical analysis

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted for each soil type using linear mixed model for RCBD experiments at alpha 0.05 in RStudio version 0.1.0 using the package "doe bioresearch" (De Mendiburu, 2017) and significant differences among means were separated using Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) at 95% confidence level.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Experiment 1.

Seedling emergence for each soil salinity level differed among genotypes (Table 2.3). In each salinity level, percentage of emerged seedlings were much lower at 7DAP than at 28DAP. The percentage of emerged seedlings declined with increasing soil salt content. In the good soil, DKTF91SC had greatest emergence (90%) at 28DAP whereas NCC101S had the lowest (49.2%). In the soil collected from the transitioning zone, the best emergence at 28DAP was observed for NCC101S and L140P (29.2 %) and DH140257 (27.5%). In the saline soil, seedling emergence was low ranging from 0% (DH140251, L233P and CS2600) to 29.2% (NCC101S) (Table 2.3). High soil salt content in the seed-soil contact zone lowers available moisture for hydrolyzing seed endosperm contents (Bybordi et al., 2010; Mousavi and Omidi,

2019) resulting in seedling desiccation due to reverse osmosis (Kaymakanova, 2009). The results in the current study are consistent with Francois (1994); Sakamoto and Murata, (2000); Bybordi et al., (2010) who observed a negative association of seedling emergence and high soil salt content.

Experiment 2

Seedling emergence at 7DAP was influenced by biochar in transitioning soil (P<0.000) and in saline soil (P = 0.017) but not in good soil (Table 2.4). In transitioning soil, seedling emergence was greater with addition of softwood biochar while hardwood biochar and no biochar had similar results based on percentage of emerged seedlings. In the saline soil however, addition of hardwood biochar resulted in the greatest percentage of emerged seedlings, significantly greater than no biochar but similar to that of soil amended with softwood biochar (Figure 2.1). Greater performance of softwood biochar relative to hardwood biochar is likely explained by the fact that softwood biochar has a larger surface area (376.0 m^2/g) compared to 18.0 m^2/g for hardwood biochar (Table 2.2) which increases on water holding capacity and nutrient availability that enhance seedling emergence.

Genotypes differed in seedling emergence only in saline soil (Table 2.4). Florida broadleaf mustard had the greatest emergence (52.2%) under saline soil. The other canola genotypes (NCC101S and L233P) had 48.2% emerged seedlings. However, even the best seedling emergence in transition and saline soil was much lower than the mean emergence in good soil (73.6%). The variation in salt tolerance among genotypes in saline soil used in this study is likely related to the fact that genotypes such as Florida broadleaf mustard is an amphidiploid as Brassica amphidiploid species have been said to be relatively salt tolerant compared to Brassica diploid species (Kumar, 1984; Ashraf and McNeilly, 2004). Even though

Francois (1994), reported the threshold for growth in saline soil to be 10 dS/m^{-1} for most canola genotypes, in the current study, only 36.0% of the seeds emerged at EC 5.16 and pH 6.9.

Leaf chlorophyll content (SPAD values) varied by biochar type only in transitioning soil (P = 0.052) (Table 2.4, Fig 2.2). The highest SPAD values were recorded on transitioning soil with no biochar, although this was not significantly different from soil treated with hardwood biochar. Hardwood biochar used in this study has small surface area, but higher ash content compared with softwood biochar (Table 2.1). This small' surface area improves soil porosity, aeration and improves water and nutrient availability thereby reducing osmotic stress which results in greater growth and higher solute accumulation (Zhao et al., 2020). In addition, biochar is reported to improve soil physical and chemical properties of saline soil, thereby enhancing nutrient uptake by plants (Sajedi and Sajedi, 2019), and reduce salt stress (Naveed et al., 2020). However, this may vary based on the biochar (Cárdenas-Aguiar et al., 2020), and soil properties as well (Nguyen et al., 2004; Nobile et al., 2020). These may be reasons why there was no differences in SPAD values in saline and good soil when biochar was applied.

Experiment 3

Seedling emergence (%)

In good soil, seedling emergence was influenced by the main effects of biochar, composted manure, and genotype (Table 2.6). The interaction between biochar and composted manure for percent seedling emergence was also significant (Table 2.6). The interaction between biochar and composted manure was because of increase in seedling emergence with increase in applied composted manure in good soil without biochar with the best seedling emergence obtained at the highest rate of composted manure applied (50%). In good soil with softwood biochar, however, the best seedling emergence was obtained at 30% composted

manure rate. In good soil with hardwood biochar, seedling emergence was not influenced by application of composted manure but was significantly greater than that in all other treatment combination except good soil without biochar at 50% composted manure rate. Genotypes also influenced seedling emergence in good soil with the best seedling emergence obtained in DKTF91SC (57.4%), but this emergence was similar to African cabbage and Brown mustard but significantly greater than seedling emergence for NCC101S (43.4%).

In transitioning soil, seedling emergence was also influenced by the main effects of biochar, composted manure, and genotype (Table 2.6). Seedling emergence was greater in transitioning soil with no biochar than in the soil with either softwood or hardwood biochar. Emerged seedlings increased with increasing rate of composted manure applied (Table 2.6). The interaction effects between biochar and genotype as well as composted manure and genotype for percentage of emerged seedlings was also significant. The interaction between biochar and genotype (Fig 2.3b) is explained by variations among genotypes in percent of emerged seedling in transitioning soil treated with different types of biochar in relation to the unamended soil. For example, Brown mustard had the best emergence in transitioning soils with no biochar or in transitioning soil with softwood biochar but not in soil with hardwood biochar (Fig 2.3 b). Seedling emergence was also influenced by the interaction between composted manure rate and genotypes (Fig 2.3c). This again was due to variations in performance of genotypes with changes in composted manure application rate. For example, African cabbage had the worst seedling emergence in transitioning soil with no composted manure but was among the best when composted manure at 50% was present (Fig 2.3 c).

In saline soil only composted manure had a significant effect on seedling emergence with seedlings emerging greatest in saline soil mixed with composted manure at the 50% rate (Table 2.6). The interaction between biochar and genotypes was likely due to Brown mustard being among the best emerged genotype in saline soils with no biochar or saline soils with softwood biochar but the same genotype emerging worst in saline soils with hardwood biochar added (Fig 2.3 d)

The mixed effects of biochar on seedling emergence in salt impacted soils is explained by the fact that moisture stress is one of the challenges in saline soil (Wadleigh, 1946), yet biochar absorbs moisture to its surface (Tanure et al., 2019). This means that seeds in the soilbiochar contact zone may not get enough moisture for radicle emergence. However, this varies based on the soil condition, and biochar type. For example, saline soil used in this study (Table 2.1) were higher in EC (7.21), higher SAR (4.6) and very high ESP (44.9 cmol/kg^{-1}) which makes it very poorly drained but having high macro nutrients. Therefore, addition of biochar may have improved its physical structural properties as well as increasing moisture and nutrient/availability improving seedling emergence (Fig 2.3 d). Li et al. (2015) found that higher application rates of slow pyrolyzed residue char inhibited tomato germination than lower rates, but Silva et al. (2020) found no significant effect of similar biochars on seed germination but both studies related the problem to insufficient moisture. Improvement in seedling emergence in composted manure-amended soil is explained by the fact that composted manure application increased organic matter, which improved moisture holding capacity and available moisture in the seed-soil contact zone, resulting into higher seedling emergence an assertion that is consistent with Smith et al. (2001); Srivastava et al. (2016). In addition, composted manure can stabilize pH and increase phosphorous mineralization, which can enhance seedling emergence (Jin et al., 2019). Differences in genotypes emergence rates in different soil-biochar composted manure combinations is likely related to the differences in

genetic inherent traits in salt tolerance. For example, Brassica amphidiploids are said to be more salt tolerant compared to Brassica diploids (Ashraf et al., 2001). This means that mustard may be more salt tolerant than canola used in this study.

Number of leaves plant⁻¹

In good soil, leaves plant⁻¹ was influenced by the main effects of biochar, composted manure, and genotype with no interaction between them. The number of leaves plant⁻¹ were significantly greater in good soil with softwood biochar (5.0 leaves plant⁻¹) relative to good soil with no biochar and with hardwood biochar (4.1 leaves plant⁻¹). Number of leaves plant⁻¹ were greatest at 30% composted manure application rate (5.3 leaves plant⁻¹), but these were similar and significantly lower than at 0% and 50% composted manure rates. The number of leaves plant⁻¹ also varied by genotypes in good soil with African cabbage having the greatest number of leaves plant⁻¹ at 5.1 leaves plant⁻¹ although this was similar to DKTF91SC at 4.5 leaves plant⁻¹.

In transitioning soil, number of leaves plant⁻¹ was influenced by the main effects of composted manure and genotype (Table 2.6) with number of leaves plant⁻¹ greatest at 50% composted manure rate and African cabbage having the greatest number of leaves plant⁻¹. The interaction effects between biochar and composted manure, biochar and genotype, and composted manure and genotypes for leaves plant⁻¹ was also significant (Table 2.6). The interaction between biochar and composted manure for leaves plant⁻¹ is shown on Figure 2.4a and was due to the greater number of leaves for transitioning soils with a combination of biochar amendments (softwood and hardwood) and composted manure applied at a rate of 50% compared to soil with no biochar at the same composted manure rate (Figure 2.4a). In transitioning soil, leaves plant⁻¹ was also influenced by the interaction between biochar and

genotype (Table 2.6, Fig 2.4b) because Brown mustard had lower number of leaves in transitioning soil amended with hardwood biochar when compared to the same genotype in transitioning soil with no biochar or amended with softwood biochar. The significant interaction between composted manure and genotypes was because African cabbage had significantly greater leaves plant⁻¹ at 50% composted manure rate compared to the same genotypes at lower rates (Fig 2.4c).

In saline soils the interaction effects between biochar and composted manure, biochar and genotype and composted manure with genotype for the most part, mirrored what was observed in transitioning soil for the same interactions. For example, the greatest number of leaves plant⁻¹ were observed in the saline soils amended with a combination of softwood biochar and composted manure at a rate of 50%. The interactions of genotype with biochar or composted manure rates were as observed in saline soil, due change in genotype rank as biochar amendment changed or as composted manure rate changed.

Salts in the root zone lowers the water available in the salt-contaminated soil, inducing reduction in nutrients availability to plants, resulting in osmotic, and ionic stress (Munns and Tester, 2008; Siringam et al., 2011) which result in limited or no growth (Irshad et al., 2002). The increase in number of leaves with increasing composted manure rates, observed in this study was likely because composted manure improved soil moisture retention capacity which increased nutrient availability to plants resulting in an increase in growth of leaves an assertion that is consistent with Irshad et al. (2002). Brassica amphidiploid are relatively more salt tolerant compared to Brassica diploid species (Ashraf et al., 2001; Ashraf and McNeilly, 2004). This explains higher number of leaves plant⁻¹ in mustard genotypes relative to canola which is due to inherent salt tolerance traits. Even though Francois (1994) did not find a

negative effect of salt stress on vegetative growth of canola, in the current study, leaves plant⁻¹ reduced with increasing soil salt content especially in no amendments treatments which is consistent with (Kumar, 1984; Zamani et al., 2010).

Leaf chlorophyll content (SPAD values)

In good soil, SPAD values were influenced by the main effects of biochar, composted manure, and genotype (Table 2.6). Good soil amended with softwood biochar had similar SPAD values as the untreated control, but greater SPAD values compared to soil amended with hardwood biochar. Good soil with no composted manure amendments and soil amended with composted manure at 30% rate had greater SPAD values compared to soil amended with composted manure at 50% rate. The interaction effects between biochar and genotype and composted manure and genotype for SPAD values were also significant (Table 2.6). The genotype by biochar interaction was due to Brown mustard having a lower SPAD values compared to all other genotypes in all biochar treatments (Figure 2.5a). The genotype by composted manure interaction on the other hand was due to inconsistent SPAD values for NCC101S across composted manure rates.

The main effect of biochar, composted manure, and genotypes also influenced SPAD values in the transitioning soil (Table 2.6). In terms of main effects of biochar, softwood still maintained greater SPAD values compared to no biochar and soil amended with hardwood biochar. On the other hand, transitioning soil amended with composted manure at 50% rate had greater SPAD values than soil with no amendment or amended with composted manure at 30%. Interactions between main effects were all significant (Table 2.6). Figure 2.5c shows interaction effects between biochar and composted manure rates for SPAD values. While SPAD values increased with increasing composted manure rates in transitioning soil with no

biochar or transitioning soil with hardwood biochar, SPAD values for soil amended softwood biochar were greater and but not influenced by composted manure rate (Figure 2.5c). Biochar and genotypes interactions also influenced SPAD values in transitioning soil (Fig 2.5d). The interaction was due to Brown mustard having significantly lower SPAD values in soil amended with hardwood biochar compared to soil amended with softwood biochar or soils with no biochar amendment.

SPAD values in saline soil were influenced by the main effect of biochar and composted manure rates (Table 2.6). In saline soils, as in good soil, soil amended with softwood biochar had similar SPAD values as good soil with no biochar and this value greater than that for soil amended with hardwood biochar. However, the interactions between biochar and composted manure, biochar and genotypes were also significant for SPAD values (Table 2.6). These interactions are presented on Figures 2.5e and f. For biochar by composted manure rates, the interaction was due differential response to composted manure application observed in the biochar treatments. In saline soils with no biochar, SPAD values increased with increase in composted manure rate peaking at a rate of 30% whereas in the softwood amended soil, the SPAD values peaked at the highest composted manure rate of 50% but lower compared with that in no biochar. In the saline soils amended with hardwood biochar the response to composted manure application was poor irrespective of rate. Biochar and genotypes interaction was because in saline soil without biochar, genotypes performed similarly in SPAD values. However, in saline soil with softwood biochar, genotype NCC101S had higher SPAD values than DKTF91SC and African cabbage but similar to that in saline soil with no biochar. In saline soil with hardwood biochar, SPAD values were lower on all genotypes relative to saline soil with no biochar and softwood.

Softwood biochar in combination with composted manure increased leaf chlorophyll content (SPAD values). This elevated leaf chlorophyll content is explained by high phosphorous accumulation from composted manure (Eghball, 2002), and the fact that softwood biochar had a large surface area for moisture storage and increase on availability of other nutrients (Asai et al., 2009). The lower SPAD values in saline soil with no amendments is likely due to ionic and osmotic stresses that result in production of reactive oxygen species leading to degradation of photosystem 1 and 2 in thylakoid membrane (Wiencke, 1982) which resulted into lower solutes accumulation in the leaf due to depression in carbon assimilation. However, saline soils used in this study were high in nitrates. Therefore, composted manure and softwood biochar application may have increased availability of nitrates and moisture to plants which reduced the effects of sodium in the soil, relieving the plants of osmotic stress and increased on leaf tissue chlorophyll development (Akhtar et al., 2015; Marchand et al., 2016).

Shoot dry weight

In good soil, shoot dry weight was influenced by the main effects of biochar, composted manure rates and genotype (Table 2.6). However, the interactions between biochar and composted manure rates, biochar and genotypes and composted manure and genotypes were also significant. Shoot dry weight was greater in good soil with softwood biochar than in soil amended with hardwood biochar but this value was not different from untreated control/no biochar. Shoot dry weight was significantly greater at 30% composted manure application rate (Table 2.6). The interactions effects between biochar and composted manure, biochar and genotypes, and composted manure and genotypes for shoot dry weight were also significant in good soil (Table 2.6). The interaction between biochar and composted manure was a result of

a significantly lower shoot dry weight when 30% composted manure was applied in good soil amended with hardwood biochar as compared to the same composted manure rate in the soil with no amendment and soil amended with softwood biochar (Figure 2.6a). The significant interaction between biochar and genotypes was because of inconsistencies in ranking of genotypes for shoot dry weight in soils amended with biochar as compared to the soil with no biochar (Figure 2.6b). Composted manure and genotypes interactions were also significant for shoot dry weight in good soil due to higher variations in shoot dry weight among genotypes.

In transitioning soil, the interaction between biochar and composted manure for shoot dry weight was because in soil amended with hardwood biochar, shoot dry weight response to composted manure rate of 30% was significantly lower compared to the same rate in softwood biochar or in soils with no biochar (Figure 2.6d). Biochar and genotypes interaction was significant for shoot dry weight due to changes in genotype ranking for shoot dry weight from one biochar treatment to the other (Fig 2.6e).

In saline soil, shoot dry weight varied by biochar and composted manure, and the interaction between biochar and composted manure, as well as interaction between biochar and genotype were significant (Table 2.6). The interaction between biochar and composted manure for shoot dry weight was because application of biochar only influenced shoot dry weight in saline soil with no biochar (Figure 2.6f). In addition, saline soil amended with hardwood biochar had extremely low shoot dry weight irrespective of composted manure application rate as compared to same soil amended with softwood biochar or control (Figure 2.6f). Shoot dry weight also varied by biochar and genotypes interactions in saline soil. This was due to variable shoot dry weight among genotypes with Brown mustard reaching the highest in saline soil with

no biochar, while NCC101S had the highest shoot dry weight in saline soil with softwood biochar (Fig 2.6g).

The increase in shoot dry weight with increase in composted manure rate in saline soil was due to increased nutrients and moisture availability resulting in higher plant growth. However, the variation between the biochar types also influenced plants growth due to the biochars physical properties that influenced on the availability of moisture and nutrients to plants. When comparing application of biochar and composted manure combinations and their interactions on plant growth in saline soil, shoot dry weight was greater in treatments with no biochar, and increased with increasing composted manure rate applied and this was greater than when composted manure is added in either softwood or hardwood biochar treatment. This was because biochar can sequester nutrients and reduce availability of soil moisture leading to reduced growth (Qasim et al., 2002). However, biochar improves soil physical and biological properties of saline soil which can also support growth (Dahlawi et al., 2018). This therefore explains a slightly higher shoot dry weight at 0% composted manure with softwood biochar compared to 0% composted manure in no biochar in saline soil. Despite the mixed results of biochar on seedling emergence and growth of genotypes evaluated under different soil salt contents (salinity levels), softwood biochar produced better results in most cases compared to hardwood biochar and no biochar and addition of composted manure improved the overall performance in all treatments.

CONCLUSIONS

Seedling emergence and growth decreased with increasing soil salt concentrations. The impact of biochar application on seedling emergence and growth varied depending on type of biochar and soil salinity level. In good soil (non-saline) biochar did not influence seedling

emergence. In transitioning soil (moderately saline) seedling emergence was best with softwood biochar application while in saline soil (highly saline), the two biochar types showed slightly improved seedling emergence compared to the control (no biochar). On average, application of composted manure improved seedling emergence and growth in all soil salinity levels. However, significant interactions were observed between biochar and composted manure in transitioning and saline soils for leaf chlorophyll content, number of leaves plant⁻¹ and shoot dry weight plant⁻¹. These interactions were mostly due to inconsistence of response of these genotypes to composted manure application in soil amended with softwood biochar when compared to those amended with hardwood biochar. In most cases, plant growth traits had a positive and more consistent response is transition and saline soil amended with softwood biochar than those amended with hardwood biochar. Four genotypes NCC101S, DKTF91SC, African cabbage and Brown mustard have salt tolerance traits and could be further investigated for their physiological salt tolerance mechanisms as well as their genetic characteristics under salt stress. Biochar use in remediating saline soils needs further investigation due to the mixed results produced under different soil salt content.

References

- Abujabhah, I. S., Bound, S. A., Doyle, R., & Bowman, J. P. (2016). Effects of biochar and compost amendments on soil physico-chemical properties and the total community within a temperate agricultural soil. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 98, 243-253.
- Akhtar, S. S., Andersen, M. N., & Liu, F. (2015). Biochar mitigates salinity stress in potato. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science*, 201(5), 368-378.
- Antal, M. J., & Grønli, M. (2003). The art, science, and technology of charcoal production. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, 42(8), 1619-1640.
- Asada, K., Yabushita, Y., Saito, H., & Nishimura, T. (2012). Effect of long □ term swine □ manure application on soil hydraulic properties and heavy metal behaviour. *European Journal of Soil Science*, 63(3), 368-376.
- Asai, H., Samson, B. K., Stephan, H. M., Songyikhangsuthor, K., Homma, K., Kiyono, Y., & Horie, T. (2009). Biochar amendment techniques for upland rice production in Northern Laos. Soil physical properties, leaf SPAD and grain yield. *Field Crops Research*, 111(1-2), 81-84.
- Ashraf, M., and McNeilly, T. (1990). Responses of four Brassica species to sodium chloride. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 30(4), 475-487.
- Ashraf, M., and McNeilly, T. (2004). Salinity tolerance in Brassica oilseeds. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 23(2), 157-174.
- Ashraf, M., Nazir, N., & McNeilly, T. (2001). Comparative salt tolerance of amphidiploid and diploid Brassica species. *Plant Science*, 160(4), 683-689.
- Athar, H. U. R., Zafar, Z. U., and Ashraf, M. (2015). Glycinebetaine improved photosynthesis in canola under salt stress: evaluation of chlorophyll fluorescence parameters as potential indicators. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science*, 201(6), 428-442.
- Bauder, J. W., Hershberger, K. R., & Browning, L. S. (2008). Soil solution and exchange complex response to repeated wetting-drying with modestly saline-sodic water. *Irrigation Science*, 26(2), 121-130.
- Birru, G. A., Clay, D. E., DeSutter, T. M., Reese, C. L., Kennedy, A. C., Clay, S. A., and Malo, D. D. (2019). Chemical amendments of dryland saline-sodic soil did not enhance productivity and soil health in fields without effective drainage. *Agronomy Journal*, 111(2), 496-508.
- Bottinelli, N., Menasseri Aubry, S., Cluzeau, D., & Hallaire, V. (2013). Response of soil structure and hydraulic conductivity to reduced tillage and animal manure in a temperate loamy soil. *Soil Use and Management*, 29(3), 401-409.
- Bybordi, A., Tabatabaei, S. J., and Ahmadev, A. (2010). Effect of salinity on the growth and peroxidase and IAA oxidase activities in canola. *Journal of Food Agriculture and Environment*, 8(1), 109-112.

- Cárdenas-Aguiar, E., Suárez, G., Paz-Ferreiro, J., Askeland, M. P. J., Méndez, A., and Gascó, G. (2020). Remediation of mining soil by combining *Brassica napus* growth and amendment with chars from manure waste. *Chemosphere*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.01224
- Celik, I., Gunal, H., Budak, M., & Akpinar, C. (2010). Effects of long-term organic and mineral fertilizers on bulk density and penetration resistance in semi-arid Mediterranean soil conditions. *Geoderma*, 160(2), 236-243.
- Chandler, S. F., and Thorpe, T. A. (1987). Characterization of growth, water relations, and proline accumulation in sodium sulfate tolerant callus of *Brassica napus L*. cv Westar (Canola). *Plant Physiology*, 84(1), 106-111.
- Dahlawi, S., Naeem, A., Rengel, Z., & Naidu, R. (2018). Biochar application for the remediation of salt-affected soil: Challenges and opportunities. *Science of the Total Environment*, 625, 320-335.
- De Mendiburu, F. D. (2017). Agricolae: Statistical Procedures for Agricultural Research (Version 1.2-8) Agricolae.
- Delfine, S., Alvino, A., Villani, M. C., and Loreto, F. (1999). Restrictions to carbon dioxide conductance and photosynthesis in spinach leaves recovering from salt stress. *Plant Physiology*, 119(3), 1101-1106.
- Doolette, A. L., Armstrong, R., Tang, C., Guppy, C., Mason, S., & McNeill, A. (2019). Phosphorus uptake benefit for wheat following legume break crops in semi-arid Australian farming systems. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 113(3), 247-266.
- Drake, J. A., Cavagnaro, T. R., Cunningham, S. C., Jackson, W. R., and Patti, A. F. (2016). Does biochar improve establishment of tree seedlings in saline sodic soil. *Land Degradation and Development*, 27(1), 52-59.
- Eghball, B. (2002). Soil Properties as Influenced by Phosphorus-and Nitrogen-Based Manure and Compost Applications. *Agronomy Journal*, 94, 128-135.
- Ehsanzadeh, P., Nekoonam, M. S., Azhar, J. N., Pourhadian, H., and Shaydaee, S. (2009). Growth, chlorophyll, and cation concentration of tetraploid wheat on a solution high in sodium chloride salt: Hulled versus free-threshing genotypes. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, 32(1), 58-70.
- Flowers, T. J., Garcia, A., Koyama, M., and Yeo, A. R. (1997). Breeding for salt tolerance in crop plants-the role of molecular biology. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*, 19(4), 427-433.
- Flowers, T. J., Troke, P. F., and Yeo, A. R. (1977). The mechanism of salt tolerance in halophytes. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology*, 28(1), 89-121.
- Foyjunnessa, McNeill, A., Doolette, A. L., & Mason, S. (2018). Dual-labelling (15 N and 33 P) provides insights into stoichiometry and release of nitrogen and phosphorus from in situ mature lupin and canola below-ground residues. *Plant and Soil*, 426, 77-93.
- Francois, L. E. (1994). Growth, seed yield, and oil content of canola grown under saline conditions. Agronomy Journal, 86(2), 233-237.

- Franzen, D. (2003). Managing Saline Soils in North Dakota. North Dakota State University Extension Service, Fargo, ND 58105, SF-1087.
- Gaskin, J. W., Speir, R. A., Harris, K., Das, K. C., Lee, R. D., Morris, L. A., & Fisher, D. S. (2010). Effect of peanut hull and pine chip biochar on soil nutrients, corn nutrient status, and yield. *Agronomy Journal*, 102(2), 623-633.
- George, N., & Kaffka, S. (2017). Canola as a New Crop for California: A Simulation Study. *Agronomy Journal*, 109(2), 496-509.
- George, N., Hollingsworth, J., Yang, W. R., & Kaffka, S. (2017). Canola and Camelina as New Crop Options for Cool-Season Production in California. *Crop Science*, 57(2), 693-712.
- Gondek, M., Weindorf, D. C., Thiel, C., & Kleinheinz, G. (2020). Soluble salts in compost and their effects on soil and plants: A review. *Compost Science & Utilization*, 28(2), 59-75. https://doi.org/10.1080/1065657X.2020.1772906
- Greenway, H., & Munns, R. (1980). Mechanisms of salt tolerance in non-halophytes. *Annual review of plant physiology*, 31(1), 149-190.
- Hadrich, J. (2012). Managing the Economics of Soil Salinity in the Red River Valley of North Dakota. *Journal of the American Society of Farm Managers and Rural Appraisers*, 387, 80-88.
- Hao, X., & Chang, C. (2002). Effect of 25 annual cattle manure applications on soluble and exchangeable cations in soil. *Soil Science*, 167(2), 126-134.
- Huang, J., and Redmann, R. E. (1995). Salt tolerance of Hordeum and Brassica species during germination and early seedling growth. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, 75(4), 815-819.
- Irshad, M., Yamamoto, S., Eneji, A. E., Endo, T., & Honna, T. (2002). Urea and manure effect on growth and mineral contents of maize under saline conditions. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, 25(1), 189-200.
- Ivushkin, K., Bartholomeus, H., Bregt, A. K., Pulatov, A., Kempen, B., and De Sousa, L. (2019). Global mapping of soil salinity change. *Remote Sensing of Environment*. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2019.111260
- Jeffery, S., Verheijen, F. G., van der Velde, M., & Bastos, A. C. (2011). A quantitative review of the effects of biochar application to soils on crop productivity using meta-analysis. *Agriculture, ecosystems, and Environment*, 144(1), 175-187.
- Jin, Z., Chen, C., Chen, X., Hopkins, I., Zhang, X., Han, Z., ... & Billy, G. (2019). The crucial factors of soil fertility and rapeseed yield-A five-year field trial with biochar addition in upland red soil, China. *Science of the Total Environment*, 649, 1467-1480.
- Jones, David L., and R. S. Quilliam. "Metal contaminated biochar and wood ash negatively affect plant growth and soil quality after land application." *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 276, 362-370.

- Kaymakanova, M. (2009). Effect of salinity on germination and seed physiology in bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris L.*). *Biotechnology and Biotechnological Equipment*, 23(1), 326-329.
- Khalid, A. A., Tuffour, H. O., & Bonsu, M. (2014). Influence of poultry manure and NPK fertilizer on hydraulic properties of a sandy soil in Ghana. *International Journal of Scientific Research in Agricultural Sciences*, 1(2), 16-22.
- Kimetu, J. M., and Lehmann, J. (2010). Stability and stabilization of biochar and green manure in soil with different organic carbon contents. *Soil Research*, 48(7), 577-585.
- Krause, G. H., & Weis, E. (1991). Chlorophyll fluorescence and photosynthesis: the basics. *Annual review of plant biology*, 42(1), 313-349.
- Kumar D. (1984). The value of certain plant parameters as an index for salt tolerance in Indian mustard (*Brassica juncea L.*). *Plant and Soil*, 79(2), 261-272.
- Kuzyakov, Y., Subbotina, I., Chen, H., Bogomolova, I., & Xu, X. (2009). Black carbon decomposition and incorporation into soil microbial biomass estimated by 14C labeling. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 41(2), 210-219.
- Laird, D., Fleming, P., Wang, B., Horton, R., & Karlen, D. (2010). Biochar impact on nutrient leaching from a Midwestern agricultural soil. *Geoderma*, 158(3-4), 436-442.
- Li, Y., Shen, F., Guo, H., Wang, Z., Yang, G., Wang, L., & Deng, S. (2015). Phytotoxicity assessment on corn stover biochar, derived from fast pyrolysis, based on seed germination, early growth, and potential plant cell damage. *Environmental Science* and Pollution Research, 22(12), 9534-9543.
- Ling, Q., Huang, W., & Jarvis, P. (2011). Ling, Q., Huang, W., & Jarvis, P. (2011). Use of a SPAD-502 meter to measure leaf chlorophyll concentration in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Photosynthesis Research*, 107(2), 209-214.
- Lu, H., Lashari, M. S., Liu, X., Ji, H., Li, L., Zheng, J., & Pan, G. (2014). Changes in soil microbial community structure and enzyme activity with amendment of biocharmanure compost and pyroligneous solution in a saline soil from Central China. *European Journal of Soil Biology*, 70, 67-76.
- Lua, A. C., & Guo, J. (1998). Preparation and characterization of chars from oil palm waste. *Carbon*, 36(11), 1663-1670. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0008-6223(98)00161-4
- Marchand, Lilian, Céline Pelosi, María Reyes González-Centeno, Anne Maillard, Alain Ourry, William Galland, Pierre-Louis Teissedre et al. "Trace element bioavailability, yield and seed quality of rapeseed (*Brassica napus L.*) modulated by biochar incorporation into a contaminated technosol." *Chemosphere* 156, 150-162.
- Mohanty, S. K., Valenca, R., Berger, A. W., Iris, K. M., Xiong, X., Saunders, T. M., and Tsang, D. C. (2018). Plenty of room for carbon on the ground: Potential applications of biochar for stormwater treatment. *Science of the Total Environment*, 625, 1644-1658.

- Mousavi, M., and Omidi, H. (2019). Seed priming with bio-priming improves stand establishment, seed germination and salinity tolerance in canola cultivar (Hayola 401). *Plant Physiology*, 9(3), 2807-2817.
- Mukherjee, A., Zimmerman, A. R., & Harris, W. (2011). Surface chemistry variations among a series of laboratory-produced biochars. *Geoderma*, 163(3-4), 247-255.
- Munns, R. (2002). Comparative physiology of salt and water stress. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, 25(2), 239-250.
- Munns, R., and Tester, M. (2008). Mechanisms of salinity tolerance. *Annul Review in Plant Biology*, 59, 651-681.
- Nauš, J., Prokopová, J., Řebíček, J., & Špundová, M. (2010). SPAD chlorophyll meter reading can be pronouncedly affected by chloroplast movement. *Photosynthesis Research*, 105(3), 265-271.
- Naveed, M., Sajid, H., Mustafa, A., Niamat, B., Ahmad, Z., Yaseen, M., & Chen, J. T. (2020). Alleviation of salinity-induced oxidative stress, improvement in growth, physiology, and mineral nutrition of canola (*Brassica napus L.*) through calcium-fortified composted animal manure. *Sustainability*. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12030846
- Nguyen, T. H., Brown, R. A., & Ball, W. P. (2004). An evaluation of thermal resistance as a measure of black carbon content in diesel soot, wood char, and sediment. *Organic Geochemistry*, 35(3), 217-234.
- Nobile, C., Denier, J., & Houben, D. (2020). Linking biochar properties to biomass of basil, lettuce and pansy cultivated in growing media. *Scientia Horticulturae*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2019.109001
- NRCS, U. (2019). US Department of Agriculture-The Natural Resources Conservation Service. 2019. The Plants Database National Plant Data Team, Greensboro, NC, 27401-4901.
- O'Brien, P. L., Hatfield, J. L., Dold, C., Kistner ☐ Thomas, E. J., and Wacha, K. M. (2020). Cropping pattern changes diminish agroecosystem services in North and South Dakota, USA. *Agronomy Journal*, 112(1), 1-14.
- Ozlu, E., Kumar, S., & Arriaga, F. J. (2019). Responses of Long□Term Cattle Manure on Soil Physical and Hydraulic Properties under a Corn–Soybean Rotation at Two Locations in Eastern South Dakota. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 83(5), 1459-1467.
- Pimentel, D., Berger, B., Filiberto, D., Newton, M., Wolfe, B., Karabinakis, E., and Nandagopal, S. (2004). Water resources: Agricultural and Environmental Issues. BioScience, 54(10), 909-918.
- Qasim, M. U. H. A. M. M. A. D., Ashraf, M. U. H. A. M. M. A. D., Ashraf, M. Y., & Ahmad, N. I. S. A. R. (2002). Relationship of biomass production with nitrate assimilation in canola (*Brassica napus L.*) under salinity stress. *International Journal of Agricultural Biology*, 4(4), 521-522.

- Qian, M., Wu, H., Wang, J., Zhang, H., Zhang, Z., Zhang, Y., & Ma, J. (2016). Occurrence of trace elements and antibiotics in manure-based fertilizers from the Zhejiang Province of China. *Science of the Total Environment*, 559, 174-181.
- Rengasamy, P. (2006). World salinization with emphasis on Australia. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 57(5), 1017-1023.
- Resende, F. L. (2016). Recent advances on fast hydropyrolysis of biomass. *Catalysis Today*, 269, 148-155.
- Rogovska, N., Laird, D., Cruse, R., Fleming, P., Parkin, T., & Meek, D. (2011). Impact of biochar on manure carbon stabilization and greenhouse gas emissions. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 75(3), 871-879.
- Sajedi, A., & Sajedi, N. A. (2019). Effects of Biochar, Seed Priming and Foliar Application of Water and Salicylic Acid on Yield of Rainfed Safflower. *Iranian Journal of Field Crops Research*, 17(2), 305-316.
- Sakamoto, A., and Murata, N. (2000). Genetic engineering of glycinebetaine synthesis in plants: status and implications for enhancement of stress tolerance. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 51(342), 81-88.
- Schulz, H., Dunst, G., & Glaser, B. (2013). Positive effects of composted biochar on plant growth and soil fertility. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, 33(4), 817-827.
- Seemann, J. R., and Critchley, C. (1985). Effects of salt stress on the growth, ion content, stomatal behavior, and photosynthetic capacity of a salt-sensitive species, *Phaseolus vulgaris L. Planta*, 164(2), 151-162.
- Shabani, A., Sepaskhah, A. R., & Kamgar-Haghighi, A. A. (2013). Responses of agronomic components of rapeseed (Brassica napus L.) as influenced by deficit irrigation, water salinity and planting method. *International Journal of Plant Production*, 7(2), 313-340.
- Shahid, M., Akram, M. S., Khan, M. A., Zubair, M., Shah, S. M., Ismail, M., & Tariq, M. (2018). A Phyto beneficial strain Planomicrobium sp. MSSA 10 triggered oxidative stress responsive mechanisms and regulated the growth of pea plants under induced saline environment. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 124(6), 1566-1579.
- Shelley McGuire, FAO, IFAD, and WFP. The State of Food Insecurity in the World 2015: Meeting the 2015 International Hunger Targets: Taking Stock of Uneven Progress. Rome: FAO, 2015, Advances in Nutrition, Volume 6, Issue 5, September 2015, Pages 623–624. https://doi.org/10.3945/an.115.009936
- Silva, M. P., Lobos, M. L. N., Piloni, R. V., Dusso, D., Quijón, M. E. G., Scopel, A. L., & Moyano, E. L. (2020). Pyrolytic biochars from sunflower seed shells, peanut shells, and Spirulina algae: their potential as soil amendment and natural growth regulators. SN *Applied Sciences*, 2(11), 1-15.
- Siringam, K., Juntawong, N., Cha-um, S., & Kirdmanee, C. (2011). Salt stress induced ion accumulation, ion homeostasis, membrane injury and sugar contents in salt-sensitive

rice (Oryza sativa L. spp. indica) roots under isoosmotic conditions. *African Journal* of *Biotechnology*, *10*(8), 1340-1346.

- Smith, E. G., Clapperton, M. J., & Blackshaw, R. E. (2004). Profitability and risk of organic production systems in the northern Great Plains. *Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems*, 19(3), 152-158.
- Song, Q., He, Y., Wu, Y., Chen, S., Zhang, T., and Chen, H. (2020). Biochar Impacts on Acidic Soil from *Camellia Oleifera* Plantation: A Short-Term Soil Incubation Study. *Agronomy Journal*, 10(9), 1446.
- Srivastava, P. K., Gupta, M., Singh, N., & Tewari, S. K. (2016). Amelioration of sodic soil for wheat cultivation using bioaugmented organic soil amendment. *Land Degradation and Development*, 27(4), 1245-1254.
- Steiner, C., Glaser, B., Geraldes Teixeira, W., Lehmann, J., Blum, W. E., & Zech, W. (2008). Nitrogen retention and plant uptake on a highly weathered central Amazonian Ferralsol amended with compost and charcoal. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, 171(6), 893-899.
- Stirbet, A., Lazár, D., & Kromdijk, J. (2018). Chlorophyll a fluorescence induction: can just a one-second measurement be used to quantify abiotic stress responses. *Photosynthetica*, 56(1), 86-104.
- Tanure, M. M. C., da Costa, L. M., Huiz, H. A., Fernandes, R. B. A., Cecon, P. R., Junior, J. D. P., & da Luz, J. M. R. (2019). Soil water retention, physiological characteristics, and growth of maize plants in response to biochar application to soil. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 192, 164-173.
- Tunçtürk, M., Tunçtürk, R., Yildirim, B., and Çiftçi, V. (2011). Effect of salinity stress on plant fresh weight and nutrient composition of some Canola (*Brassica napus L*) genotypes. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 10(10), 1827-1832.
- Uddling, J., Gelang-Alfredsson, J., Piikki, K., & Pleijel, H. (2007). Evaluating the relationship between leaf chlorophyll concentration and SPAD-502 chlorophyll meter readings. *Photosynthesis Research*, 91(1), 37-46.
- US-Biochar, (2016). Conference Introduction. <u>https://biochar-us.org/year/2016</u> (Accessed 30 August. 2021)
- Van Zwieten, L., Kimber, S., Downie, A., Morris, S., Petty, S., Rust, J., & Chan, K. Y. (2010a). A glasshouse study on the interaction of low mineral ash biochar with nitrogen in a sandy soil. *Soil Research*, 48(7), 569-576.
- Van Zwieten, L., Kimber, S., Morris, S., Chan, K. Y., Downie, A., Rust, J., & Cowie, A. (2010b). Effects of biochar from slow pyrolysis of papermill waste on agronomic performance and soil fertility. *Plant and Soil*, 327(1), 235-246.
- Vivekanandan, M., & Fixen, P. E. (1990). Effect of large manure applications on soil P intensity. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis, 21(3-4), 287-297.

- Wadleigh, C. H. (1946). The integrated soil moisture stress upon a root system in a large container of saline soil. *Soil Science*, 61(3), 219-238.
- Wang, Y., Yin, R., and Liu, R. (2014). Characterization of biochar from fast pyrolysis and its effect on chemical properties of the tea garden soil. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis*, 110, 375-381.
- Wang, Bing, Johannes Lehmann, Kelly Hanley, Rachel Hestrin, and Akio Enders. "Adsorption and desorption of ammonium by maple wood biochar as a function of oxidation and pH." *Chemosphere* 138 (2015): 120-126.
- Wiencke, C. (1982). Effect of osmotic stress on thylakoid fine structure in Porphyra umbilicalis. *Protoplasma*, 111(3), 215-220.
- Williams, J. D., Wuest, S. B., & Long, D. S. (2014). Soil and water conservation in the Pacific Northwest through no-tillage and intensified crop rotations. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*, 69(6), 495-504.
- Wright, P. R., Morgan, J. M., and Jessop, R. S. (1997). Turgor maintenance by osmoregulation in *Brassica napus* and *B. juncea* under field conditions. *Annals of Botany*, 80(3), 313-319.
- Xin, X., Zhang, J., Zhu, A., & Zhang, C. (2016). Effects of long-term (23 years) mineral fertilizer and compost application on physical properties of fluvo-aquic soil in the North China Plain. Soil and Tillage Research, 156, 166-172.
- Young, F. L., Long, D. S., and Alldredge, J. R. (2012). Effect of Planting Methods on Spring Canola (*Brassica napus L*) Establishment and Yield in the Low-Rainfall Region of the Pacific Northwest. *Crop Management*, 11(1), 1-8.
- Zamani, S., Nezami, M. T., Habibi, D., and Khorshidi, M. B. (2010). Effect of quantitative and qualitative performance of four canola genotypes (*Brassica napus L*) to salinity conditions. *Advances in Environmental Biology*, 4(3), 422-428.
- Zeng, G., Wu, H., Liang, J., Guo, S., Huang, L., Xu, P., & He, Y. (2015). Efficiency of biochar and compost (or composting) combined amendments for reducing Cd, Cu, Zn and Pb bioavailability, mobility, and ecological risk in wetland soil. *Research Advances*, 5(44), 34541-34548.
- Zhang, M., Riaz, M., Zhang, L., El-Desouki, Z., and Jiang, C. (2019). Biochar induces changes to basic soil properties and bacterial communities of different soil to varying degrees at 25 mm rainfall: more effective on acidic soil. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01321
- Zhao, W. R., Li, J. Y., Deng, K. Y., Shi, R. Y., Jiang, J., Hong, Z. N., ... & Xu, R. K. (2020). Effects of crop straw biochars on aluminum species in soil solution as related with the growth and yield of canola (Brassica napus L.) in an acidic Ultisol under field condition. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 27, 30178-30189.
- Zheng, G. H., Gao, Y. P., Wilen, R. W., and Gusta, L. V. (1998). Canola seed germination and seedling emergence from pre hydrated and re dried seeds subjected to salt and water stresses at low temperatures. *Annals of Applied Biology*, 132(2), 339-348.

- Zhou, X., Wang, J., Lu, C., Liao, Q., Gudda, F. O., & Ling, W. (2020). Antibiotics in animal manure and manure-based fertilizers: Occurrence and ecological risk assessment. *Chemosphere*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.127006
- Zimmerman, A. R. (2010). Abiotic and microbial oxidation of laboratory-produced black carbon (biochar). *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44(4), 1295-1301.

	Soil type	pН	EC	OM	NO ₃	Р	Κ	Ca	Mg	Na	S	SAR	ESP
			mmho/cm	%	kg/ha ⁻¹		mg/kg ⁻¹			cmol/kg ⁻¹			
Expt 1	Good soil	7.5	0.62	4.9	30	0.02	0.36	2.74	0.41	0.05	0.14	2.82	8.1
	Transitioning soil	6.9	5.17	4.4	67	0.03	0.20	2.07	1.16	2.35	2.74	4.25	45.5
	Saline soil	6.8	8.47	4.3	100	0.02	0.19	1.61	1.24	4.29	3.51	5.46	50.6
Expt 2	Good soil	6.5	1.85	5.3	100	0.03	0.11	2.48	0.87	0.21	0.79	2.71	11.4
	Transitioning soil	7.0	4.53	4.4	128	0.03	0.11	2.01	1.25	1.56	2.08	3.41	34.4
	Saline soil	6.9	5.16	4.4	335	0.02	0.14	2.33	1.31	1.97	1.22	4.05	38.2
Expt 3	Good soil	7.3	0.42	5.4	104	0.01	0.38	2.51	0.42	0.04	0.00	2.57	9.5
	Transitioning soil	7.1	5.54	4.6	6.7	0.02	0.23	2.20	1.36	1.94	2.96	3.86	35.0
	Saline soil	7.4	7.21	4.3	121	0.05	0.13	1.96	1.50	3.24	3.15	4.61	44.9

Table 2.1. Chemical properties for good, transitioning, and saline soils used in Experiment 1, Experiment 2, and Experiment 3

Abbreviations: Expt=Experiment, EC=Electrical conductivity, OM=Organic matter

Note: EC>4.0, SAR<13, pH >8.5 = saline soil, EC <4, SAR>13, and pH>8.5 = sodic soil, EC> 4, SAR> 13, and pH <8.5 = saline-sodic

(Franzen, 2003; Bauder et al., 2008; Dahlawi et al., 2018).

Parameter	Unit	Softwood	Hardwood	Composted manure
SA	m^2/g	375.80	18.00	nd
Ph		7.90	8.20	7.90
EC	dS m ⁻¹	Nd	nd	0.41
OM	%	Nd	nd	13.20
Ν	kg N ha ⁻¹	1.28	0.00	0.00
Р	g kg-1	0.13	0.00	0.08
K	g kg ⁻¹	1.20	0.00	5.99
S	g kg ⁻¹	0.27	0.00	0.17
Ca	g kg ⁻¹	1.20	0.00	19.20
Mg	g kg ⁻¹	0.57	0.00	4.00
Zn	g kg ⁻¹	0.03	0.00	nd
Fe	g kg ⁻¹	1.51	2.73	nd
Mn	g kg ⁻¹	0.09	0.29	nd
Na	g kg ⁻¹	0.01	0.00	0.13
C	g kg ⁻¹	820.00	842.00	nd

Table 2.2. Chemical properties of biochar and composted manure used in the Experiment 3

Abbreviations: SA= Surface area, nd=Undetermined

Experiment 1

Table 2.3. Percentage seedling emergence of canola and carinata genotypes at 7 DAP and 28 DAP in good, transitioning, and saline soils in greenhouse experiment 1.

	Good	soil	Transitio	oning soil	Saline soil			
	7DAP ^a	28DAP ^b	7DAP ^c	28DAP ^d	7DAP ^e	28DAP ^f		
Genotype	Percentage seedling emergence at seven and twenty-eight days after planting							
Canola								
CS2100	45.5 bcd	59.2 d	-	17.5 b	-	10.0 b		
CS2300	65.9 a	57.5 d	-	17.5 b	-	9.2 b		
CS2500	44.9 bcd	67.5 c	10.0	9.2 c	3.3	7.5 b		
CS2600	49.8 b	80.0 b	-	17.5 b	-	-		
DKL14BL	34.0 de	59.2 d	-	19.2 b	-	10.0 b		
DKTF91SC	39.6 bcde	90.0 a	10.0	19.2 b	3.3	9.2 b		
DKTF92SC	48.0 bc	47.5 e	10.0	20.0 b	-	7.5 b		
L140P	47.7 bc	70.0 c	-	29.2 a	-	10.0 b		
L233P	45.0 bcd	68.3 c	10.0	9.2 c	-	-		
NCC101S	30.0 e	49.2 e	-	29.2 a	3.3	29.2 a		
Carinata								
AC120	37.5 bcde	80.0 b	10	7.5 c	-	9.2 b		
DH069485	34.8 cde	60.0 d	20.0	7.5 c	7.5	10.0 b		
DH140251	38.2 bcde	58.3 d	20.3	27.5 a	-	-		
Mean	43.0	65.1	13.4	17.7	1.4	11.2		
CV	19	3	108	9	218	15		
P-value	0.002	< 0.000	< 0.000	< 0.000	0.080	< 0.000		

Different letters in each column indicate significant differences ($P \le 0.05$) due to treatments.

Abbreviations: DAP= Days after planting. Seedling emergence recorded in percentage based on eight seeds planted in each pot.

Experiment 2

Table 2.4. Percentage of emerged seedlings at 7DAP based on eight seeds, and shoot dry weight plant⁻¹, (59DAP), and SPAD (59DAP) for canola and mustard genotypes, in good, transitioning, and saline soils at 59DAP in greenhouse experiment 2.

	Good soil			Т	ransitionin	g soil	Saline soil			
Genotype	7DAP ^a	SDW ^b	SPAD ^c	7DAP ^a	SDW ^b	SPAD ^c	7DAP ^a	SDW ^b	SPAD ^c	
	%	g/plant	nmol/mg ⁻¹	%	g/plant	nmol/mg ⁻¹	%	g/plant	nmol/mg ⁻¹	
Canola										
NCC101S	70.4	12.4	43.0	35.1	3.9	44.8	48.2 ab	3.7	52.5	
DKTF91SC	88.7	9.2	43.6	40.9	5.4	46.9	30.2 bcd	2.6	44.1	
CS2500	65.9	8.7	40.4	19.0	2.9	40.8	20.2 d	3.1	46.4	
L140P	75.7	10.4	42.3	47.9	4.7	43.0	32.2 bcd	5.0	56.2	
L233P	71.4	8.7	39.9	45.0	1.6	39.0	48.2 ab	3.5	44.6	
DKL7114BL	73.6	8.3	43.5	42.6	4.7	47.0	25.2 cd	2.5	45.5	
DKTF96SC	77.5	7.6	40.4	33.8	2.6	45.6	34.2 abcd	2.3	48.5	
DKLL82SC	85.2	8.5	44.2	47.5	4.7	43.5	32.2 bcd	2.4	42.9	
DKTFLL21SC	67.1	6.0	39.9	46.9	4.0	45.4	38.2 abcd	1.9	37.2	
DKTF92SC	66.4	8.9	41.1	36.6	2.3	40.9	42.2 abc	4.3	43.5	
Mustard										
A.Cabbage ^d	55.6	12.4	45.7	38.6	4.5	46.4	29.2 bcd	2.3	47.5	
B.Mustard ^e	83.0	10.0	37.1	44.0	3.6	40.2	33.2 abcd	5.5	43.4	
Fb.Mustard ^f	75.9	8.3	38.2	41.8	3.8	37.3	52.2 a	5.0	34.1	
Mean	73.6	9.2	41.4	40.0	3.8	43.2	36.0	3.3	44.4	
SEM	5.514	0.962	2.087	5.257	0.624	1.896	4.874	0.540	1.995	
Analysis of variance (P-value)										
Biochar type (a)	0.729	0.733	0.244	0.000	0.216	0.052	0.017	0.501	0.170	
Genotypes (b)	0.266	0.476	0.864	0.468	0.645	0.589	0.051	0.305	0.246	
Factor a*b	0.705	0.608	0.995	0.161	0.720	0.849	0.433	0.786	0.916	

Different letters within each column indicate significant differences ($P \le 0.05$) among treatments. Abbreviations: *a* Percentage seedling emergence at 7DAP, *b* Shoot dry weight plant⁻¹,(59DAP) *c* Leaf chlorophyll content (59DAP). Genotype key: ^d African cabbage, ^e Broadleaf mustard, ^f Florida broadleaf mustard. DAP=Days after planting


Figure 2.1. Percentage seedling emergence under different soil salt content at 7DAP in experiment 2



Figure 2.2. Influence of biochar soil amendments on SPAD values under different soil salt conntent at 59DAP in experiment 2 Abbreviations: DAP=Days after planting

Experiment 3

Treatment	pН	EC	OM	NO ₃	Р	K	Ca	Mg	Na	S
		mmho/cm	%	kg ha ⁻¹	g kg ⁻¹					
Good soil (Control)	7.3	0.42	5.4	104	0.01	0.38	2.51	0.42	0.04	0.00
Good soil +Softwood biochar	6.6	1.72	5.6	82	0.02	0.31	2.08	0.46	0.10	0.28
Transitioning soil	7.1	5.54	4.6	6.7	0.02	0.23	2.20	1.36	1.94	2.96
Transitioning + Softwood biochar	6.6	5.93	9.2	0.1	0.02	0.22	1.68	1.21	1.55	1.97
Saline soil	7.4	7.21	4.3	121.0	0.05	0.13	1.96	1.50	3.24	3.15
Saline soil + Softwood biochar	6.7	6.87	9.2	5.0	0.05	0.18	1.6	1.28	2.99	2.52
Saline soil + Hardwood biochar	7.3	5.77	3.5	0.7	0.04	0.19	1.6	1.19	4.34	4.22

Table 2.5. Changes in chemical properties of soil used in experiment 3 after applying biochar in greenhouse experiment 3

Key: Italicized and colored values represent the original soil properties before adding either softwood or hardwood biochar

		od soil		Transitioning soil				Saline soil				
Treatments	14DAP ^a	NL ^b	SPAD ^c	SDW ^d	14DAP ^a	NL ^b	SPAD ^c	SDW ^d	14DAP ^a	NL ^b	SPAD ^c	$\mathrm{SDW}^{\mathrm{d}}$
	%	Plant ⁻¹	nmol/mg ⁻¹	g plant ⁻¹	%	Plant ⁻¹	nmol/mg ⁻¹	g plant ⁻¹	%	Plant ⁻¹	nmol/mg ⁻¹	g plant ⁻¹
Biochar type (F	actor a)											
Control	46.4 b	4.1 b	41.0 ab	1.4 a	37.0 a	2.1	22.1 b	0.4	39.1	4.0 a	33.0 a	0.8 a
Softwood	34.4 c	5.0 a	44.0 a	1.6 a	13.1 b	3.0	32.2 a	0.5	32.0	3.4 a	30.0 a	0.8 a
Hardwood	71.0 a	4.1 b	36.1 b	1.1 b	19.0 b	2.1	22.1 b	0.6	36.1	1.1 b	8.1 b	0.2 b
Composted mar	ure rates (Factor b)										
0	41.1 b	3.9 b	40.3 a	1.2 b	7.0 c	0.4 c	8.4 c	0.1 c	9.6 c	0.7 b	8.1 b	0.9 a
30	55.0 a	5.3 a	45.2 a	1.7 a	21.0 b	2.2 b	26.0 b	0.5 b	43.1 b	3.4 a	31.0 a	0.8 a
50	57.1 a	3.7 b	34.1 b	1.1 b	41.0 a	4.1 a	33.5 a	0.9 a	55.1 a	3.9 a	29.2 a	0.2 b
Genotypes (Fac												
A.cabbage	52.0 ab	5.1 a	40.4 ab	1.4 b	24.8 a	3.2 a	28.7 a	0.6 a	35.0	2.8	24.8	0.5
B.mustard	50.9 ab	3.7 b	35.1 b	1.1 b	30.3 a	2.2 b	26.9 a	0.6 a	35.7	2.5	21.7	0.6
DKTF91SC	57.4 a	4.5 ab	44.6 a	1.7 a	26.0 a	2.0 b	24.0 ab	0.5 a	35.2	2.7	23.7	0.5
NCC101S	43.4 b	4.0 b	38.7 ab	1.3 b	10.4 b	1.4 b	18.0 b	0.3 b	37.2	3.0	23.4	0.7
				Analysis o	of variance	(P-value)) for main eff	fects				
Factor a	< 0.000	0.052	0.022	0.000	< 0.000	0.087	0.007	0.155	0.263	< 0.000	< 0.000	< 0.000
Factor b	0.000	< 0.000	0.000	< 0.000	< 0.000	< 0.000	$<\!0.000$	<0.000	< 0.000	< 0.000	$<\!0.000$	< 0.000
Factor c	0.023	0.015	0.040	0.002	< 0.000	0.000	0.031	0.004	0.973	0.751	0.877	0.102
				Analysis c	of variance	(P-value) for interacti	ions				
Factor a * b	0.002	0.082	0.257	0.051	0.189	< 0.000	< 0.000	< 0.000	0.171	< 0.000	< 0.000	< 0.000
Factor a * c	0.223	0.167	0.023	0.029	0.003	0.007	0.041	0.004	0.002	0.018	0.026	< 0.000
Factor b * c	0.722	0.478	0.000	< 0.000	0.003	0.000	0.312	0.121	0.527	0.035	0.092	0.233
Factor a * b *c	0.211	0.408	0.058	0.202	0.225	0151	0.328	0.555	0.916	0.035	0.035	0.084

Table 2.6. Effect of biochar type, composted manure rates, and genotypes on seedling emergence (14DAP), number of leaves plant⁻¹ (39DAP), SPAD values (39DAP) and shoot dry weight plant⁻¹ (39DAP) in greenhouse experiment 3.

Mean values followed by different lower-case letters within the column represent significant differences at P < 0.05. No letters are shown where there are no significant differences.

Abbreviations: ^{*a*} Percentage of emerged seedlings (14DAP) based on eight seeds, ^{*b*} Number of leaves plant⁻¹, ^{*c*} Leaf chlorophyll content (SPAD values), and ^{*d*} Shoot dry weight plant⁻¹ at 39 DAP



Figure 2.3. Effect of biochar, composted manure rates and genotypes interactions on percentage of emerged seedlings of canola and mustard genotypes at 14DAP in good (a), transitioning (b-c), and saline soils (d) in experiment 3

Means are averaged over each treatment. Bars sharing different lower-case letters represent a significant difference at P \leq 0.05 Treatment key: Biochar levels: NB= no biochar, SW= softwood biochar, HW = hardwood biochar. Composted manure levels: 0C, 30C, and 50C = 0%, 30%, and 50% composted manure application rates. Genotypes: AC= African cabbage, BM= Brown mustard, DK= DKTF91SC, NC= NCC101S.



Figure 2.4. Effects of biochar, composted manure rates and genotypes interactions on number of leaves plant⁻¹ of canola and mustard genotypes in transitioning soil (a-c) and saline soil (d-f) at 39 DAP in greenhouse experiment 3.

Treatment key: Biochar levels: NB= no biochar, SW= softwood biochar, HW = hardwood biochar. Composted manure levels: 0C, 30C, and 50C = 0%, 30%, and 50% composted manure application rates. Genotypes: AC= African cabbage, BM= Brown mustard, DK= DKTF91SC, NC= NCC101S



Figure 2.5. Effects of biochar, composted manure rates and genotypes on leaf chlorophyll content (SPAD values) of canola and mustard genotypes in good (a-b), transitioning soils (c-d) and saline soil (e-f) at 39 DAP in greenhouse experiment 3.

Treatment key: Biochar levels: NB= no biochar, SW= softwood biochar, HW = hardwood biochar. Composted manure levels: 0C, 30C, and 50C = 0%, 30%, and 50% composted manure application rates. Genotypes: AC= African cabbage, BM= Brown mustard, DK= DKTF91SC, NC= NCC101S



Figure 2.6. Effect of biochar, composted manure rate, and genotypes on shoot dry weight plant⁻¹ of canola and mustard genotypes in good (a-c) and transitioning soil (d-e) measured at 39 DAP in greenhouse experiment 3

Treatment key: Biochar levels: NB= no biochar, SW= softwood biochar, HW = hardwood biochar. Composted manure levels: 0C, 30C, and 50C = 0%, 30%, and 50% composted manure application rates. Genotypes: AC= African cabbage, BM= Brown mustard, DK= DKTF91SC, NC= NCC101S



Fig 2.6. Effects of biochar, composted manure rates and genotypes on shoot dry weight plant⁻¹ of canola and mustard genotypes in saline soil (a-b) at 39 DAP in greenhouse experiment 3.

Treatment key: Biochar levels: NB= no biochar, SW= softwood biochar, HW = hardwood biochar. Composted manure levels: 0C, 30C, and 50C = 0%, 30%, and 50% composted manure application rates. Genotypes: AC= African cabbage, BM= Brown mustard, DK= DKTF91SC, NC= NCC101S.

APPENDICES



Fig 2A.1. The diagrammatical flow of the greenhouse experiments 1, 2, and 3.

Source		7DAP ^a	14DAP <i>b</i>	NL ^c	SPAD d	SDW ^e
Unit		%	%	count	nmol/mg ⁻¹	g
	Df	Pr(>F)	Pr(>F)	Pr(>F)	Pr(>F)	Pr(>F)
Block	2	0.935	0.863	0.731	0.843	0.652
Soil type	2	$<\!\!0.000$	< 0.000	< 0.000	< 0.000	< 0.000
Composted manure	2	< 0.000	< 0.000	< 0.000	< 0.000	0.000
Genotype	3	0.121	0.003	0.001	0.120	0.279
Soil type: Composted manure	4	0.000	0.000	0.000	< 0.000	0.000
Soil type: Genotype	6	0.005	0.031	0.114	0.111	0.000
Composted manure: Genotype	6	0.576	0.250	0.066	0.010	0.047
Soil type: Composted manure: Genotype	12	0.710	0.331	0.028	0.051	0.001
\mathbb{R}^2		0.321	0.298	0.299	0.266	0.329
Residuals	934	934	932	759	729	759
Block	2	0.936	0.873	0.759	0.849	0.662
Soil type	2	< 0.000	< 0.000	< 0.000	< 0.000	< 0.000
Biochar	2	$<\!\!0.000$	0.000	0.000	0.000	< 0.000
Genotype	3	0.099	0.007	0.004	0.137	0.271
Soil type: Biochar	4	<.0000	0.000	0.000	0.000	< 0.000
Soil type: Genotype	6	0.003	0.038	0.151	0.166	0.001
Biochar : Genotype	6	0.002	0.011	0.008	0.001	0.000
Soil type: Biochar: Genotype	12	0.795	0.274	0.690	0.691	0.016
\mathbb{R}^2		0.313	0.237	0.202	0.231	0.303
Residuals	934	934	932	959	729	758

Table 2A.1. ANOVA for effect of composted manure, biochar, and genotypes on canola and mustard seedling emergence (7 and 14DAP), leaf plant⁻¹ SPAD and shoot dry weight 39 DAP in greenhouse experiment 3

Abbreviations: ^{a, b} Percentage seedling emergence at 7 and 14DAP, ^c Number of leaves plant⁻¹, ^d leaf chlorophyll content (SPAD values), ^e Shoot dry weight plant⁻¹ at 39DAP. DAP=Days after planting.

	Good soil			Tra	insitioning	soil	Saline soil			
Composted manure rates	0%	30%	50%	0%	30%	50%	0%	30%	50%	
Factor a										
No biochar (control)	29.0 b	46.8 b	64.4 a	18.2 a	39.1 a	53.5 a	13.4 a	47.3 ab	57.1	
Softwood	26.0 b	44.3 c	33.1 b	2.1 b	10.3 b	27.5 b	10.2 ab	32.1 b	57	
Hardwood	69.1 a	73.3 a	71.1 a	0.7 b	13.1 b	41.1 ab	5.1 b	50.1 a	52	
Factor b										
A.cabbage	39.1	56.2 ab	61.1	2.8 b	24.5 a	47.1 a	6.5 bc	43.2	62.5	
B.mustard	46.1	48.9 b	58.2	13.4 a	28.4 a	49.1 a	15.0 a	45.7	55.4	
DKTF91SC	45.1	66.0 a	61.6	6.0 ab	21.0 a	51.1 a	4.3 c	46.6	54.9	
NCC101S	34.4	48.1 b	47.5	5.6 b	8.6 b	17.1 b	12.5 ab	36.6	46.8	
Mean	41	55.3	57.1	0.41	21.1	41.1	9.6	43.1	55.1	
				Analysis	of variance	(P-value)				
Factor a	< 0.000	0.001	< 0.000	< 0.000	< 0.000	0.004	0.035	0.073	0.842	
Tactor b	0.399	0.119	0.278	0.036	0.002	0.003	0.015	0.709	0.583	
Factor a * b	0.337	0.969	0.065	0.018	< 0.000	0.183	0.023	< 0.000	0.349	

Table 2A.2. Effect of biochar (softwood, hardwood, and no biochar) and composted manure mix rates (0,30,50%) on seedling emergence of canola and mustard genotypes in good, transitioning, and saline soil at 14DAP in greenhouse experiment 3.

Genotypes Key: A.cabbage = African cabbage, B.mustard = Brown mustard.

Table 2A.3. Effect of biochar (softwood, hardwood, and no biochar), and composted manure mix rates (0,30,50%) on number of leaves plant⁻¹ of canola and mustard genotypes in good, transitioning, and saline soil measured at 39 DAP in greenhouse experiment 3.

	Good soil			Tı	ansitioning	soil	Saline soil			
Composted manure rates	0%	30%	50%	0%	30%	50%	0%	30%	50%	
Factor (a)										
No biochar (control)	4.1	5.6 a	2.8 b	0.8 a	2.9 a	2.0 b	0.6 ab	5.5 a	4.4 a	
Softwood	3.9	5.8 a	4.6 a	0.3 ab	2.5 ab	5.1 a	1.3 a	3.3 b	5.7 a	
Hardwood	3.8	4.5 b	3.9 ab	0.0 b	1.4 b	4.4 a	0.0 b	1.1 c	1.8 b	
Factor (b)										
A.cabbage	5.0 a	6.1 a	4.1	0.2	2.9 a	6.1 a	0.7 ab	3.3 ab	4.3 ab	
B.mustard	3.9 ab	4.4 b	2.7	0.5	2.7 a	3.2 b	1.2 a	3.2 b	2.9 b	
DKTF91SC	3.8 ab	5.3 ab	2.7	0.3	2.4 ab	3.1 b	0.0 b	2.7 b	4.6 a	
NCC101S	3.2 b	5.3 ab	3.4	0.5	1.2 b	2.6 b	0.7 ab	4.7 a	3.3 ab	
Mean	3.9	5.3	3.7	0.4	2.2	3.7	0.7	3.4	3.8	
				Analysi	s of variance	e (P-value)				
Factor a	0.889	0.025	0.073	0.024	0.020	< 0.000	0.008	< 0.000	< 0.000	
Tactor b	0.018	0.050	0.343	0.666	0.039	0.000	0.096	0.064	0.270	
Factor a * b	0.411	0.066	0.098	0.522	0.048	0.075	0.239	0.002	0.290	

Genotypes Key: A.cabbage = African cabbage, B.mustard = Brown mustard

Different letters in each column indicate significant differences at $P \le 0.05$ due to treatments.

Good soil Transitioning soil Saline soil Composted manure rates 0% 30% 50% 0% 30% 50% 0% 30% 50% Factor a Control 1.9 a 2.0 a 1.0 0.2 a 0.64 a 0.4 c 0.1 b 1.4 a 1.1 a 0.1 b 0.7 a 0.8 b 0.8 a Softwood 1.5 a 1.7 a 1.4 0.5 a 0.8 b Hardwood 0.9 b 1.3 b 1.0 0.0 b 0.2 b 1.4 a 0.0 b 0.2 c 0.2 b Factor b A.cabbage 0.0 b 0.7 a 0.1 b 0.9 0.6 1.3 a 1.7 a 1.0 b 1.2 a 0.8 b 1.4 a 0.3 a 0.7 a 0.8 ab 0.1 b 0.9 0.7 B.mustard 1.1 ab 0.7 DKTF91SC 1.2 ab 2.1 a 1.5 a 0.1 b 0.4 ab 0.9 ab 0.0 b 0.6 0.9 b 1.9 a 0.9 b 0.1 b 0.2 b 0.6 b 0.6 a 0.9 0.7 **NCC101S** 0.5 0.2 0.7 Mean 0.8 1.1 Analysis of variance (P-value) 0.047 Factor a 0.001 0.000 0.181 0.000 < 0.000 < 0.000 < 0.000 0.000 Tactor b 0.050 < 0.000 0.075 0.057 0.001 0.119 < 0.000 0.465 0.902 0.012 Factor a * b 0.053 0.005 0.031 0.022 0.277 < 0.000 0.001 0.048

Table 2A.4. Effect of biochar (softwood, hardwood, and no biochar), and composted manure mix rates (0,30,50%) on shoot dry weight (g plant⁻¹) of canola and mustard genotypes in good, transitioning, and saline soil measured at 39 DAP in greenhouse experiment 3.

Genotypes Key: A.cabbage = African cabbage, B.mustard = Brown mustard

Different letters in each column indicate significant differences at $P \le 0.05$ due to treatments.

	Good soil			Tr	ansitioning s	oil	Saline soil			
СМ	Control	Softwood	Hardwood	control	softwood	Hardwood	Control	Softwood	Hardwood	
0	40.1 ab	48.3 a	34.1	13.1 b	45.4	0.0 a	8.3 c	16.1 c	0.0 b	
30	48.5 a	45.2 a	42.1	31.0 a	33.7	16.8 b	50.1 a	30.1 b	10.1 a	
50	33.1 b	37.1 b	32.7	21.4 ab	29.7	42.4 a	36.1 b	43.1 a	12.2 a	
mean	41.0	43.5	36.1	21.6	32.2	21.7	33.0	30.0	8.1	
SEM	5.314	4.238	6.420	6.523	6.339	5.140	5.487	5.488	4.922	
P-value	0.003	0.013	0.197	0.012	0.639	< 0.000	< 0.000	< 0.000	0.024	

Table 2A.5. Effect of biochar (softwood, hardwood, and no biochar) and composted manure mix rates (0,30,50%) on leaf chlorophyll content (SPAD values) in good, transitioning, and saline soils measured at 39 DAP in greenhouse experiment 3

CM= Composted manure rates

	Good soil			T	ransitioning	soil	Saline soil			
Genotypes	Control	Softwood	Hardwood	Control	Softwood	Hardwood	Control	Softwood	Hardwood	
A.CABBAGE	35.9	45.8	39.1 a	26.1 a	40.1 ab	24.6	35.0	26.0	12.1	
B.MUSTARD	44.9	40.4	23.5 b	30.4 a	44.3 a	14.9	35.0	29.2	1.3	
DKTF91SC	43.3	44.6	45.7 a	19.6 ab	26.3 b	27.2	32.0	26.1	14.0	
NCC101S	38.3	42.1	35.6 ab	11.8 b	23.8 b	20.4	28.1	38.1	4.8	
SEM	6.102	4.893	7.413	7.532	7.319	6.235	6.336	6.337	5.684	
P-value	0.268	0.492	0.005	0.036	0.033	0.219	0.445	0.127	0.078	

Table 2A.6. Effect of biochar (softwood, hardwood, and no biochar) and genotypes on leaf chlorophyll content in good, transitioning, and saline soils measured at 39 DAP in greenhouse experiment 3